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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEHE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MALEE
2022 2021 Increase/(Decrease)
20224 20214 A/ (F&)
Operating results (RMB’'000) &€ E%X&(AR¥ T ) %
Revenue Y & 917,570 885,539 32,031 36
Gross profit E 7 129,987 126,587 3,400 2.7
Profit for the year F R % A 24,763 52,987 (28,224) (53.3)
Profitability (%) B R £ (%)
Gross profit margin B 14.2 14.3 0.1 0.7)
Net profit margin a5 F & 2.7 6.0 (3.3) (55.0)
Return on equity st 4 1] = & 6.7 14.7 (8.0) (55.4)
Return on total assets 4B FE O] TR R 2.4 5.6 (3.2) (57.1)
Liquidity REBES
Current ratio (time) B & () 1.3 1.3 = -
Quick ratio (time) RE L E(E) 1.3 1.3 . .
Trade receivables turnover FEW R IBRBEXH
(days) (XR) 87.7 68.7 19.0 27.7
Trade payables turnover BOENFEBE XY
(days) (X) 57.7 54.0 37 6.9
Capital adequacy BEEXFREKF
Gearing ratio (%) BEEBELE%) 43.0 32,5 10.5 32.3
Net debt to equity ratio FEBERELE Net cash Net cash
position position N/A N/A
BHEMRR FREMRN i oy
Per share data BREE
Earnings per share — basic BRAEN —EX
(RMB) (AR#®TT) 0.03 0.10 (0.07) (70.0)
Dividend per share (HKD) BRBEE(ET)
— Final — R 0.010 0.035 (0.025) (71.4)
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise RAFHF  BXEIZHMEN  THHAE
requires, the following terms and expressions shall have RFAZBEBWTRE - ZF xR CHHE
the meanings set out below. The English translation of fEBEM RG] BMREZTIERBFZH -
company names in Chinese or another language which

are marked with “*" for identification purposes only.

“Anhui Bund” Anhui Bund Property Management Company Limited* (% 9N gk ¥ %
ER AR AR, a limited liability company established in the PRC on
26 December 2005, which was a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to
49% by Anhui Wan Tou Property Company Limited* (& #ft% & %
BREEAF) a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level until the Company disposed of its entire interest in December 2020.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 22 December 2020
for further details.

B3¢ 3 & TRINEMEEBER AT - —HR2005F12 268 FEF R 7B B R
BEERA BRAXRRAEZEMBAR  AARAIRZHBRIKRE X
EREERAFB(RARAMBAGREEMNRBEEAL) D AIFEEEFI%R
49% ° NRARPN2020F AL ERFEF LRI Ec 2R - E—F A
BESHFELHARAT2020F12A22B8 M2 RE -

“Anhui Pu Jing” Anhui Pu Jing Property Company Limited* (ZBHESWEBR LA, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 10 May 2017, a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly owned as to 51%
by the Company and as to 49% by Bozhou Yaodu Tourism Development
Company Limited* (Z /& # k42 3% B B R A7), a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level

[ BUAR] | ZHRBESMEBRAR - —HR2017F5A10BEFRAK LM BRE
ETRAE REARFIFE2EMBARAR BARAREBMNEREEZEREA
RARN(ARAIMBRARIEEMBEEAL) D RIBEEEBS1%K49%

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Company
[EzEEE] | KAREZEE®
“Bengbu Zhi Xin” Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company Limited* (H#EHTEEWEER A

Al), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 13 September
2004 and a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is indirectly
owned as to 58% by the Company, as to 12% by an Independent Third
Party and as to 30% by Bengbu Investment Group Co., Ltd.* (#FB1& & &
BB A 7)), a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level
(IR EE & HETEEWEERAAR - —HMN2004FIR BB EHRBE KL H AR
BEERA BRARBINFELZEMBLAT  AAXARAREEARSE»S  —
ZEIF=THEAN%NLERREEBFRAG(RRAMNBARE®

MBEAL)EA30%
“Board” or “Board of the board of Directors of the Company
Directors”
EFg] | RRBIEFE

IR B AER AT Fif 2022 3




DEFINITIONS
Bx

“BVI"
[RBRAES] |

“CG Code”
[ E AR i1

“"Company”
/NI i

1

“connected person’

[ AL it
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”
[ 12 % A% 3R 15

“Director(s)”

[E%] i1
“Group”
(A& E | i1

“"HK$” Or “HK dollars” or
"HK cents”

[Tl L] 5
“Hong Kong” or “HK"”
(&% i1
“Hong Xin”

73k X i1

the British Virgin Islands
RBRIES

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

T AR R B &% - 70 P 8 4 X & DA T A

Riverine China Holdings Limited (B L El#E kA R A R]), an exempted
company incorporated under the laws of Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 27 July 2016
LA BEZERAER AR - R2016F7HA27EREBEREH S AETMA L
MEREEREEQT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
EBLMRBAETZANRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of the Company, means a group of controlling shareholders of the
Company, namely Partner Summit, Vital Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth,
Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune and Mr. Chen

BEELFTRAUMBTZANRE  RARAME  HAREHE KK
REE Rem ZEH -HEE R B4 EHEREE

the director(s) of the Company
RARARIMES

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRR R HKEBRA

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BILIEN BEAEEEY

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
MEEEFITHRR

Hong Xin Environmental Group Company Limited* (A RIR E = B A R
2 \]) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 5 July 2000,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is indirectly owned
as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Independent Third Parties
SARIRIFEEBR AR - R2000F7ASBEFRBEK L BBREF AR -
RRAABNFEL2EMNBRAR  HAATEEEENN%  BLE="%H
49%

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



“Independent Third

Party(ies)”

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Rules”
[ 73 Al
“Model Code”

4

SAie

A7) |

“Mr. Chen”
[P 5 4 |

“Mr. Fu”

[ 4]
“Mr. Xiao”

[H k4]

“Mr. Xiao YQ"

(BT & EE]

“Nanjing Songzhu”

[ R R ARAT )

DEFINITIONS
Bx

an individual(s) or a company(ies) who or which is/are independent
and not connected with (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) any
directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders (within the meaning
of the Listing Rules) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates and not otherwise a connected person of the
Company

BYRARA - EMBRARIZEMNES R TRABXREERECE
BERTRANIAEZAZEMABEARRBERE(TER ETHR
ANTMIEARRR ZBEATHEAKRF]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRADFERE R P ER BT

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BMRXPBEAFLEMHRA - TR ER  MARIAEMT BN

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIMEE TS L ETAEFETESFIINZTETA

Mr. Chen Yao (F3£), the Controlling Shareholder
PREESCAE - ERIRER

Mr. Fu Qichang ({8 & &), the Controlling Shareholder, vice-chairman of
the Board and an executive Director

BEERELE EERRR EFCETIFERIUTES

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (H #&), the Controlling Shareholder, chairman of the
Board and an executive Director

HEBLE BEERER EZgIFRRATES

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (B T &), an executive Director, chief executive officer,
and the son of Mr. Xiao

BETBrtE ATEFRITRABRRETENTT

Nanjing Songzhu Property Management Company Limited* (& & 2 7 %)
¥ ZEIE AR AT, alimited liability company established in the PRC on 5
July 2012, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned
as to 44% by the Company and 56% by two Independent Third Parties.
AR MEERBRAA - —BEEPEN2012F7ASEK L BR
BEERR RARABMERLE  HARAIBEEEBL4%NEHM BB L
E=THEE56%

IR B AER AT Fif 2022 5
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“Nantong Pu Sheng”

[ 78 38 F A%

“Ningbo Plaza”

[ERW T ES]

“Partner Summit”

“Period”

[HA )

“Pine Fortune”

['= 18]

“PRC"” or “China”
e B |

1

“Pujiang Holding’

R8T % A%

DEFINITIONS

Nantong Pu Sheng Intelligent Property Company Limited* (738 i 2% %
BEW X B R A A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
18 October 2017, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
indirectly owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by Nantong
Sheng He Property Management Limited* (R B EEE FR A A])
ERBAREREMERRAT - —ER2017F10A18EEFBEKIN A
REMERAR  ARFINEZEMBRR ARG REEBRNMESE
AR AR DRI EEEAS1%Kk49%

Ningbo Plaza Property Management Company Limited* (2§ 1 % 1 & 35
YEE IR B R AA]), alimited liability company established in the PRC on
20 January 1995, an associated company of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 49% by the Company and 51% by an Independent Third
Party

ERTHATESMEEREARAR  —HEHRBEMN1995F1520H K
YHERBERRE RARFMBE®E  AAREMEEHEFL9% K H
—BBILE=EEEE%

Partner Summit Holdings Limited (& /= #% I8 & R 2 7]), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is owned as
to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune and is
one of the Controlling Shareholders

ERERER AR - —HR2016F6A16BRBEBE X BESEET
M BRAT  AEH  RENKEBEDREBE7% ~ 10% K3%
BERERBRRZ—

the year ended 31 December 2022
BE2022F12A31BILFE

Pine Fortune Global Limited (= 3R Bk & R A 7)), a company incorporated
under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chen and is one of the Controlling Shareholders
ERERRER AR - —HNR2016F6A16BRBRBEXHFEEAET
MR BRAR  HHEEE2EHRE BAERKRREZ—

the People’s Republic of China which, for the purposes of this annual
report, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

PEARANE  ERAFEME  FTREEE RPRAE

Shanghai Pujiang Holding Company Limited* (L 88 T A R A A),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18 June 2007, which
was beneficially owned as to 87% by Mr. Xiao, 10% by Mr. Fu and 3%
by Mr. Chen
EEBIERBERAR - —ER2007F6A1BAEHRBRYHARE
ERA DRBAELEE BEERREEEREHBS7%  10%K3% K
&

6 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Pujiang Property” Shanghai Pujiang Property Company Limited* (b &5# T % % AR Q7))
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 December 2002
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

REpR/EN | FEBBEIMEERAR S —HETBER2002F12A2BK YN ERE
ERF  BREARABNEEZEHB AR

“"RMB"” or “Renminbi” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR =} ARE  mEHEEER
“SFO" Securities and Future ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),

as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

(&7 KB E & 8 (BAERBERODEBEPESNE)  EARER] - BARKAEM

7 RIE K
“Shanghai Bund” Shanghai Bund Property Company Limited* (/& 5N#E Y ¥ B R A A)), a

limited liability company established in the PRC on 8 April 1996 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[ 85N ] | EENEMERRRAT  —HEPENI1996F4IA8HK LM EREE
ANAE RARTNEEEZENEBE AT

“Shanghai Bund Green” Shanghai Bund Green Construction Company Limited* (& & 9M# 4k 1t
ERABM A, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 10
August 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[ & 9N 4R b 5 FBINEZIEERBRAR - —HAAEFRBENR2004F8R10BKZH A
REMERQR BREARAINEEZENE QR

“Shanghai Bund Ke Pu” Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering Management Company Limited* (L
BIHINERDE TREE AR A A]), a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 30 November 2004, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and indirectly owned as to 97% by the Company and as to 3%
by an Independent Third Party

[ /85N EE R B FEINERDEIIREERARAGF - —HR2004F11 308 £ B K Z
WEREBEERA BREARABIFE2EWNBRR  BARGIBEERFIT%
MBA—EBBIE=FRHE3I%

“Shanghai Jie Gu” Shanghai Jie Gu Technology Company Limited* (L& AR AR QA A,
a limited liability company established in the PRC on 3 May 2016 and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[ &N A ¥ FEMTARMBRERAA - —HEFBER2016F5A3BXN I EREE
RNE RARFTNHEEEZEMNB AR

FITRERBRARAR F3) 2022 7 ¢




DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Shanghai Jiu Yi"

[EBAME] B

“Shanghai Qiang Sheng”

[EE®RAE] 18

“Shanghai Rui Zheng”
[ /8% IE ] ¥

“Shanghai Xin Shi Bei”

[ L& mit] 5

Shanghai Jiu Yi Property Management Company Limited* (_t /&A1& %)
¥ EIE AR AT, alimited liability company established in the PRC on 8
April 1996, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 51% by the Company and as to 49% by an Independent
Third Party

FHAGHEERBRAR - —REFRBEMCFI4ABEK LN B R
BERA  REARAINEEZENBRR  HARAIHEEEEI% R —
BELE=ZFHEBAIO%

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Company Limited* (L /88 AW ¥ B R
72 A)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 17 December
1992, an associated company of the Company and indirectly owned as to
30% by the Company and as to 70% by an Independent Third Party
FEBREMERAERLDA  —HEPEMINFLZATTEXRLINERE
ERA RARAIBMELE HARGIBMEEAIONEB-—EBEILSE
=HHEEERTO%

Shanghai Pujiang Rui Zheng Property Company Limited* (_E /&8I I% IE
Y FBR A 7A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 8
January 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
FEBBEIMEMERRAR - —EEPEN2004F1AEK LM B R
BEERA RARRNMEEZEZEME AR

Shanghai Xin Shi Bei Enterprise Management Service Co., Ltd* (/8% ™
I EEEABRAF), alimited liability company established in the PRC
on 6 July 2005, an associated company of the Company and indirectly
owned as to 27.5% by the Company and 52.75% and 19.75% by two
Independent Third Parties respectively. On 16 June 2021, Pujiang Property
and the other two shareholders of Shanghai Xin Shi Bei, who are
Independent Third Parties, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with the purchaser, which is a major customer of Shanghai Xin Shi Bei,
whereby, amongst other things, Pujiang Property agreed to transfer and
the Purchaser agreed to purchase 27.5% equity interest in Shanghai Xin
Shi Bei from Pujiang Property for a consideration of RMB40,755,000
(the “Disposal”). The Disposal was completed on 30 June 2021. Upon
completion of the Disposal, the Company ceased to have any interests in
Shanghai Xin Shi Bei
bPEFHmIECEXERBRAGF - —MEFBENR2005F7H68 K 7 &
EREERA  RARABMELE  AARARAEER275% KA
BBLE=FD R HE52.75% F119.75% ° 2021567168 » HIY
FHEPEHTMILAMMERRORBLE=ZA)REH(LEHTI
CBEEREPRFIN—HEEHZ BUH(HPERE) HIVEREE
EMESTRAEMBINEBE LEFMIL275%KE  REAARE
40,755,000C ((HEFIH]) - HEFHEN2021F6A30ARH - h&
ZEREE  ARATEBEAS LEHFMILEMER

8 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Shanghai Xin Di"” Shanghai Dong Fang Xin Di Commercial Service Company Limited* (_£ /&
RAMBEEBERBEERAA]), a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 10 December 2015, an associated company of the Company
and indirectly owned as to 45% by the Company and as to 55% by an
Independent Third Party

(L] 8 FEBRTMEBBREBERAR - —BESBER2015F12/10H K L
MERBEERA  RARAKERLE  AARAIBEERIS%LH—
FBILFE =T HEEBS5%

“Share(s)” share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
[ A% 19 | i AAE AR FREEC0E TR D

1

“Share Option Scheme’ the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 15

November 2017

[ AR 4 51 &1 ) i RARF2017F 11 A58 B 1§ 4 54 79 38 A 4 5t 2

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of issued Share(s)

[ AR 3R ¥ EBRITRONFAA

“Sino Ease” Sino Ease Global Limited (FZIRIKA R A F]), a company incorporated

under laws of the BVI on 16 June 2016 with limited liability, which is
directly wholly-owned by the Company

(%] & FLEIRIRBMR AR —ER2016F6A16BRBEREBE XS EETE
MRKZBWBERRAR  BARAINEEEZENEAF

“Source Forth” Source Forth Limited (RRIEPBRZAF]), a company incorporated under
laws of the BVI on 8 June 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly-
owned by Mr. Fu and is one of the Controlling Shareholders

[ R BX | RREBRDAF - —HER2016F6AARBEBREXAFASTMAINE
RAR - DHEBEERE2ERE BREBRBRRZ—

“sq. ft.” square feet

RN ] FR

“sq. m.” square metre

[F 75K & 7oK

“Stock Exchange” or the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”

(B3 AT sk [ B BB P 48 BEEBMARXIABERAIDR

"Vital Kingdom” Vital Kingdom Investments Limited (£ % E&H R A7), a company
incorporated under laws of the BVI on 17 May 2016 with limited liability,
which is wholly-owned by Mr. Xiao and is one of the Controlling
Shareholders

X & ZEHRERRAF  —ER2016F5A17TARBREBRLBESEET
MARZBBRRR - NHEEE2EHAE BRERBRERE Z2—

i
1
H

h-
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Zhong Min Zhi Da" Zhong Min zhi Da (Shanghai) Information Technology Company Limited*
(FEEE(LEBEEREBRAQF), alimited liability company
established in the PRC on 13 November 2018, an joint venture company
of the Company and indirectly owned as to 63.8% by the Company and
36.2% by four independent third parties

PREE] | TREE(LB)ESMEARQR S —HMR2018FNAIBER P EK
VHERAF  RARANAERLERA  AARAIBEEF638%
BaRkMEBIE=THE362%Emn

"%" or "Per Cent” per centum or percentage

[%] | Bk
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The Group is a comprehensive provider of urban public
services in the PRC and is mainly engaged in the
provision of property management service for high-end
non-residential properties, leases services of commercial
buildings and integrated urban sanitary services in the
PRC.

The Group provides a wide range of property
management services and value-added services to a
variety of properties. The properties managed by the
Group can generally be classified into four categories
based on nature and usage, which are comprised of
(i) public properties (including public arenas such as
cultural venues, stadiums, exhibition halls and public
transportation properties such as rail station and airport
etc.); (ii) commercial establishments (including shopping
malls, hotels, commercial and entertainment complexes)
and office buildings; (iii) residential properties; and (iv)
others (including schools, land parcels, industrial areas
and properties under construction).

The integrated urban sanitary services include
road cleaning, refuse classification, collection and
transportation and maintenance of public environmental
sanitary facilities such as public toilets and garbage
containers.

THE GROUP
REHE

AEEATREARTALREHER T
SHEATEB TR REANEEE
R BERTRERERIEHME— B
B RT -

AEERTRERNDEREZEDEER
R RIBERSE  ARENEEDE KA
REEMEMAES SOERER - BIOAR
MEBREXLSH BEERREESA
FIGEAREBUE RIS ERARIBYE)
(EEZAREERS BE BERR
LEEB)RBAKE (INVEEWE: Kv)
Hah % (BREER il - TERERER
E IR

ISR %)

WHE-BIELRERBEHRERE
£ R0 By B 17 3 AR

BRENBEUNRFENOR
ERHRFREHOMEE -

EThRERARAE 52022 13
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERBE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction to the Report

Riverine China Holdings Limited (“Riverine China”,
the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries,
“we"” or the “Group”) is pleased to publish the sixth
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”), which discloses its sustainability performance
and progress for the fiscal year 2022, in response to the
concerns and expectations of stakeholders regarding the
Group's sustainable development.

"

Scope of the Report

Unless otherwise specified, the Report covers Riverine
China and its principal subsidiaries Shanghai Pujiang
Property Company Limited (“Pujiang Property”) and
Hongxin Environment Group Co., Ltd. (“Hongxin”), as
well as other subsidiaries. The specific statistical scope of
environmental data will be described in the "Protecting
the Environment, Guarding Our Home" section.

The Report covers the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), and part of the
content may be extended as appropriate.

Basis of Preparation

We have prepared the Report in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
("Guide”) under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The
Report has complied with all mandatory disclosure
provisions, including the “comply or explain” provisions in
the Guide. For matters related to corporate governance,
please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report”
section in Riverine China’s Annual Report.
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BRARE

8] &R

AIREZERERAR (DRIHRE] AR ]
LREMBARGEAIERMIKIAEE]D KRR
BHEANDCRE HEREBHRE) (AR
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Reporting Principles
The Report was prepared based on the four Reporting
Principles set out in the Guide:

Definitions

A E&

Principles

RIR - HERERBRE

BE % = Al
ABREAHESDFHOAERRNES

Materiality

We have identified environmental, social and governance (“ESG") issues that

have a significant impact on our operations and have disclosed them in the

Report.
B2
HEPWE -

BMEBMAERE HEMEARTEHHELZEFEEFENREE  URA

Quantitative
measurable manner.

Where feasible, key performance indicators (“KPIs"”) were disclosed in a

E1t ERAIITHERT  ABEAAGFENTARBERRBERER -

Balance

The Report provided a comprehensive and unbiased picture of our sustainability

performance in ESG aspects during the Reporting Period.
1 AREXEUEEMEZREMARBERANRE HEREBHTENAIHF

BERERR -

Consistency

The scope and statistical methodologies of the Report are consistent with those

of the previous year, allowing stakeholders to make meaningful comparisons.
Any changes in the scope or statistical methodologies will be explained in the

notes for reference.

— Bt

AHENREBERGFATDEREF - UMANEHBEOEEEENLER -

R EBRELRA D ANERALE  BAKRMERBEEAELE -

Form of Publication

The Report is published in two language versions,
i.e. Traditional Chinese and English. If there is any
inconsistency between the two versions, the Traditional
Chinese version shall prevail. You are welcome to
access the Report in the PDF format from the annual
report published on the Company’'s website at
www.riverinepm.com, and SEHK’s HKExnews website at
www.hkexnews.hk.

Data Source and Reliability Assurance

The data and cases in the Report are mainly derived from
the statistical reports and relevant documents of the
Group. The Report does not contain any false records or
misleading statement, and we take responsibility for its
content as to authenticity, accuracy and completeness.
The Report was approved by the Board in March 2023
following the confirmation by our management and the
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") executive
committee.

HEBMEX
THRENEBAXREXMEZE RAE
TEM BEENRERLIFEEZEE BN
ERPXMARLE - BETAIELRRFMIL
(www.riverinepm.com) JA & & & Bt X BT 5B
5 #3 uh (www.hkexnews.hk) % #fp By 5 R & &
HR 7K $ &5 B PDF R A o

BERRRATEMLEEHR
ABENBENEINEIZRANATEENR
AtRERMBEAXM ABEIFECAER
H - REMRL RPHERATEEN -
EEUENTELERE ABELRMANHERE
BRRE #HE8hER(ESGHHITEES
Rig - P2023F3AKEESRA -
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RIR - HERERBE

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

ESG Concepts

Riverine China is one of China's leading integrated
management groups that provides urban public services
and professional services. We are committed to rendering
customers with a wide range of services through
intelligent means and up to professional standards.
Riverine China was listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 11 December 2017, becoming the first
well-known brand in the industry that made its debut
in the international capital market. The Group, through
its operating subsidiaries and investments in associates,
provides a wide range of comprehensive urban public
services, including property management services with
value-added services to a variety of properties in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) as well as urban
sanitary services to various areas.

We have always adhered to the core values of “integrity,
innovation, dedication, and mutual benefit”, and
promoting corporate sustainability is one of our core
strategies. We incorporate sustainability into our
corporate governance to help the Group move towards
the path of sustainable development. The Group’s
sustainable development is inextricably linked to its
stakeholders, whose views and expectations are the key
drivers of its sustainable development. We continue to
hear out and respond to the expectations and demands
of our stakeholders through effective and smooth
communication channels.

To further ensure transparency and accountability in
all of our operations, we uphold corporate governance
principles, align ourselves with legal and business
standards, and pay ongoing attention to the fields of
internal control, fair disclosure, and accountability to all
shareholders. Meanwhile, we also proactively carry out a
series of corporate social responsibility (“CSR"”) activities
to strengthen communication with stakeholders,
understand community needs, and create corporate value
together with them.
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ESG Governance Structure

In the face of many complex and fluid challenges such
as climate change, public health, and health & safety,
companies need to improve their corporate governance
and strengthen their management of environmental,
social and other risks, if they would like to attain
sustainable development. As good changes are premised
on the driving forces from the top, effective ESG
governance requires a strong leadership to integrate

HtERERERE
ESGERERE
BH AR AREEREERDFHEMN

%'t'éé/

ZEME PEBSETSOARE IR
ﬁA“HBﬁﬁ’%%UaﬁmTh
cRUMEBEFEREBEEBNES S
ﬁﬂ%ﬁG}ﬁx*t% LEBAESGE &
MERKEED ANEREENESGE AR
B HPESGEE  EEBEXKAAERAE

EMEZHANKILED -

ﬁ%ﬂ

ESG factors. Therefore, constructing an appropriate ESG
governance structure and promoting ESG oversight and
management responsibilities become an important part
of the Group’s governance practices.

ﬁ;ﬁHﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁszSGm@@é%éﬁ%@%ﬁ%m%‘%ﬁ

NEERBOESGEARBEEER - ZRME
TK@tH—ﬂEJ:ﬁﬁTE’JESG*/S%T%J%ﬁE
ERK - ZERBREABAARAIMNESTZER -

ESGHITZEE®HEE WHESGTIIE/)IAEEE
T °

A concise and effective ESG governance structure
makes it possible for a company to better address and
implement ESG governance strategies and measures. We
have put in place a top-down ESG governance structure
to meet related needs. The corporate structure has been
initiated by the Board of the Company, reviewed by the
ESG executive committee, and implemented by the ESG
working group.

¢ Responsible for assessing and determining ESG-related risks

o B B FHE I A TEESGHER R

« Ensuring that the Company establishes an appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control system

o BERAR AR LA B BHESGRIME B IR R NIE AL

e Examining and approving ESG-related policies and reports

o FHESGHMBR KIS

Board of
Directors

552

 Responsible for implementing ESG risk management and internal control
o BEHITESGERE TR KN AREL I

e Guiding the ESG working group and reporting to the Board

o BEESG/MATIEY FRESS

e Examining and approving the ESG reports and ensuring the accuracy
of performance mdlcators

ESG Executive
Committee

ESGH{TZEZ

e Responsible for collecting ESG-related data and preparing
reports

. ﬁﬁESG$ﬁﬁ§§KFE’JH&E%M&¢%ﬁ§<EIVE

» Reporting to the executive committee regularly to help the
Company assess and determine whether the ESG risk
management and internal control system is appropriate and
effective

o THMHITE B SELR - UBIARDQ AR E R EFESGEMR
AN S ?%Eéi@&ﬁ "
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RIR - HERERBE

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s
ESG issues, and its ESG management approach and
strategy include establishing the Company’s overall ESG
governance structure, introducing a Board participation
mechanism, setting ESG management objectives,
and assessing and determining ESG risks. The Board
prioritises climate-related risks, such as transition risks to
reduce carbon emissions. To effectively manage climate
change risks, the Board is responsible for reviewing the
progress and performance in the implementation of
relevant targets. During the Reporting Period, the Group
controlled and monitored specific actions and steps for
the implementation of the targets to ensure continued
progress towards achieving the established targets and
to actively explore the feasibility and make preparations
for more aggressive targets.

Role of the Board
EEXEgAE

ESG
ESGE M|

Environmental

EEeHAEENESGEEASZRET &
ESGERBHTHERBBERE L RA B IESG
AEEE SIAZEELL2HEKE - B FTESG
EEAEZE BFENETESGER EFg
HRIEEENRRISELIRESEE R
RERERMEGRNAERRSE - BEXE
BRiEZHER EF@AEEBEETEHNT
EEMKRFLNBENEMT MEBR - A5E
HEERITHAEBITHREEET TIREEE
B UBRBEHELEENEENITEURTE
BRERBEWTLEEDRMBEEN]ITHE RE
BWIE -

In order to cope with global climate change, the Board shall monitor whether

the Company has made adverse impacts on the climate and environment during
its daily operations and service provision.

R REHE2RAGEE( EFSFTEELAAERERLENERARBENARS
ERERAE BREEXNTRTE -

Social The Board shall monitor the conduct of its members and employees of the
Company to prevent misconduct and irregularities.
e EEeREEHKNERARIEINTR  URBEITERERTA -

Corporate Governance

The Board shall oversee whether the Company strictly implements the relevant

provisions of the Listing Rules and discloses relevant matters in time in

accordance with the provisions.
EEQREELQAFIREAEBRMIT LT RAUNBEERE  LRERT MEFRK

NI BE
BHEBEEHE-
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Risk management is an integral part of sustainable
development. We are committed to establishing
systematic risk control practices to ensure legality and
compliance in our operations. The Group has established
internal control and risk assessment & management
systems. The Board assumes overall responsibility for the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems
and reviews the effectiveness of its going concern basis.
Under the risk assessment and management system,
ESG risk management is integrated into the established
risk management and internal control systems in which
the Board is responsible for assessing and determining
relevant risks, as well as for identifying, evaluating,
prioritising and managing the material risks in achieving
business objectives and the risks arising from ESG matters
through the effective operation of the risk management
and internal control procedures.

The ESG executive committee is responsible for reviewing
and discussing the sustainability priorities of the Group,
as well as the operation status of the ESG management
system, in order to ensure that relevant approaches and
policies are in line with its business development, and
to effectively respond to the expectations and concerns
of stakeholders. Looking forward to the future, we will
continuously implement the ESG management system
and optimise it according to the requirements of the
Stock Exchange and in light of the actual situation of
our operations so as to integrate the management of
sustainability-related matters into our actual work.

RIR - HERERBRE

RBRERRAFEERPIIARIN IR
A ERFABNBIERRNRAREZE RN
RELERZARNAKEESZ - AKED
BYAMNEZE BRIGLREEHNE EF
SAEHASEEREE R AES RGN
ERET IRTESELEEENYE -
ERERFEREREZRSS  HRPSESGER
EEMARANEREER AR ZEFEER
HEFSREFTHLAECHBERAR  BBA
REE LA EBIRANEBET - #A -
Afh - BREIIREEBEEEREFBERES
EONEAXRBRMESCGEENITERR -

ESGHTZESREEMMTmARE /A
SERRITFEXHRBBESGEEE XN E
TIER - NERMEBE L HFEERD S RMD
EER LEMOEHNEHET 2 HEH
BE- - REARK  BMABSEEHEITESGE
BEE UKEBIMER BRI E
MERBAKEERL SAHEEREBE
HNEEZEINERI(EH -
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R - HERERWRE

Communication with Stakeholders

Stakeholder communication and engagement is a
direct result of the integration of CSRs and stakeholder
theory. The targets or subjects of communication and
engagement are stakeholders, and the content of
communication and engagement is about responsibility.
The Group strives to maintain communication with
stakeholders, listen to their views and expectations, and
respond to their concerns through various channels.
We look forward to formulating better development
strategies and policies by collecting the suggestions
of stakeholders, so as to improve our performance,
while creating environmental and social value. We have
identified the following six main types of stakeholders
who are close to us by taking into account the
importance to corporate development:

NBEMEELEE

MAEEETNERR2ARSEHSHEEM
NMEHE T ERRANERER - BANZ
HENHRIIBEFNEREL  BEANS
HOANTRAREMRE Bt AEER N EN &S
HEATRFERIR REBEEEREHF LM
TRRBEEMANFRK  RAPLEEBT
BADSHEETNRES ERETECENER

RGN 78 BRERARMVERNRE -
BERRMHEEE BRMABBHEEHR
EZMAEEE - &5 EMEERE IR
TR a5 EEE T

The Group maintains close contact with stakeholders
through a variety of methods such as general meetings,
company announcements, regular reports, and site visits
to gain a thorough understanding of their expectations,
needs, concerns on sustainability, and views and
suggestions, which will serve as an important basis for it
to enhance its sustainable development efforts and nail
down the focus of disclosure in this ESG Report. During
the Reporting Period, the concerns and expectations
of the stakeholders for the Group, and the channels of
communication between the Group and them on a daily
basis are set out in the following table:

AEERBRERE - RAQE - THHE -
EMmERERABINSHBAIRFEZETN
BME  NBEBFAMTHROMANEE -
FIEAITNAREEREZERERER EA
REBERAUFELE TEWRETERNESGHR
LENBRARNEERE - HREHARN - &
MEHE IS ArAEENEIHRBPE UK
AEEHEREAEEBRTERATXR:

=k
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Communication

Communication

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Methods Frequency
MEHEEL HA 28 B AR R BEAR BRAR
Government and Legal and compliance operations Information submission Monthly
regulatory Safety and environmental Communication with Yearly
authorities protection regulatory authorities
Payment of taxes
BT REEKE REARKE ER|X AE
ZERR EEMBYHE FE
BT K
Shareholders/investors Revenue and return Company announcements Irreqular
Business development General meetings Yearly
Compliance operations Site visits Irreqular
ESG governance Regular reports Yearly/quarterly
RE/REE o & B 3 NGNS TEH
XBER BRRXE FE
ARgE EMER TEH
ESGJA I EHRE FE/FE
Customers (property Quiality of service and satisfaction Telephone communication Irregular
owners, tenants, of property owners Joint meetings Yearly
property users, etc.) Communication with property Annual meetings Yearly
owners/users Regular visits Irregular
Integration between business and
local community development
Legal and compliance operations
BERP(EX -#EP- RERERETREE EREAED TE H
MEERES ¥F /BERERR HE e & FE
XBEEHHRERRS FEER FE
REARKE D TE H
Suppliers Legal operation and quality Supplier meetings Yearly
standards of suppliers Online surveys Irreqular
Fair and reasonable treatment for Audit and assessment Irregular
business partners Bidding activities Irreqular
Legal and compliance operations
Quiality of service and satisfaction
of property owners
fER HEBAZELERMERE HEREZE FE
EBEHLTABENGS HEERASL TEH
REAHRES B TEH
RERERRETREE RERIZED TEH
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RIR - HERERBE

Communication
Frequency
BEEX

Communication
Methods
BEAX

Stakeholders
FREEA

Expectations and Concerns

BB EFXR

Employees

il
H

\
/

Employee benefits and welfare
Employee safety and health
Legitimate recruitment and use of
workforce

Employee training and education
Quiality of service and satisfaction
of property owners
BIfFBERET
EIREEZ S
BEARAL
BETHRBEEHE
RERERETITREE

Employee representative
meeting

Company activities
Letters and visits
Suggestion box

BIREAR
AAES
&3

R

Yearly

Irregular
Irreqular
Irregular

FE
TEH
T H
TE 5

Community

R

Community environment

Charity and public welfare
Community contributions

Legal and compliance operations

HERIRE
BREDNH
TR AR

REEHRKE

Community
communication meetings
Visit and investigation
Press releases/
announcements
HEERE
MEERE
nER N E

Irregular
Irreqular
Irregular

i
T 8
T

22 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Materiality Assessment EEMEEANML

The Group regularly conducts materiality assessments ZANE&EBEFEH#ETESZHEFTEHIE - W IAE T
and continues to improve the working mechanism and ZEZ MG TIEESIE T X BB TE
methodology of such assessments. Different stakeholders HFIZEEMA AL WA FERRZFENEEH
are invited to participate in materiality assessments i BEEGESHFHTRAZENER L&
of sustainability issues, with the aim of collecting and T E—FTHABABEXRIENE Y
assessing views of various parties on different issues as FHBEM T —FEHHE o

well as further pointing out the priority issues concerning

sustainability and the direction for future efforts.

The process for the Group to assess material issues in  ANEER02FEEEMZBETHAERLEMNU
2022 consists of three steps: T=1&2 8 :

e \We reviewed and examined the materiality issues identified in 2021 based on A
business operations, industry development trends, ESG related standards and
Reviewing and guidelines and other information, and confirmed the importance of ESG
examining issues.
LEICIESIEN .« 2 #5ELI0  (TERESD - ESGIEERITIESIZEE - H2021FEH
2SR BIHMEBIEABET T WHEBNER  WHRESGEBNER -
ElERIE25] /

N\

e Based on the Company’s existing business, ESG reporting guidelines, and

industry ESG management priorities, we selected potential ESG issues covering
" five areas, i.e. environment, employees, products and services, community, and
Identifying governance.

otential ESG . N N s . ‘B v e
AU - 55D AIRA R  SAESGRENRMIESIER  (TRESCERES BT EE

OSSO i BT R - LB R A TR 6 EEESGRA -

J

¢
]

e \We determined the disclosure focus of the reporting content according to the
ranking of importance, analysed the key concerns of stakeholders, and
determined the ESG governance response strategy.

o RIEERMFRERESATNRESE DM EHBIFER @ BE
ESGIRIR FE LI 5RAS -
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Through the above evaluation and analysis process and
the discussion of the Board, the Group has identified
issues that have a significant impact on its operations
during the Reporting Period as the focus of disclosure
of the Report, which also provides an important basis

for the Group to perfect its management system and
sustainable development direction:

Environmental
RiE

Use and influence
of raw materials

REEERRTE

Waste treatment
and emission
reduction

JBE 22 W) B 3% B B

Water resources
consumption and
water preservation

JKE R H FE HL &K

Employees
ET

Employee benefits
and welfare
BIFBEEN

Employee safety
and health
BEIREREZSD

Employee training
and development
BTl EER

Legitimate
recruitment and
use of workforce
BEARABTL

Products and
services

EmR#%

Protection of users’
property, health and
safety

RIE A& 8Bt
EoREETE

Quiality of service
and satisfaction of
property owners

AR %5 o B X W
BE

Equipment reliability
BeEIE Ak
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BMPEEEMEAFHEONBRE
T SN BERAEAEEN L E

AR ERKIE

Community
HE

Communication
with property
owners/users

XX EREBRE

Integration between
business and

local community
development

FREE A R
REA

ANKREE

BEARZENZBRERARENREESE -
NREMTEEENERRMAKERERT

Governance

s 3
(==

Legal and
compliance
operations
BEAREE

Legal operation and
quality standards of
suppliers

HEBSEEEN

o B R %

Standardised
management
EELER

Anti-corruption
R&F
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ADHERENCE TO INTEGRITY, COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Honours

We adhere to good corporate governance and provide
customers with the best quality service. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was honoured to receive a
number of awards, including but not limited to:

° Five-star property management service provider
in terms of comprehensive abilities in Shanghai in
2022

° AAA-grade property management enterprise in
terms of integrity and commitment in Shanghai

o Best Assistance Provider of the Year 2022 — Cleaning
Services

° Outstanding Co-organizer of Property Management
in Shanghai for 2022

Anti-corruption

Fulfilling obligations, complying with laws and
regulations, and fostering a corporate culture of
integrity are paramount to our sustainable development.
The Group attaches great importance to operational
compliance, continuously steps up anti-corruption
efforts, and adopts a zero-tolerance attitude towards any
form of corruption, bribery, extortion, money laundering,
and fraud. The Group strictly complies with the pertinent
laws and regulations such as the Criminal Law of the
PRC, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, and
the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC, as well as
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In addition, the audit
and supervision department has been set up to manage
anti-corruption related work.

RIR - HERERBRE

BFHE 8GR

NE)RE

BMBRHRRINEEEL  AEPRHARE
HHR®  -RNBEHRRN AEEXRZESS
EEE - BEREARRR:

o 20R2F FEBTMUWERBLEEENAER
%

e LEMHMERERBITREHEEAFAAAR
S

o 202FEHREMBMHERN — RERE

0226 EBMEERESHMENM

RES
BIEBETERAREERZEEER
BPERAFKEZRNBE2HME -AEES
EERKLESRL  TEHMBRRBERIE -
HEMEANES BH R KREN
BFTARDRERREE - AEEHBET
(PEARKAMBEADE) (PEARAME K
HEE) (PEARKAMBERTEEHEFE)
ERBERER URBEBAXEAER
REKETHRADK &+ E 2KEEXEAR
STHADABSTRMEX BRIV EBFEERE
BRBERBREIE-
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RIR - HERERBE

The Board of the Group takes the important responsibility
of overseeing the effective implementation of the
Company’s internal control, anti-corruption, whistle-
blowing, and other related systems. To ensure the
proper operation of the Group, the Board will not only
prevent the occurrence of undesirable phenomena such
as abuse of power by the management and collusion
among employees, but also strengthen the monitoring
of phenomena such as management override, complicity
among employees, and fraud triangle. By doing so, it
could make sure that incentive and disincentive measures
are put in place within the Group and the governance
structure is improved, thereby effectively preventing any
fraudulent acts. The Board, as the central governance
body of the Group, is also required to comprehensively
review the professional ethics and financial position of
the management. The Board shall neither put pressure
on the management to falsify financial data due to poor
financial conditions, nor shall it make excuses for the
lack of professional ethics of the management to gain
benefits through financial falsification. All these steps
enable the Group to attain sound and steady business
development and create greater value for shareholders
and all employees. The Board organises annual learning
activities on the updates to the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code to diversify its views and
avoid conflicts of interest. In 2022, the Group conducted
anti-corruption training for the Board and staff to create
a clean corporate atmosphere across the board through
learning the 2022 Manual for Integrity and Self-discipline
Awareness Enhancement.

We have formulated the Measures for the Assessment of
Integrity and Self-discipline in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations, in which the prohibited items are
listed in detail and corresponding penalties are set up.
Employees are required not to use power for personal
gain, not to sacrifice the interests of the Company, not
to violate personal professional ethics, not to leak secrets
of the Company and not to steal corporate information.
They are required to sign the Letter of Responsibility on
Personal Integrity and Self-discipline every year, which
is attached to the Performance Evaluation Measures
for Business Departments/Functional Departments. In
addition, we have added integrity and self-discipline
clauses in our contracts with suppliers and contractors,
requiring them to be law-abiding and disciplined in their
work.

26
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Moreover, the Group requires employees to have a high
level of awareness of anti-corruption practices and strives
to maintain openness and fairness within the scope of its
operations. The Group not just encourages its employees
to voice their concerns or report non-compliance, but
also prohibits retaliation against anyone who raises
concerns or reports suspected misconduct in good faith.
In response to corruption, the Group has designed and
released “zero tolerance” posters and set up an audit
and supervision hotline. Employees are encouraged
to report any violation through our hotline or email
address. Investigations will be conducted into reported
cases. A non-criminal case will be jointly handled by
relevant functional departments. The Group will seriously
investigate and correct violations of laws and disciplines.
A criminal case will be submitted to the judicial authority
after the approval by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was neither
aware of any major anti-corruption-related violations, nor
received any corruption proceedings against the Group
or its employees.

Supply Chain Management

The Group prioritises managing environmental and
social risks to ensure sustainable development of the
supply chain. We select suppliers as per the principles
of fairness, impartiality, and transparency, and will
strengthen the supervision and management of the
procurement process to make it institutionalised and
standardised. We have established and strictly upheld
the internal policies related to supply chain management,
and focus on integrity and morality in our procurement
process, without favouring any particular supplier or
individual in the procurement process to ensure fairness.
We also attach importance to suppliers’ response to
environmental and social risks, prevent and combat unfair
competition, prevent potential corruption and fraud in
the supply chain, and maintain fair and just cooperation.
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RIR - HERERBE

We have formulated the Supplier Database Control
Procedures to regulate the management processes of
supplier access, pre-qualification, use, and evaluation, a
prerequisite for obtaining long-term, stable contracting
parties. Meanwhile, we effectively manage environmental
and social risks in the supply chain, and implement the
supplier screening and performance evaluation system,
in a bid to improve service quality. Moreover, we also
conduct regular reviews of suppliers as per the aforesaid
document to enhance our supervision and management
of the supply chain.

Meanwhile, we encourage suppliers to actively use raw
materials or packaging materials that have less impact
on the environment or have obtained environmental
protection certifications to reduce carbon emissions and
environmental pollution. In the Supplier Information
Survey Form, suppliers must fill in whether they have
obtained the ISO 14000 Environmental Management
Systems certification or similar certification, which will
increase the number of suppliers who use eco-friendly
products and services and serve as one of the references
for us to select suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, we reviewed 170 suppliers
in accordance with our evaluation process, of which
109 suppliers passed the relevant evaluation process to
become our qualified suppliers, and all 109 suppliers are
from Shanghai.

Service Procurement

The Group attaches great importance to the procurement
of services. In accordance with the Supplier Database
Control Procedures, we have established a stringent
process for selecting and vetting new suppliers to ensure
that the qualifications and reputation of new suppliers
meet our requirements. Suppliers shall be reviewed at
least annually. In the annual review, the evaluation panel
will consider the quality, service, price, and delivery term,
among other factors, of suppliers to nail down the List
of Qualified Suppliers, which is approved and released
by the general manager of the Company. Such a process
could help the Group to effectively monitor the quality
and service level of its suppliers.
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We systematically manage the bidding process to
ensure fairness and impartiality. In the bidding process,
we give priority to the material, labour, service and
technology suppliers with the qualifications of ISO
9001 (Quality Management Systems), ISO 14001
(Environmental Management Systems) and GB/T 45001-
2020/ ISO 45001 : 2018 (Occupational Health and Safety
Management Systems), to maintain a high level of
quality and service. Meanwhile, we also adopt different
selection criteria according to the nature of industry in
which a supplier operates and pursue policies that meet
environmental and social risk management requirements
to make sure that our supply chain management gets
aligned with international standards and best practices.

To ensure continued improvement in our services,
we keep optimising our procurement processes and
improving our supplier management. Our procurement
staff searches for suitable suppliers through professional
market surveys, participation in trade fairs, and other
methods to establish long-term and stable partnerships
with them. In addition, we constantly monitor and
evaluate our suppliers and conduct supplier screening on
a regular basis to ensure that our supply chain remains
efficient, stable, and reliable. Furthermore, we will make
dynamic adjustments and improvements considering
many factors such as supplier performance and market
changes to always provide customers with the highest-
quality services.
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Service Supervision

After entering into cooperation with suppliers, we
continue to track and monitor the service level of
suppliers to ensure that their service quality meets
our requirements. We bring suppliers under unified
management. Specifically, relevant departments will
spot-check suppliers from time to time as stipulated in
contracts, supervise their work quality, and prepare the
Total Evaluation Form for Service Providers to exercise
control over the quality of service providers in accordance
with the Supplier Database Control Procedures. Where
problems are found, the suppliers concerned will be
promptly ordered to rectify and fill in the Form of
Records of Communication with Service Providers. If the
suppliers refuse to rectify or there are material service
quality problems, the situation will be reported level by
level and to the property management department.

In addition to regular meetings, visits, and training
sessions, we have also established long-term and stable
partnerships with our suppliers and discuss with them
how to optimise supply chain management and achieve
win-win outcomes through such measures as efficiency
enhancement and cost reduction. For under-performing
suppliers, we will arrange interviews through the supplier
management department to understand in detail their
problems, formulate corresponding rectification plans,
and urge them to implement rectification measures with
a view to improving their overall management and service
quality. Through close collaboration and interaction
with our suppliers, we could promote the sustainable
development of the industry and provide better products
and services to customers, while making a positive
contribution to both society and the environment.
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EXCELLENT SERVICE, QUALITY ASSURANCE
Quality Management

The Group is committed to providing top-notch property
management services to our property owners. Guided by
the homelike service concept, we always put customer
experience as our top priority. To ensure the health
and safety of our property owners, we strictly comply
with the pertinent laws and regulations such as the
Regulation on Property Management. While paying close
attention to matters such as advertising, labelling, and
privacy, we also abide by the pertinent laws including
the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC and the Advertising
Law of the PRC, and provide appropriate remedies. To
ensure the stability and reliability of service quality, the
Group established a quality management system as early
as 2004, which has been continuously improved and
enhanced. Over the years, we have been committed to
enhancing our service quality management system to
achieve the highest level. We have introduced and passed
the certification of the advanced international quality
management standard GB/T 19001-2016/I1SO 9001:2015
(Quality Management System Requirements), which is
an important guarantee for us to improve service quality
continuously.
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To ensure the quality and safety of our property
management, we have formulated and implemented
a series of rules and policies in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including the Quality,
Environmental, Occupational Health and Safety
Management Manual, the Customer Property
Management Rules, and the Internal Confidentiality
Management Rules. These documents provide clear
standards and guidelines for our management, review,
and evaluation practices. To ensure our rules and policies
are practical and effective, we regularly review, sort
out, and revise internal normative documents, and
continuously update the quality control specifications
in many aspects including risk control, surveillance
and measurement control, internal audit, and error
correction. Besides, we also formulate detailed operation
instructions according to the characteristics of projects,
and strengthen the concept of quality training through
employee training to continuously elevate the level
of quality management. It is our firm conviction
that through unremitting efforts and continued
enhancements, we bring our property management
to the highest level and provide better services to our
customers.
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During COVID-19, we adopted a series of measures
to ensure the health and safety of our customers and
employees. Firstly, we required that all employees
should wear masks and have their body temperature
measured when entering project sites, and that visitors
must present their health code and travel code in a bid
to reduce the risk of infection. To safeguard the health
of our staff, we recorded their temperature and health
status on a daily basis and conducted nucleic acid tests
on staff members who had visited medium to high risk
areas, stipulating that only those with negative test
results could be allowed to work at office. In public
spaces at project sites, we increased the frequency
of disinfection and ventilation, and put up posters to
remind our clients and staff members of hygiene and
protective measures as part of the efforts to raise
awareness of epidemic response. Keenly aware of the
risks that an epidemic could pose to the health and
safety of our clients and staff members, we will take all
necessary precautions to create a clean, safe and healthy
environment at project sites.

It is the Group's firm commitment to properly manage
and protect the information and privacy of property
owners. In strict accordance with the provisions on
information security and privacy protection as stipulated
in the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC and other laws
and regulations, we have formulated the Internal
Confidentiality Management Rules to regulate and
monitor the confidentiality practices of our property
service staff in the course of service. We conduct
confidentiality training for our staff to raise their
awareness of confidentiality. Meanwhile, we sign
confidentiality agreements with in-service employees
and require them to pass an information security and
confidentiality assessment before they start to work.
Our confidentiality system has strict provisions on the
information that can be viewed and the places that are
accessible to employees. We carry out special training
for employees who need to access customer information,
and require them to perform duties of public security.
Before seeking approval from property owners, any
trespass of visitors will be prohibited. We never expose
the family and financial situation, address, phone number
and other privacy information of property owners to
anyone, strictly protecting customer privacy security.
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As for advertising, the Group strictly complies with the
laws and regulations including the Advertising Law of
the PRC as well as the code of practice in the industry.
The legitimacy, authenticity, scientificity, and accuracy of
the publicly released information are strictly evaluated.
Publication of deceptive and misleading marketing
information and materials is strictly prohibited to
effectively protect the legitimate rights and interests of
customers. Since the Group's business does not involve
commodity labelling, the content related to commodity
labelling is not applicable to the Group.

Due to the nature of its businesses, the Group does not
involve any product recall. During the Reporting Period,
we were not aware of any major violations related to
service quality, privacy protection or advertising.

Customer Communication and Service

The Group is committed to improving the quality of the
services and products it provides with the aim to retain
a solid and ongoing relationship with its customers. It
always places a high priority on opinions and feedback
of customers and maintains active and effective
communication with them in the course of service.

As a property management company with a strong
focus on customer service, we place great importance
on communication and interaction with our customers.
We actively keep in touch with customers and are always
available to listen to their comments and suggestions
during and after the process of service delivery. We
will make timely adjustments to our services given
customers’ feedback with a view to offering a better
service experience. The channels through which we
communicate with our customers are so diverse to
include, but be not limited to, phone call, email, social
media, and online chatting. With particular attention paid
to communication with property owner representatives,
we get informed of their comments on and needs for our
services through regular property owner conferences and
meetings for property owner representatives, and follow
up to solve problems in a timely manner. Meanwhile,
we also focus to a great extent on communication with
the persons in charge of project management offices
and property owners to facilitate the enhancement of
service quality and the smooth management of projects.
The aforesaid two forms of communication enable us to
effectively communicate with our customers in different
aspects, so that we could not only understand their
needs and feedback in a timely manner, but also better
solve problems and improve the quality of services, thus
gaining their trust and satisfaction.
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The following table shows the main channels through MU TAREBRREHNETFEBNETE
which the Group communicated with its customers 2R3 e
during the Reporting Period.

Annual meeting Monthly meeting Special meeting
TEEH REEH s

¥gm Annual work summary for Monthly work report for Special or unexpected
. property services, work r. property services, work plan for r- events that occur in
plan for next year next month proyision of property
YIRS FETIERE - T YIRS A TVEELR : T services are the core of the
FRET IR B A TiEstal meeting
W28 AR 795 P R R ol SR 3
EHREERL
wmt  Once a year, usually in wmts  Once a month, usually at the wmu  [rregular
BH December BH  end of the month R B
SE—R > —REGE SA—K > —REAKREH
#1273
3‘{ Leaders on behalf of 3&& Department leaders on behalf 3&& Department leaders on
property owners and of property owners, project behalf of property owners,
property management managers, managers of project project managers, managers
companies, project lines of project lines
managers 2y AP HA K 23 EPY4E L AR
%30 - PEAT B R & kiR I B R IR

RE - HAKE

Satisfaction survey Instant communication
mEERS BB E A

" Service quality satisfaction; service improvement [ Various events in provision of property services
N recommendations L W RRFE R RIE S
RBEEREE  RGRAEZ
% Once a quarter, usually at the end of the quarter % Anytime and anywhere
BEE R —REFER AhEE B B
3&; Department leaders on behalf of property 3&; Relevant personnel
owners, project managers, managers of project HETIEAE
lines
FEX7EPIEE - HAKE HERGR
S
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In order to make a more comprehensive assessment
of customers’ satisfaction with our service quality,
as well as their needs, comments and suggestions,
we commissioned a third party to conduct customer
satisfaction evaluation again during the Reporting Period.
The evaluation is based on the general model in GB/
T19038:2009 Customer Satisfaction Evaluation Model
and Method Guide. According to the service content
and the type of each property project, the Group has
designed different types of questionnaires, and collected
opinions on the overall evaluation and quality perception.
During the evaluation, 54 interviews were given to 61
major property owners; offline satisfaction questionnaires
were distributed for 30 projects and online satisfaction
guestionnaires for 36 projects to collect customers’
valuable opinions and suggestions on the work done by
the Company. After analysing the evaluation results, we
gained an in-depth understanding of how customers
were satisfied with the quality of our services and where
improvements might be needed. At the same time,
the feedback from respondents could be used by us to
continuously improve our service quality and meet what
customers need.

Meanwhile, we value the feedback of customers. In
addition to a complaints management policy that has
been formulated to respond to such feedback, we have
also established the Customer Complaints Handling
Procedures, which defines the responsible unit for
handling customer complaints and detailed handling
steps to ensure that we can address the problems fed
back by customers in a timely and effective manner
and take prompt measures to avoid the recurrence of
similar conditions. In short, we are always committed
to providing quality services to maintain customer
satisfaction and trust.
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If any customer expresses an opinion or files a complaint
to us, we will deal with it immediately in accordance with
the Customer Complaints Handling Procedures, which
lists the process for handling customer complaints:

Complaint receipt

Complaint handling

R IR REFERIE

After receiving a complaint, the person responsible for
taking complaints will contact the customer concerned
within three minutes to work towards a solution
and agree upon the time needed, and record the
complaint on the Customer Complaints Record Form.
For a complaint exceeding the handling authority, the
department/person responsible for handling complaints
will report the situation directly to the immediate
superior within 15 minutes, and the immediate superior
will contact the customer within one hour to agree
upon the time needed for complaint handling. After
the complaint is handled, the person responsible for
handling complaints will fill in the Cause Analysis and
Corrective Actions in the Customer Complaints Record
Form, and give feedback to the person who has taken
the complaint. After receiving the reply, the person who
has taken the complaint will check with the complainant.
If the handling result is inconsistent with the customer’s
feedback, the complaint will be returned for re-handling
to ensure that the customer’s complaint is dealt with
seriously.

During the Reporting Period, the Group took six
complaints, all of which were about residential property
projects. Problems of these projects were rectified as
required by customers and rectification results were
communicated to them accordingly. The customers were
completely satisfied with the handling results.
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Innovation and R&D

With the rapid technological advancement, we are
acutely aware of the need to keep pace with the times
by continuously applying the latest technologies such as
information technology (IT) to meet the ever-growing
needs of customers. Active in research and development
(R&D) and innovation investment, we focus on moving
towards digitalisation and intelligence in order to provide
higher-quality and more intelligent services. To this
end, we have specifically established Shanghai Jiegu
Technology Co., Ltd. and invested vastly in developing the
Dynamic Business Matrix (DBM), an innovative technology
that could make buildings digital and intelligent. Through
the deployment of visualisation and Internet of Things
(loT) technologies, data/information from various aspects
such as equipment, energy, personnel, monitoring,
and environment could be combined to make property
management more intelligent and efficient, providing
customers with a more convenient and intelligent
service system. We keep improving service quality by
continuously promoting technological innovation to meet
the needs and expectations of our customers.

The DBM system is made up of a data management
middle office, multiple types of application systems, and
a comprehensive 3D management platform, aiming to
create an intelligent, ecosystem-based, and electronic
integrated management system. The system is detailed as
follows:
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Online repair processing, pre-defined maintenance scheduling, and electronic daily

Task ticket handling tool
ABTIERETA

inspections

Sentry equipment and
facility monitoring
Sentry =% 5% e B5 15

Provider merchant/tenant
management tool
ProviderSfAFEE T A

residential tenants

Sentinel security
protection tool

Sentinel 2 2fHET A

‘ and personnel location

BB -

Seer 3D visualization
console

Seer 3DT L EE % SEEREK R4 -
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‘ Real-time monitoring of equipment and facilities and equipment alarm system

REFGENBERFEN - RBBLIRE

Online repair reporting, feedback, and application process for commercial and

BEPESRE - BRKRE - BFERE

Security monitoring, intelligent access control, video surveillance,
HEEFIEE C 1RARELIE - ABERL

SEER integrated system and project data visualisation
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To further enhance the quality of its engineering
services, the Group has been optimising its engineering
service system. In our self-developed plant operation
and maintenance system (POMS) platform, we have
introduced a range of cutting-edge technologies such
as artificial intelligence (Al), loT, cloud computing, and
big data analysis, smart facilities management platform
tools, and efficient operations teams. By leveraging
our experience in offline operation and maintenance of
engineering facilities, we have established a complete
set of operation and maintenance systems to manage
through digital means tasks in six major categories,
that is, daily operation, corrective repair, preventive
maintenance, safety and protection, energy management,
and construction and supervision, and to evaluate the
process and results of how engineering facilities are
operated and maintained in a quantitative manner. This
would not only improve the continuity, stability, and
efficiency of our services, but also help us to better
cover the needs of our customers by delivering a superior
service experience.

The Group has been actively transforming and upgrading
from traditional property management toward modern
property services, and is acutely aware of the importance
of innovative R&D in enhancing the service experience.
To this end, we continue to optimise our corporate
innovation process and encourage our staff to provide
customers with better services through innovative R&D.
While complying with the Patent Law of the PRC and
other relevant laws, we also protect our intellectual
property rights (IPRs) by actively developing internal
documents such as the Institutional Management
Measures and the File Control Procedures. A knowledge
base has been created for our staff, where experience
from both internal and external sources is gathered
and knowledge in specific fields is extracted for our
employees to learn and refer to. In managing the
knowledge base, we have taken appropriate measures
to protect our IPRs from infringement. In addition, we
pay ongoing attention to industry standards, academic
exchanges, professional conferences, and input from
customers or external suppliers to adjust and optimise
our services in a timely manner. By continuously
improving our corporate innovation capability and
knowledge base, we will be able to create an even better
service experience for our customers.

RIR - HERERBRE
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RIR - HERERBE

UNITY AND HARMONY

Employment Management

The Group is convinced that our success depends on
the efforts and contributions of employees. We are
committed to attracting and retaining the best talent
and building an outstanding workforce with dedicated
endeavours. The development of the Group is reliant on
the joint efforts of all employees. We ensure fair and
equitable selection and appointment mechanisms to
attract talents. We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations on employment, including the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and
the Implementation Regulations for the Labour Contract
Law of the PRC. We have prepared a number of internal
documents to regulate recruitment, compensation,
dismissal, promotion, performance appraisal, working
hours, leave, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other staff benefits, which include the
Human Resources Allocation Management Measures (HR-
002), the Leave and Attendance Management Measures
(HR-003), the Remuneration Management Measures (HR-
004), and the Induction Management Measures (HR-007).
Meanwhile, the “fair, just and open” procedures have
been adopted to recruit qualified employees.

The Group has always attached great importance to
labour standards, committed to protecting minors and
avoiding unlawful labour practices such as the use
of child labour. Our staff recruitment system strictly
upholds the Induction Management Measures (HR-007),
to eliminate any form of forced labour. At the same
time, we strictly comply with the pertinent laws and
regulations such as the Law of the PRC on the Protection
of Minors and the Regulations on the Prohibition of
Child Labour, and automatically filters all candidates
under the age of 16 through our recruitment system.
Besides, we review the identity documents of candidates
in the processes of recruitment, induction approval, and
induction check-in to ensure the authenticity of their
information. If any cases of child labour or forced labour
are found, we will promptly review and optimise the
relevant recruitment procedures to ensure that we always
abide by national laws and regulations and provide a fair,
legal, and healthy working environment for employees.
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The Group always endeavour to create an inclusive,
equal, and diverse corporate culture. In our view,
each and every employee should be treated fairly,
whether in terms of recruitment, promotion, training or
remuneration. In the recruitment process, we assess the
suitability of candidates on the basis of their abilities
and qualifications regardless of their race, gender,
age, religion, ethnicity or other factors. We encourage
female employees to be active in all areas of the Group
and provide them with equal opportunities for career
development. At the same time, we have established
the Human Resources Allocation Management Measures
(HR-002), which defines the criteria and processes for
recruitment and staffing, ensuring that every employee
is able to demonstrate their capabilities in an open,
transparent, and competitive environment. We sign
labour contracts with every employee and firmly abide by
the terms of such contracts to maintain stable and good
labour relations.

We work hard to provide competitive compensation and
benefits to our employees. Through the formulation of
the Remuneration Management Measures (HR-004),
we have also established a sophisticated employee
performance appraisal and assessment mechanism,
in which employees are evaluated in terms of actual
performance, performance contribution, and potential
for further growth, a prerequisite for determining salary
levels and promotion criteria in a more equitable manner.
Additionally, we also provide a package of competitive
benefits such as medical insurance, old-age insurance,
housing provident fund, paid annual leave, holiday
benefits, and travel pay to attract and retain outstanding
talent. In terms of remuneration, we uphold the “more
pay for more work” principle, encouraging employees
to improve their income by utilising their expertise and
skills. At the same time, for staff members involved in
projects under entrusted management, allowances are
provided as incentives for their efforts and contributions
during these projects.

RIR - HERERBRE
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REAFHE EmnSEBRE-BH 5
ERFHNAE TREBRY  BRABRFT
AfERR - R Flk - FHIREEREE
BEHEZE MEREEEEMNEIMNER
RIFFHEEBEAME - RMBEEHLZEETIR
HAAEBMOZERE X AWMPREFES
WBEEEKE - A - BIMHIE TCHR-002
ANEBERBEEERER L) HETABRE
MEENEZEMRRE HREBEETHER
E—EAAH BHREIRFNREPRTED
WEE NMAZE - ZRMERMEIEITSHLE
W WEBRETENGRR #ELEBERDY
BEMRBL -

BMBIRBEIREEERFINTHIH R
B - BBH FE(HR-004F B E B IE) - &
BRIV TEENE TEWNERMT GBS -
BEBEEINIERE EXEERMNEREN
ZHEETTG - AFEE D T
KEMEBAZE -BRMEBERELETERF
T EANEFSE WEERR  BEERR &
EAE: H¥FFR HHBREGH  BIK
HE ARSI MBEEBFOAL - EFHMA
B BMEIBEZEZEINITIENE 5B
ETARAREACHNERNIBERSECH
WAKTE - AR HRSLEREBEEMNETL
BMETIFEZE] ASBMMEEE
HENZEHDMER -

EThRERARAE #2022 41




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERBE

In addition to the holiday benefits and commercial
insurance mentioned above, we also provide a range of
other benefits to our staff, such as birthday gifts, annual
health check-ups, free lunches, and free shuttle services.
Moreover, we also provide training opportunities for
employees, and have established a complete set of
training systems and policies, encouraging staff members
to attend various training sessions and refresher courses,
which could improve their comprehensive capabilities and
professional competence to adapt to the ever-changing
market and business needs. With a strong focus placed
on the working environment, we keep improving facilities
and building a corporate culture in the workplace to
create a harmonious and positive atmosphere, where
employees could get a good working experience and
adequate room for further growth.

42
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During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any ¥R&EH A - B K M (W& X E % 18
major violations of laws and regulations on employment, JAREZEBROE ARG > MABLEEBEZT T
nor did we use child labour or forced labour. SRl T EM o

Number of employees

ETHEIR

Total number of employees 5,173 5,135
BWETAH
By employment type Full-time 5,143 5,107
RERBRELE D £l
Part-time 30 28
B
By gender Male 2,510 2,306
=M RIE 5 S
Female 2,663 2,829
74
By age group Under 30 years old 175 187
REW®E D 30 AT
30-40 years old 630 662
30-405%
41-50 years old 978 814
41-505%
51 years old or older 3,390 3,472
515% 3 A £

|
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Number of employees
ET#AIR

By geographical region Fujian 1,991 1,852
i % & 9 mEAE
Shanghai 1,054 1,118
tif
Sichuan 1,053 1,000
il
Henan 144 151
AEAE
Jiangxi 4 2
ANGiEE Y
Hunan 1 5
WMEa
Anhui 585 947
ZHAE
Jiangsu 22 8
AR
Zhejiang 11 10
A
Tianjin 20 23
RE™
Taiwan 1 1
=0 )
Hong Kong 1 2
A
Hubei 7 9
Mit4a
Shaanxi 0 1
PRPEE
Chongging 0 2
EEM
Shandong 24 2
lRA
Gansu 0 1
H@ma
Heilongjiang 0 1
RREIAE
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region 255 /

MEAERKE LR

By rank Senior management 10 10
RERE D SRERE
Technicians 167 345
RMmA B
Ordinary employees 4,996 4,780
EBETL
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Employee turnover rates'
8§ Tifi Kk tb 23 &k

Total employee turnover rate 70.02%?2 49.93%
BMEIMARLE

By gender Male 63.63% 41.02%
=M RIE 5 S
Female 76.04% 57.19%
g
By geographical region Fujian 86.19% 57.19%
i = 8l 5 BEE
Shanghai 102.56% 41.02%
ti
Sichuan 40.08% 57.19%
&
Henan 77.08% 41.02%
A
Jiangxi 50.00% 57.19%
pANiTE Y
Hunan 400.00% 41.02%
HMEA
Anhui 41.20% 57.19%
A
Jiangsu 22.73% 41.02%
AN )
Zhejiang 36.36% 57.19%
WIH
Tianjin 30.00% 41.02%
KRR
Taiwan 0.00% 57.19%
N
Hong Kong 100.00% 41.02%
&%
Hubei 14.29% 57.19%
NI =)
Shannxi3 / 41.02%
PR A
Chongging / 57.19%
BEM
Shandong 83.33% 41.02%
IR A
Gansu / 57.19%
H#E4A
Heilongjiang / 41.02%
ERIE
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region 1.18% /

MiERERKE AR
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Employee turnover rates®
E ikt 23 &K

By age group Under 30 years old 144.00% 47.59%
REWRE D 30 AT
30-40 years old 84.44% 27.79%
30-405%
41-50 years old 46.42% 36.12%
41-5073%
51 years old or older 70.32% 57.52%
51p% 3 A &
1 The employee turnover rate for each category is calculated 1 FEHEIMNBEIRAXFAELAA R - REBHAZE
as: Number of employees leaving in the category during the AMETHBAR BEREBRZERNNES
Reporting Period/total number of employees in the category as TAH x100% °

at the end of the Reporting Period x 100%.

2 Due to the cancellation of some projects during the Reporting 2 MAEENREAAREHTEZBEHELE  HH
Period as a result of the epidemic closure and control, the HERS  AMETEALHTERNTE AKX
turnover rate increased, which is within the normal level because REEFEHE -

the property industry is labor-intensive.

3 The numbers of employees leaving during the Reporting Period 3 Peig  EEM HBAREEIANBEHR

in Shaanxi, Chongging, Gansu and Heilongjiang were 1, 2, 1, BEBEABDRA TA2ATARIA REME
and 1 respectively. The above regions had no employees in this ERERREZENNET  REAELAXEES -
category at the end of the Reporting Period. They are denoted B/RTR -

by “/", since the formula is meaningless for them.
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Talent Promotion

The Group attaches great importance to the growth
and development of employees. Therefore, we have
created a variety of promotion opportunities for our
outstanding staff members. Employees are encouraged
and incentivised to be creative in their work and create
value for the Company. With the Promotion System in
place, we offer promotion opportunities for employees
of virtue and talent and with outstanding performance,
achievements or special skills based on the combination
of “vertical” and “crisscross” promotion. When
promoting employees, we take a fair and impartial
approach and give priority to those who meet the job
requirements and perform well in their work. Taking
performance appraisals very seriously, we conduct them
on a regular basis every year to ensure that the work
quality and performance of employees could meet our
requirements. For employees who are found unqualified,
we will take appropriate measures, including demotion
and retraining, to help them improve their abilities and
skills. We believe that the establishment of a fair and
equitable promotion mechanism can help employees
better unleash their enthusiasm and creativity and bring
greater value to the Group.

Gradual Promotion Internal Transfer

BREHA B 5 BB

RIR - HERERBRE

ATEFH
AEEFRFERABATHREMNER B
ERMBETZREAHRE  UERARLES
ATBHEHNER - RMBETHETIE
REREAE RARAEEE XK T M
BERHRE -  BARICEAHE) KATE
RIBRIXXIBEANTRA RETFE
AR AEHAAERRTIENET
RUEARE - EEHBRET RABER
REFEMALEMEE  EAER BEANTER
EKMRBEEBNETL - HMIFEFTERE
MEZ BFHECHRAR UBERETH
TEEEMERNE QXA ER - P08
TIFEMET RMERBCEEMNEE &
mER EHHIEF NEPHLMARSAEDS
HIBE N AN EBE - TMIME(E BBRIQF -
NIEH BTG - AT B E TV E &R MM
BlEN  RAKETREANNER-

Exceptional “Vertical” and
Promotion “Crisscross” Promotion
W RK [ERIHERXIEH

We encourage young
employees at all levels to
continuously improve their
professional skills in their
respective positions, and
to make achievements
in their professional
fields. Those who are
recognised in the year-end
performance evaluation
will be promoted.

BMEBERFEETHE
EBEIFmi ETEHRA
BEAMBERE  YEF
EERBRRE  EFE
BERFEBESRTE B

BEER -

In order to establish an
internal talent competition
mechanism, optimise
human resource allocation,
and motivate employees to
be enterprising, we have
established an internal
competition mechanism.
When there are vacancies
in the internal management
positions, we first conduct
an internal selection and
recruitment, providing
unimpeded promotion
space for employees at all
levels.

BREMNRNIATHF K
#lBIEAHERES -
MEE T EIRBY - BM
BRYANEEEEES - B
AN B B AL 2 R
FETRIRE  BEER
EIRHEGBEOAR=
M e

Employees who make
outstanding contributions
to us or have special
talents will be promoted
after being nominated
by the human resources
department, reviewed by
the Party committee, and
approved by the general
manager.

HEMELRBERKA
BrITaE BANER
MR EZEZ AR
IR HE 1 T AR AR 4R -

According to their career
development plans,
employees can be promoted
along the hierarchy of
professional positions, or
they can be transferred to
other professional positions
based on their competency
development.

BEETIRELEER
RE - ATARBEEMLS
Tt ABEE S TaE
MEBERMABEHMER
AL T e

EThRERARAT #2022 47




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HERERWRE

Employee Communication

To better practise the concept of “Happy Riverine —
Sunshine Lighting”, the Group has established various
communication channels, including staff suggestion
boxes, regular staff opinion surveys, internal emails
and internal social networking platforms. Employees
are encouraged to express their views and suggestions,
which we will take seriously and adopt actions for
improvement accordingly. In addition, we provide staff
members with a platform to share their experience
and learn new things through regular staff meetings,

ETEE
RTEHHERIZBHI — BARIIN
B2 AEEZEUTZEEARE BXEE
TE#ME THRENBEIZAENASLT AH
BEFEHMH ABERFEF - BHMAZBHET
BT REBEEARERZE  HRXNE—
MERBEREH FABHRAE - I - &K
MBEsEHERETIARAE BBRIRE &
REIEFEE SEIRHE-—EIZLHRM
BENTE BRMEEETINREILRER
TRIATZREBRE:

]

experience sharing sessions, skills training, and other
activities. We respect the feelings and opinions of
employees and establish the following communication
channels:

e Managers welcome employees to directly express their ideas and questions
with an open mind. Managers shall actively follow the thoughts and emotions
of their subordinates.

EBEABUMMEEBROETEERRBBEMER  ASEBABNE
EXHETTEONBENISLE -

Open-door policy
9 5 B BX .

e Managers are encouraged to attentively listen to the team’s opinions through
work meetings when setting objectives so as to co-share the vision.
EBEEREEHEESNNERRE ISR EBEEBNER  RASZR

=2
= °

Work meeting
THEER .

e Superior leaders will have an interview with employees to understand the
situation and listen to their opinions about new employee regularisation,
salary adjustment or job change, job evaluation, career development plan and
resignation.

e MEIHEIE BEIRFIEMLES ITIHETMH BEERFIUREIR
HEBEERT I RESMEEETHETERN  THEBERL BMER -

Job interview

TEHE #

e The basic functions of the employee committee are to participate,
communicate, and supervise. Any employee can express his/her opinions and
ideas to us through the employee committee.

BIZESENELAREI2HE BB EE -MREIBFERMEZE A
AABIZESREMRE -

Employee committee
BIZES .
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Health and Safety REHEZR

Spearheaded by the principle of “Safety First”, the Group ZAEE-—EBHRXHFEILZ2F—INRE - LB
always regards occupational health and safety as an X@BELZ 2R ALAEEIFEERNEE
important guarantee for its sustainable development To RE - Bt M BE K ETSER X FE
this end, we strictly comply with laws and regulations on  ZZ2 BB ERER - BIEPEAR XA
occupational health and safety, including the Work Safety ZT24E A) (PFEAR LM BB E KA
Law of the PRC, the Law on Prevention and Treatment of JA) (B EMEEREETEIEA) (X2 4%
Occupational Diseases of the PRC, the Regulations on the EFINEE W E) (LBMEL 2 EEKG)
Administration of Occupational Health Examination, the % o B - F & BB GB/T 45001-2020/ISO
Measures for the Administration of Work Safety Training, 45001 : 2018 ¥ F L 2 EE B ZR & -

and the Regulations on Work Safety of Shanghai EBRERBEBRER BBXRERLE2EEE
Municipality. Meanwhile, we have also passed the ZFRARKMHBELEETES -

certification of the GB/T 45001-2020/ISO 45001:2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management System and
strictly follow the requirements of the system to integrate
occupational health and safety management into our
day-to-day operation and management activities.

REERERAESHITS Rl 2R 2 S ERBERIL

ELEMHER a0

ok,

# i ® i
LRBILALERLF EHERILBALERLA
LR TR D AMAAR P AR 1
s EAFEAT L AAR L UKD S ARk EATHEEYIAS 0 TN DA

BUMEREERRTS BUMPLIREESHEGATS
GE/T 1900t-2014 / 180 90012015 BB/T 45001-2020 / IS0 45001:2018
WA ENEEET B ER RN T
Sl it E R el BT AR 5 R4 3 R
AFALR L A R S R R R HEAAENROFaRLap A INESAR S sEisuonmkni

b5 10 i SRANELARL.

oisiss.s g .
Moreover, based on the actual operations, we have ﬁzﬁ’%&%gﬂf@i /§@%L§/R; i %T@iﬁ%
formulated a number of rules and policies, including the b R % ES ﬁ$ﬁ>ﬂ<\?\ \I:rjﬂ>>%fii %J
Occupational Health and Safety Management Manual and g BT ?i;ﬁ 7§ ﬁﬁﬁ:ﬂ&f\; ﬁtﬁfﬁﬁﬁfﬂ
the Employee Code of Conduct, which clarify the safety /% A ;'%ETHUZ? mi\?ﬁﬂj?%ﬂﬂgf%ﬁ*?%>
and fire protection responsibilities of employees. In view (2L %E:Da% ﬁl‘fﬂﬁ PED ol <<£Lh‘j§/_:& 1#
of hazards, the Group has compiled and implemented %ﬁ’*){%ﬁ% E‘Kﬂzﬁl‘jgﬁﬁi R E (R
the Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Procedures ™ /ﬁ % B M = B8 SF ' %i,$>> ' {Eﬂi/ﬂﬂ SRER)
based on the Measures on the Administration of H.& 8 H K f& fR R 1%“’E¥/:ﬁ’&%5’5@ﬁ%/1ﬁ_ﬁﬁ
Hazardous Chemicals of Shanghai Municipality, the B/ ° ?r{lf eRR - %WWK’A%E}”E;}%B’% 5
Identification of Major Hazard Installations for Hazardous [\° E':‘ :Ejrf Ti il - 1R ﬁéz%z% ) Eji Pl fE
Chemicals, the Catalogue of Special Equipment, and /\\Bﬁﬁ%iziﬁéﬁﬁﬁ@ ° E\\E%E‘}‘]i B
other regulatory requirements, aiming to identify and ﬁfFﬂEEE\EE*EEﬂg*D B E &Bg%ﬁﬁﬂ
assess hazards in various activities as well as to reduce Jﬁgﬁﬁmfi\ﬁﬁ ﬁﬁ{i@imﬁéiﬁ
their risks through effective measures. Specifically, we TIETH & HEE °me§T7T<E\;T_Eﬁui@E;Z’£ .
consider reducing risks from the identified hazards &R * &FEK TIFREFEFBHENRF -

through elimination, substitution, engineering controls,
warning labels, administrative controls and personal
protective equipment in turn. In daily operations, we
advocate mutual supervision among employees to
identify and deal with safety hazards in a timely manner
to ensure the work safety of the Company and the
health of employees. All of these steps could enable
employees to perform at their best in a safe, healthy, and

comfortable working environment. ‘
BIFEZERERAR %2022 49
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To make sure that all employees hold relevant
professional certificates to work safely, including
operation qualification certificate,
qualification certificate, and certificate for special
operations, we organise fire safety training sessions for

professional

security guards, controllers, and security administrators
in accordance with the provisions of the Occupational
Health and Safety Management Manual and the
Employee Code of Conduct. The training content covers
importance of work safety, on-site safety education,
fire safety, national policies and guidelines on work
safety, situation and accident education, and casualty
accident and emergency services. Besides, we conduct
regular safety inspections to comprehensively prevent
potential safety hazards, formulate and implement
corrective action plans, and make continued headway
in risk prevention. During the Reporting Period, the
Group arranged employees to attend the training course
on the Rules on the Management of the Work Safety
Responsibility System, which covered many aspects of
content such as the assignment of safety responsibilities
to individuals,
and daily training of the management office,
inspection, and accident prevention.

improvement of relevant safety systems
safety

During the Reporting Period, a total of 15 work-related
injuries occurred in the Group, with a total of 1,457 lost
working days, and one work-related fatality took place
due to the staff’s personal health problem, representing
a ratio of 0.02%* We have established the HRBP
Guideline on Social Insurance and Work-related Injury
Reporting to standardise the reporting procedures for
compensation. After these accidents occurred, the
management dealt with them in accordance with the
established processes and relevant laws and regulations
in a timely manner. During the Reporting Period, we
were not aware of any major violations of laws and
regulations on occupational safety.

4 The formula for calculating the ratio of work-related fatalities:
the number of work-related fatalities/the number of workforce
x 100%. In 2021, the number of work-related fatalities was
3, representing a ratio of 0.06%; and in 2020, the number of
work-related fatalities was 2, with a fatality rate of 0.05%.
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Training and Development

Employees are the most valuable asset of the Group.
Therefore, we keep improving our training system and
learning & exchange platform to motivate employees
to improve their overall quality and grow well. We
also provide fair promotion opportunities for our staff
to create an equal, positive, and inspiring working
environment.

To help employees hone their business skills and tap
their potential, we have formulated and implemented
the Training Management Measures (HR-013) according
to how we operate and what our employees need
to standardise training management, and specify
requirements and content of different training sessions,
ensuring that employees are competent enough to
do their jobs. The Annual Training Plan is developed
to ensure the smooth implementation of training.
We provide suitable training for different employees
according to their actual needs, and offer diversified
types of training, including induction training, in-service
training, and qualification training.

- HERERERE

1% 3 BE 2% R
ETRASEZREZEENUE ARAE
THZEEINEBRMNBBRIRFE  HAEE
IT%&mE%ﬁAAE‘ﬁKWE°ﬁW
NRETIRHBEREHATNEAHRE
EFEBEE - AENTERE -

BIRABTESEE W HWERL A - M
KELEERBETIHRZS FE I HMITCHR-0131F
EREWE) REFNERIIE WFEMA
R AEBINNERMNBTIANES - BRE
B B EIIE - B 6 ECEE
TEDUBRBITIENIENRRF - KR
BEIFR #HETRABIHEREREED
FAR  LRHZEANEI - 28 AR
B3l - EEIE I R REFE I = EEF o

| I Induction training
- AR

e Training for new employees or
in-service employees after their
transfer to a new position to
meet and adapt to the
requirements of their position
must be completed within the
specified time limit. The
completion of induction
training will also become an
important criterion for
deciding whether new
employees could pass their
probation period.

BT ABSERS TiEm
% - BT m e AE e A Bk
M TRABRE R RS - B
FRER R AR ARSI - A
BT HIe B Rt e A E
TREHEFNEBKE

In-service training
R

® Relevant training courses
planned for employees to
improve their vocational
competence, work skills, and
professional abilities during
their employment.

. EIEH‘%&E@F&Z%TTE%EH&%%
=& - TIERE XM AR
SEITEVERI RIS

Qualification training
R

® Relevant training courses with

certificates issued by the
national authorities and their
dispatching agencies or by the
industry organisations on the
national, provincial, or
municipal level that the
employees attend during their
employment in order to meet
the requirements for profes-
sional qualifications as
stipulated by national and local
policies (or enable employees
to complete specific tasks).
These training courses are
divided into three types, that
is, qualification certification,
technical grading certification,
and continuing education
re-certification.
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ZK (SRfFEE I TKFIEE
%) 2 e AEBEEME R
IR R AR - B T
z&LAtTTﬁiﬂ%ﬁggénx = El']*ﬁ
e

BT ERREMBEHNE
Tﬁng—r $H o

LR BEIERBERAR F3R 2022




!
|
1
¥
¥

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HERERWRE

At the same time, we have formulated the Internal
Personnel Training and Development Management
Measures (HR-014). Through the internal personnel
identification and development, we aim to train talents
of different levels aligned with our corporate culture
in a strategic, elite, and professional way to provide
strategic human resources for the Group’s business
development. The personnel development committee
has been established, responsible for controlling and
reviewing the elite talent training and development
strategies. Meanwhile, the working group for personnel
development has been set up as the executive arm of
the personnel development committee to implement
personnel plans. Furthermore, a mechanism has been put
in place to evaluate the promotion of employees.

Executive
directors
PITER
Deputy general
managers and
assistant general managers
BIABAEIE - BIRARISIR

Deputy directors/assistant directors and project managers
MEEBNIR - TH B K88

Department managers/supervisors and
EBPIAEE X 2

Career development path for elite personnel

[RREAL] BERRBE
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®  Core personnel

& ZOAA

® Key personnel

o FBERAS

®  Major personnel

o EIIASA

®  Back-up personnel
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2022
20225
Number of

Statistics on employees Average training
employee training trained Percentages hours (hour)s

Fi9 23
IS RPN Bo S BB (/B 6

P

By employee category

REIERES
Senior management 10 0.14% 10
aRERAE
Technicians 215 2.96% 5
RiTABR
Ordinary employees 7,040 96.90% 46
LTEBE
By gender
"B &l 5
Male 3,122 42.97% 40
St
Female 4,143 57.03% 50
pegli
5 The percentage of employees trained for each category is 5 ERAMNEINTINEDEAELARN A REHRK
calculated as: Number of employees trained in the category ZERNEINSIAE HEREHMZERET
during the Reporting Period/number of employees in the Tl AE x100% °
category for the Reporting Period x 100%.
6 Average training hours completed for each employee category 6 SHENEINIIFEAIINEE  ZENEIY
= total training hours completed by employees in the category/ EEHIES S ZERNE T AR -

number of employees in the category
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RIR - HERERBE

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT,
GUARDING OUR HOME

Environmental Management

As a property management company, the Group has an
impact on the environment, which is mainly reflected in
the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated in the
use of energy and water resources, as well as the waste
generated in the operation process. We are keenly aware
of the importance of environmental protection. For the
sustainable development of ourselves and the community,
we have always adhered to the tenet of “Caring for the
Earth and Protecting the Environment”, closely monitor
the development trend of environmental protection in
the industry, and conduct environmental protection
practices to build a beautiful China together with the
community. We strictly comply with laws and regulations
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste, and minimisation of significant impacts
on the environment and natural resources, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of the PRC,
the Law on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Wastes of the PRC, the Energy
Conservation Law of the PRC, the Regulation on Property
Management, and the Regulations on the Administration
of Pollutant Discharge Permits. Our environmental
management system has obtained the certification of the
ISO 14001 Environmental Management System to ensure
that our business activities have minimal impact on the
environment.

54 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Meanwhile, we have also established management B IFEKRBR LA ZRZEZRHECGRREAEZE
documents such as the Environmental Factors BERF)EEEHE  UHRFMIFIEBELER
Management Procedures in accordance with the above- i@%ﬁlﬁ%ﬂ KEEIREE T MITHI A5
mentioned laws and regulations to identify and evaluate jfi il & £ /IR iﬁl% BMEEEZRERZ
the environmental factors that can be controlled and  LAE hNAE#I I AHIEIRIB H & - RIBEE
influenced in the Group's property services and operation ~ Fl¥51Z $2 #f fK I% -

activities, to select material environmental factors for

control and to provide a basis for the formulation of

environmental policies, targets, and indicators.

Environmental Factors Management Procedures

RERZEERF

Outline of procedures Relevant documents/forms

ke ES X R

Identification of environmental factors Environmental Factors Identification and

IRIBAEAZEHER Evaluation Form
CGREAZFAZNFAEBR)

Evaluation of environmental factors

e List of Significant

Environmental Factors

(BEERERERBFE)

Management of significant
environmental factors

BERBAZEE

Surveillance and Measurement
Management Rules, Emergency
Preparedness and Response Procedures,
Confirmation and update of and Target Management Procedures
environmental factors and (EERTNAIZEEIRAATED
significant environmental factors (EEEHENERERRT)
RIERENMBERIRBRAE (BEEERRER)
R EE )

Record requirements

FOER K
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RIR - HERERBE

In addition, in order to reduce the negative impact
of emergencies on the environment, the Group has
formulated a series of emergency response plans,
including the Contingency Plans for Environmental
Pollution, the Contingency Plans for Leakage of
Hazardous Chemicals, the Contingency Plans for
Leakage of Toxic Gas, and the Emergency Preparedness
and Response Procedures, while setting up a relevant
emergency response team, clarifying the emergency
handling procedures, and minimising the impact of its
operations and services on the environment. At the same
time, we are active in carrying out green projects. In the
Bund 12 building project, the DBM system was applied
to monitor electricity consumption, ambient temperature
and humidity, PM2.5 concentration, and foot traffic
in the building through an intelligent environmental
information platform in a real-time manner, so as
to achieve the purposes of energy conservation and
environmental protection.

In response to the Notice Concerning the Implementation
Opinions on Accelerating the Upgrade and Renovation of
Small and Medium-sized Boilers in the Municipality issued
by the General Office of the Shanghai Municipal People’s
Government on 27 December 2018, we conducted
investigations on properties involving the use of boilers
under the management of the Company according
to requirements, promoted relevant upgrade and
renovation, and conducted environmental assessment
after completion of renovation, in order to ensure the
equipment’s satisfaction of emission requirements and
reduce exhaust gas emissions from such equipment.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
major violations of environmental laws and regulations.

56
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Resources and Energy Management

The main resources used in the operations of the Group
include water, electricity, unleaded gasoline, and paper’.
To ensure the efficient use of these resources, we have
formulated and implemented different policies and
procedures, including the Energy Consumption Reduction
Management Rules and the Energy Consumption Meter
Reading Procedures, to reduce carbon emissions and
operating costs. These documents detail various aspects
of energy conservation efforts to improve the
management and control of resources including energy
consumed. By implementing these measures, the Group
could use resources including energy more efficiently by
reducing waste and depletion. In terms of water
resources management, the water used by the Group
comes from the municipal network, so there are no
issues in sourcing water. The wastewater generated
during the office process is preliminarily treated by the
sewage treatment facilities of the property management
firm of a building and then discharged into the municipal
sewage pipeline. This move not only helps to reduce
water pollution, but also protects local water resources.
In addition to water resource management, we have also
taken a number of measures to reduce energy
consumption and carbon emissions. For example, we
advocate green travel among our staff and encourage
them to use eco-friendly means of travelling such as
public transport means or cycling, thus reducing their
reliance on private cars.

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing the
implementation of environment-related targets. During
the Reporting Period, we adopted the following measures
to improve the efficiency of energy and water use and
reduce waste, exhaust and GHG emissions from energy
consumption, a prerequisite for achieving the goal of
energy conservation and emission reduction:

7 As their business is property management, the Company
and Hongxin did not use any packaging materials during the
Reporting Period.
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Actions adopted in the Reporting Period Status

#5017 B -

Enhance energy Cleaning the air conditioning air return filter quarterly to increase the Ongoing

use efficiency air volume as much as possible FEET
RE8ER s BEEBAFEALRABRHE JFARKESAE Gy
M= e Carefully calculating the monthly maximum demand value of

electricity to enable the monthly electricity consumption to be less
than the maximum demand value reported to the power supply

bureau
e RBULAESAREZATEHE FHAREE/)RELEBRHEER
M AHEEHE

o Standardising the upper and lower limits of temperature adjustment
for exhibition halls

e HRERBAEASMLTR

o Monitoring the optimal setup of energy facilities

o ERgREMENXEREBR

o Setting escalators at idle mode

e BEYEBREEFERA

e Turning off the air-conditioning and lighting left on by office workers

o KRB AAEBTEZEAEMRHA

e Turning off other lights in public areas except for the normal lights

o R DK IR T AHE SN E b FREA

o Employees in the equipment room should turn off the lights when
they leave the room

s XERBEBHUEMIIABEEE BFERE

o Switching off electric equipment immediately after use to avoid
idling

. ERECATEERFTLNEN BelRTE

o The cooling temperature of air conditioning in the building shall not
be lower than 26T, and the heating temperature shall not be higher
than 22

o RBRAZEFHBLIIEHITEN26T  BEIEH T ERN22T

o Prioritising energy-saving and eco-friendly equipment when
purchasing new equipment

e REBVRER BLEZRHERERERE
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Improve water
use efficiency
R=AHRAK

M

RIR - HERERBRE

Actions adopted in the Reporting Period Status

#5300 1T B -

o Strengthening water consumption management: Measures were Ongoing
introduced to use water in a science-based and rational manner and & # 17
promote water conservation, which included conducting inspection &
and maintenance of water-using facilities, strictly controlling the
leakage rate of the pipe network, and using water-saving appliances.

e MERAKER:EBERKRENE  B#EFREEIE  RBEH
ERREX ERMKUERAEE RaZ2EBAKKE - &
HEEAIAIK o

o Redoubling water conservation publicity: The water conservation
awareness-raising activities were carried out within the Group, so
that all employees from different departments could realise the
importance of water conservation and save water consciously.

o MAHKEB:EAEBRNILMABBORKESR  BRBET —(E
B B EEIHMRBIDOAKNEEY  EFHKKAS
BANBETA -

Reduce air
pollutants and
GHG emissions
WO KR
BRYKR
BERE

B

o Encouraging the use of public transport and walking Ongoing
s FBFERAAHARBHITRIIT FEET
o Reducing the use of fuel vehicles H

e BAMMEMFAARE

o Replacing fuel vehicles with new-energy vehicles

e MHMBEREEARMME

Reduce waste
generation
WA REE

0 BE B

o Setting printing permissions, using electronic documents, verifying Ongoing
document accuracy before printing to avoid printing waste, and BHEET
using double-sided printing as much as possible H

e RETHHER G EREFXMH - ITH AR XM E LB 2T
ERE - FRrle(E AEmITEH

o Recycling waste paper

s FEHRBNA

. Office waste such as ink cartridges, lamps, and batteries shall be
collected by administrative staff

e R RBE BHAZRAEEVL —XHBTHRAEZHDOK

o Non-hazardous waste generated went down from 1.36 tonnes per
person in 2021 to 1.05 tonnes in 2022.

o ANHEEEEVELSH2021FE1.36M ARKE2022F£Z1.05
WE /A o
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Case: Launch the “Day for the Preservation of the Ozone Layer” campaign
RO BRIREREEBRIED

Al

The Group launched the “Day for the Preservation of the Ozone Layer” campaign on 16 September 2022
in response to the International Day for the Preservation of the Ozone Layer.

2022F9FA16HRE R REER  ABBREEZLSH ALEREMREREERIES -
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The following table shows the Group’s environmental W TERTAEBERBREHAEBERFE R
performance in respect of resources consumption and K HE B ¥ H) 3R 35 48 ik -
emissions during the Reporting Periods:

Resources consumption

ERERE

Direct energy consumption®

BEEgRHER

Unit
B

Gasoline consumption MWh 1,266.7 1,115.83
e A Jo FLES

Gasoline consumption intensity MWh/vehicle’ 24.36 26.56
AR E B KR, B

Diesel consumption MWh 13,070.55 /
KBAE Jk U B

Diesel consumption intensity MWh/vehicle 66.01 /
SO FOm T 2 K E K, HE R

Direct energy consumption MWh 14,337.25 1,115.83
EEREREERE JK ¥

Direct energy consumption intensity MWh/vehicle 57.35 26.56
EEREREEATE K F B, B

Indirect energy consumption

& 3% BE J5UOH ¥

Electricity consumption MWh 122.16 118.15
MHES Ik B

Electricity consumption intensity MWh/sg.m.1° 0.05 0.05
RERE KRBT K0

8 The statistical scope of data during the Reporting Period 8
remained consistent with that in 2021, which covered the
Company’s Shanghai head office and Hongxin. Due to the

BREHANBRE R BEE202NFERET B - 5
ARHEARRAMRNLEENEERAE
TEHRKRERR  BARKEN202245 F 3 E 5

BhR

improvement of data collection system, the Group added
the disclosure of data on diesel consumption in 2022. Since
the energy consumption of new energy vehicles couldn’t be
calculated, the data of such vehicles weren’'t included in the
scope of disclosure. The Company would continuously strengthen
and improve the data collection system to expand the statistical
scope of data.

HAENBENRE REEZRAEDERRHE
RE HNETKEDERBREcERBE®RER -
ARAARHEBNATZANKERE - UiE
RBERHE -

9 The Shanghai headquarters of the Company and Hongxin have 9 ARB LBBERRNERIARAE A2 THE
52 gasoline vehicles and 98 diesel vehicles. B N 988R SE M B & o
10 The office area of the Shanghai headquarters of the Company 10 20224 [& 20214 £ AN A & £ /& &5 9 2 = K 5

and Hongxin was 2,262.73 sq.m. in 2022 and 2021.

fR¥% AT TE52,262.73F K »

|
!
1

W
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Resources consumption

BERERE

Unit
B

Other resource consumption

H ftb & 5K 3%

Water consumption Tonne 1,381.00 1,359.00
FKE A
Water consumption intensity Tonne/sq.m. 0.61 0.60
FKER Mg 75 oK
Paper usage Kg 650.00 660.00
/NS R iy T
Paper usage intensity Kg/person™ 6.57 6.95
i Fr/AM

GHG emissions
BERBHERE

Unit
By

Direct emissions (Scope 1)'2: Emissions from

vehicles tCO,e 3,622.45 3,325.87
EEHER(EE )2 AEHEKRE WS REE
Indirect emissions (Scope 2)3: Emissions

from electricity consumption tonnes CO, 69.67 68.64
MEFR(EED) - ENERAERE e — |1k Bk
Total GHG emissions tCO,e 3,692.12 3,394.51
BREREBHNE WE— et E S
Total GHG emission intensity tCO,e/person 37.29 35.73
BRERBHERRE WMo—EtiREE A

1" The Company’s Shanghai head office and Hongxin had a total of 1 202FEARRNB EBBABPRAERIRIELHFIZ

99 employees in 2022. The Company's Shanghai head office and
Hongxin had a total of 95 employees in 2021.

12 The GHG emissions (Scope 1) are calculated with reference to 12
the Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas
Emissions from Land Transportation Enterprises (Trial) published
by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC. Since
there are no coefficients of China VI emission standard for
gasoline and diesel vehicles, those of China VI emission standard
are still used in this Report.

BI2001FEARA LERBHRAE
BISEETL -
BERB(EEOHFRBEBENFAEFE2EhE
ARAMBAERREPEH(E LR BES
¥ARERBHERZES FERSEREHTD -
mAEMRERB SRR BREANERR
AH2ER RS EBESE -

5 R $E

13 The calculation of GHG emissions from electricity use in 2022 13

adopted the average emission factor of 0.5703t CO,/MWh for
the national power grid in 2022 as stated in the Notice on the
Management of Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the
Power Generation Industry for 2023-2025 issued by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of the PRC. The calculation of GHG
emissions from electricity use in 2021 adopted the national
grid average emission factors in the Guide for Accounting and
Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Enterprises —
Power Generation Facilities (2021 revised edition) issued by the
Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.
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Emissions of air pollutants from vehicles

ERERTRYHERE

Unit
B

Carbon monoxide (CO) emissions Kg 8,709.30 7,013.73
— AL IR(CO)BER 2 FTr
Nitrogen oxide (NOy) emissions Kg 15,602.60 13,896.55
RALWMINOYBE E T
Sulfur oxide (SO,) emissions Kg 22.81 19.44
MAlt®mGO M 2 T
Particulate matter (PM, ) emissions Kg 211.08 208.48
FERLY) (PM, ) BEFL & T
Particulate matter (PM,,) emissions Kg 234.21 231.31
FEHRLY) (PM, o) BEPL & T

14 The emissions of air pollutants are calculated with reference to 14 ARSAW AL RBIBENHEF 2 EghE

the Technical Guide for Air Pollutant Emission Inventory for Road ARXMBEERESEHNCERBRHSLR
Vehicles (Trial) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment EHBEERHRMERET)) - BERFEHRALX
of the PRC. Since the national standard for diesel fuel with sulfur HMEZNEMEI0mg/Kg AFE—sTEOK . &
content of 10mg/Kg was adopted in 2022, the sulfur oxide FEF2021FEHR At (SO) e E -

(SO,) emissions for 2021 were corrected in order to unify the
calculation standard.
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Waste Management

As stipulated by the Regulations on the Administration
of Domestic Waste of Shanghai Municipality, domestic
waste shall be classified into recyclables, hazardous
waste, wet waste and dry waste. The Group disposes
of office domestic waste and production waste in strict
accordance with the regulations. The non-hazardous
wastes generated by the Group include office domestic
wastes and production wastes, that is, waste materials,
waste equipment components, and waste building
materials generated during the processes of service,
maintenance, construction and storage. The Group
has laid down the Waste Collection and Treatment
Procedures in accordance with the Law on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes
of the PRC, the National Catalogue of Hazardous Wastes,
and the Measures for the Prevention and Control of
Pollution by Hazardous Wastes of Shanghai Municipality,
to provide guidance for the collection and transportation
of domestic waste at designated points. The Procedures
stipulates that the person in charge of the management
office will supervise, inspect, and manage the
implementation of the internal document, the persons in
charge of cleaning will implement and inspect the waste
collection and disposal procedures, and special cleaning
staff members will implement the waste collection and
disposal procedures. Meanwhile, we have developed
a detailed workflow to regulate the disposal of waste,
which covers various processes from the preparation
to the collection and disposal of waste to the finishing
work after operations, with specific descriptions and
requirements.
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Our waste storage points are designed in accordance
with waste sorting requirements, with various types
of waste containers and guidance posters to facilitate
uniform collection and segregation of office domestic
waste by our staff. The production waste is centralised,
classified, identified and managed by the engineering
personnel, and placed in the designated waste collection
area with the compatibility of wastes taken into account.
To ensure safety, a local environmental sanitation
management bureau is entrusted to uniformly dispose of
non-hazardous waste, and fire-fighting equipment and
visible safety signs are placed near the collection area. If
necessary, such measures as erecting indoor fences will
be adopted to prevent waste from spreading and leaking.
Meanwhile, Shanghai Pujiang Property Company Limited
sees its waste sorting service accredited with eight stars
by GB/T 19095-2019/GHSC011-2020 Domestic Waste
Separation Service system.

The Group attaches great importance to the disposal of
hazardous waste and has adopted a series of measures
to ensure the safe storage and centralised disposal
of hazardous waste. The hazardous wastes produced
by the Group include waste toner cartridges and ink
cartridges generated in office activities as well as waste
lamps and oil-containing fabrics generated in property
service activities, which are all centrally stacked in
temporary storage points with relevant signs. When
the wastes reach a certain amount, they will be handed
over to a qualified unit for centralised disposal. The
hazardous wastes generated in outsourcing activities
shall be brought back by the outsourcing party and
handed over to a professional unit for disposal. We have
signed a letter of commitment on environmental and
occupational health and safety management with the
waste disposal unit, and the contract sets out terms on
disposal of hazardous wastes and related matters. We
will continuously monitor the work of the waste disposal
unit to ensure that all hazardous wastes are disposed of
in accordance with the requirements of relevant national
and local laws/regulations, while safeguarding the
health and safety of our staff members and surrounding
residents.

RIR - HERERBRE

B B R T R R IR R 0 BB R KRG
B RESBLUPHFRE R LR THES
BH - ATREIR - WERBERBELQ
gENE AR HPANIRAEGEHR —&
hooE BRENEBLEENR WEZR
BEERMBBGBFENRET - B EERRIE
EMEHDKER STREZE  RMAR
EWREHEEEMUBESEEYETR —
Ba 3R o 3 £ O Wl B AT BC 65 T 0K B 28 41 A AR
BOZ2EE - WMRLE  HMAESHRINR
RENE MR EEE - A IEEED G BRAZ
we RFEBHIVMEAERARMNIER DA
R 7% 15 %) 7 GB/T 19095-2019/GHSC011-2020
ERNFEDBRBREN/N\ERA -

AEBSEEREEREEYNERIE I
ERT—RINEEBEREEREDNLT 2R
FMEFRE -KRMAEENEEEENE
ERAEFHTIFNEERZINRE  MERE
EEHFHNEERE  SHBYES ELEE
MBSKBEREOIZRE B —FHRARE
EEHY S TEABXHEHRBERLD
RIEBEMETEFRE - HRINBEBFRE
ENEEBREY  BMESINBTBES—
BE -  TRXHBXEBEMNETEE - RMERE
BENEI TRRENBERR L2 EEAS
2 UWEARPIHAERINEHTEEEERE
ZYRBBREENOE RMBEFEEER
BEMNIEBL BRIIEEEEEYN
REMAEERMM T ABEEERNELX
ARtREEINEAEERMNRENLZ S -

ETPRIERARAE 482022 65

i
1
¥

&




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERBE

The property management office checks whether each
type of waste is stored subject to requirements on a
monthly basis, and requires correction of violations
and timely improvements to reduce the pollution
of waste to the ecological environment. With great
importance attached to environmental management,
we have clearly set out the relevant environmental
management procedures in the Environmental Factors
Management Procedures. Each functional department
and management office of the Group should first identify
the environmental factors related to their own working
environment and fill in the Environmental Factors
Identification and Evaluation Form, and then prepare
the List of Significant Environmental Factors based on
the completed environmental factors evaluation results
report it to a relevant department and get approval
from superior leaders, including waste disposal. We will
continuously manage the waste generated by ourselves
in accordance with relevant procedures, and expect
to achieve the goal of further increasing the recycling
rate and reducing waste in the future. By continuously
improving our environmental management procedures
and raising the environmental awareness of our staff,
we will make a greater contribution to ecological
conservation.
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The following table shows the environmental UTAAEERFEHFRNEBEZYIENRD

performance data of the Group in relation to waste

discharge during the Reporting Period:

Solid waste generation

EREERNELE

Non-hazardous waste

Unit
B

RIRGEWEIE

BEBERY

Waste paper generation Tonne 0.26 0.24

BEEARELES Mg

Office waste generation Tonne 103.4 128.6

MAENRELESE Mg

Total non-hazardous waste generation Tonne 103.66 128.84
BEBERVELRE U7

Non-hazardous waste generation intensity Tonne/person 1.05 1.36
BEBRRVWELATE LEPON

Hazardous waste

BEEERY

Waste ink cartridge generation Piece 37 33

BREEIELS 1@

Waste ink cartridge generation intensity Piece/person 0.37 0.35

BERIELTE (PN

Waste fluorescent tube generation Tube 13 11
BEXABEELE X

Waste fluorescent tube generation intensity Tube/person 0.13 0.12
BEEEABEELEE X /AN

Waste battery generation Piece 39 50
FEMELES 12

Waste battery generation intensity Piece/person 0.39 0.53
EEMELARE &/ A
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Climate Change

In the face of frequent extreme weather events around
the world, governments have set targets and action
plans to reduce the impact of climate change on the
environment. To sustain its business development in the
long term, the Group has started to deal with climate
risks in the hopes of identifying and managing the
opportunities and risks associated with climate change.
Climate change may increase the frequency of extreme
weather events, and may also cause serious natural
disasters, including rainstorms and typhoons, which can
cause floods and physical damage to properties, and may
even endanger the safety of customers and employees.
As a property management company, the Group has
formulated the Emergency Response Plan against
Typhoons and Floods, which set outs the emergency
measures to be taken by the management and different
departments in the event of typhoons and rainstorms,
including safety inspection of facilities and evacuation of
people in case of emergency, with a view to ensuring the
safety of customers and employees.

The Board and management of the Group have
recognised the significant impact of climate change on
enterprises and society, thus getting actively involved in
climate change management. The Group has formulated
and implemented a series of measures to address climate
change, such as reducing GHG emissions,
resource use efficiency, developing a low-carbon
economy, and promoting renewable energy sources.

improving

All of these steps are closely monitored and supported
by the Board and management. While identifying
GHG emission and climate change-related risks and
formulating policies on them, we also focus on issuing
early warnings about and responding to meteorological
disasters. Whenever the meteorological authorities issue
warnings for typhoons and tidal floods, the management
will convene a meeting in a timely manner to formulate
appropriate contingency plans for disaster preparedness
and to oversee and guide the relevant departments and
employees in their flood prevention and rescue efforts.
Meanwhile, we also send members of the Board and
management to project sites to commiserate with the
affected staff and coordinate with all parties to cope
with the disaster.
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We are convinced that climate change and disaster risks
can only be effectively managed and addressed through
full participation and close cooperation. We will therefore
continue to strengthen our internal management
and external cooperation to manage the risks and
opportunities presented by climate change.

CONTRIBUTING TO THE COMMUNITY,
SHARING THE LOVE

As a leading property management company in China,
the Group, always aware of its social responsibility,
upholds the concept of giving back to the community
and keeps creating more value for the community with
its strengths and resources. We have made significant
contributions to the development of local communities
by carrying out projects with various types of local
enterprises in different industries. In addition, we also
actively support community public welfare. For instance,
we donate supplies and funds to local charities and
organise volunteer services, to better give back to the
community and promote community development.

During the Reporting Period, we participated in the
activities of the “Huaihai Sub-district” security volunteer
alliance to strengthen the safety management and risk
prevention in key shopping areas, destinations, and
buildings under the jurisdiction of Huaihai Middle Road
Sub-district, to detect, report and deal with emergencies
that endanger people’s lives and property in a timely
manner, thus helping create a safe, effective, stable, and
harmonious social environment.

RIR - HERERBRE
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Security volunteers patrolling the streets
T L FEE KE

In addition, March 2022 was the month of learning Utt4h * 2022F38H AR M EEEEFTHA -
the spirit of Lei Feng. The Group organised a team of AEBEMAHBR Y EHEEKML BIFELEE
volunteers to fulfil duties at the Pudong Airport Station ZiFIFE M FHEMEBZ N —FEEOMA L
of Shanghai Maglev Train Line. They provided voluntary HEMFESHENRE  AXAFRTRESR
services such as fare and schedule enquiries, giving (B XM - BEES - TEZEWMESETER
directions, and luggage handling for passengers, while 7§ T {E o

ensuring their own health and safety.

Volunteer service activity at the Pudong Airport Makeshift hospital support staff

Station of Shanghai Maglev SRR E A BEE T
E?'%/%/ﬁ%%%i% ﬁéﬂﬁf&/ﬁiﬂ

Due to the recurring and severe pandemic outbreaks HRMEHAN - TEREBEEB ALK E B
during the Reporting Period, we were actively involved in 2022948 » M E R K & & | B 25 T 4
the COVID-19 response in April 2022, by joining therank Z2EHBEZREEFL(LEF) TR ERREASR
of support staff for the makeshift hospital at National 1k -

Exhibition and Convention Centre (Shanghai).

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated FR&EHA  AEEBEHIBE21558TAREA
RMB215,500 for charitable activities and community REZEH LT EER  TRE/EEEM L
building and attended voluntary activities that totalled  310/)\BF o

310 hours.
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INDEX OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF THE BIXA(RE HERERBERESD
STOCK EXCHANGE AR

Section(s) in
this Report

rHRER
FHER

Required to be disclosed

BERE
Governance The statement issued by the Board presents the following content: SUSTAINABILITY
structure (i) disclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG matters; MANAGEMENT
(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process for
assessing, prioritising and managing significant ESG-related matters (risks to
the issuer’s business); and
(i) how the Board reviews the progress against ESG-related targets and explains
how they relate to the issuer’s business.
ERRE MEFSRLNER EHHETIARS: AREER
() BREEFGURE HERERFENEE: a@
(i) EFENRR HERELIEBHIHRER  FETH BREIKRER
BEMNRE HeRERMBFEEEHETAEBNRR)NBRE K
(i) EFSMMERE HERERAEBESRIEE  THEEBCMMMERE
TARBERE -
Reporting Describe or explain how the following reporting principles have been applied in the  ABOUT THIS
Principles preparation of the ESG Report: REPORT:

Materiality: The ESG Report should disclose: (i) the process for identifying material ~ Reporting
ESG factors and the criteria on which such factors are chosen; (ii) where the issuer  Principles
has undertaken stakeholder engagement, a description of the key stakeholders

identified and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement

Quantitative: Information on the criteria, methods, assumptions and/or calculation

tools used for reporting emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) as well as

the sources of conversion factors used should be disclosed

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG Report changes in statistical

methods or KPIs, if any, or any other relevant factors that affect meaningful
comparisons

Balance: The ESG report should provide an unbiased picture of the issue’s
performance. The report should avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats

that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgement by the report reader

E 4% R A WIS BERBERSE HERELRSHNMERTIERRA: BRAEE —
EEM RE HEREABEEREE ()VAMNEERE HEREREZNAE EHRA

BREBELRZMNER (MBETACETRNEZ2R CRENNBEERONE
MR ETARNESENBERER

Bl FRERKNRE RREBWMBER MANEE 7% BRIAR/LFE
TAWEHR URFEANBERARZOIRETRE
—BMIBTARERSE HERERRSTHERA T ENBERERERNE
FWAREFNEAYEREELBNABAER

TPl RE HEREABRERETRIALERETANRR  B@2AEED
REBTERSEERRRAGHOERE  BRAZHBHEA
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Section(s) in

this Report
FHEER
FRED
Reporting Explain the scope of reporting in the ESG Report and describe the process for  ABOUT THIS
Scope selecting which entities or operations to include in the ESG Report. If the scope of REPORT: Scope
reporting has changed, the issuer should explain the differences and the reasons for  of the Report
such changes.
E®REDE MERR HERERBENERTE RHELKEPLERAXZBEM/ARE . BRARE —
HERERRGENER FERBEAMNE BTARBREINAZREREY REHE

RA -

Environment aspect

REHRE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: HEhy
General Information relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and ~ Environmental
disclosure land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste: Management,
(@) the policies; and Waste
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Management
on the issuer.
-REE FRBERRRERBHER MARLHOEST EERESEEVNELSH: REERE EBE
@ BE:Rk e 12
(b) BFUBTABEAZENHEBEIERAGNER -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Resources
and Energy
Management
KPI A1.1 R REREBHENEUE - EReERER
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions and intensity. Waste
Management
KPI A1.2 ER@EEDRERAE(BEDRERBEFHERTE - BEENER
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. Waste
Management
KPI A1.3 MELRERENRERTE - BEERYER
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. Waste
Management
KPI A1.4 FMELEERENEENREER BEERYER
KPI A1.5 Description of the emission target(s) and steps taken to achieve them. Resources
and Energy
Management
KPI A1.5 WAV EERRREINELEEMERNLSR ERGERER
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a Waste
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Management
KPI A1.6 HAEBAEERETEZEVNAE RERMIVNRAEEERAEINELE BEEVER
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2:ERER

General
disclosure

-REE
KPI A2.1

KPI A2.1
KPI A2.2

KPI A2.2
KPI A2.3

KPI A2.3
KPI A2.4

KPI A2.4

KPI A2.5

KPI A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BERERER(BREER KREMEME)OBR

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.

RENISNEERIBELERERERTE -
Water consumption in total and intensity.

BEKEBREE -
Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

WAV RERARNZARRREINELERMRROTRE -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

HMASKRERKR LA AEAMBE ARMATZHORKBEAARRABEDEL
BEEMERETE -

Total packaging material used for finished products and, with reference to per unit
produced.

AEmATABEERMHNBEERBLEESEUGE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEHA3:BRERAARER

General
disclosure
—-REE
KPI A3.1

KPI A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and natural
resources.

BEZTAERERRAARERENEAZENBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the action taken to manage them.

HEERBEHHRERRARERNEAZERCRKRNEERFHATENTH -

A4 Climate Change

AARIRE 1

General
disclosure
—-REE
KPI A4.1

KPI A4.1

Policies on significant climate-related matters that impact the issuer.

HETAEEZENEARKREBESEENEE -
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HANR R SHETAEEY ENEARRERSE  REHTE -

Section(s) in
this Report

AHRER
FHER

Resources

and Energy
Management
BReERE R
Resources

and Energy
Management
BReERE R
Resources

and Energy
Management
BReERE R
Resources

and Energy
Management
BReERE R
Resources

and Energy
Management
BReERE R

Not applicable
to the Group's
business
HAEBEER
s EA

Environmental
Management
REER
Environmental
Management
REER

Climate Change

TR
Climate Change

e
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Section(s) in
this Report

rHRER
FHER

Social Aspect

HEHR
Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1: ERE
General Information relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, Employment
disclosure working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and Management
other benefits and welfare:
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer.
-REKE FRGME@E BEREA IHESE BRHE TE#S S RESA EEEE
R HoAth 5 48 AR I -
@ BE: Rk
(b) BIFHBTAREARENHBEIZRARINEH -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. Employment
Management
KP1 B1.1 BIER - EEER  FRANRMEE S NETI A - ERER
KPI1 B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment
Management
KPI B1.2 BIER - FRAMNRMREADHETIRA L X - ERER
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
EBEB2: gEHEZZ
General Information relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting Health and
disclosure employees from occupational hazards: Safety
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer.
-REKE FRARMZ2TIERERRBEIR LB ELEEN: RREERS
@ BE Rk
(b) BIFHBETAREARENHBEIZRAINEH -
KP1 B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities that occurred in each of the past three Health and
years. Safety
KPI B2.1 BEZFRITHMAB R E- BREZE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and
Safety
KPI B2.2 AIGEXIXIERH - BREZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are  Health and
implemented and monitored. Safety
KPI B2.3 HAPRANBERREEL2ERE  URBEBRTRERTE - BREZE
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Aspect B3: Development and Training
EMEB3: &R REI

General
disclosure
—-REE
KPI B3.1

KPI B3.1
KPI B3.2

KPI B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.
FRARABIBITIERENMB R RAEMNBER - #RIBFIES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.

BRERRETIEMNAINXIEIADL -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

BRURRETIRERNE D  BREIXKZINFHRE -

Aspect B4: Labour Standard
[EMEB4: % T8

General
disclosure

—-REE

KPI B4.1

KPI B4.1
KPI B4.2

KPI B4.2

Information relating to preventing child and forced labour:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer.

BRAMBLEET koaH4TH:

@ BE: R

(b) BFHEBETABEARENHBZAZRBRONER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced

labour.

il BB NEEAREET RAHIST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HIARRERBAKEREREB LA RRNSRE -

Section(s) in
this Report

AHRER
FRES

Training and
Development
159 R g R
Training and
Development
BRI R
Training and
Development
BRI R

Employment
Management

Employment
Management
EBREEE
Employment
Management

EREE
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
BEBS: EHEERE

General
disclosure
—-REE
KPI B5.1

KPI B5.1
KPI B5.2

KPI B5.2
KPI B5.3
KPI B5.3
KPI B5.4

KPI B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

ERUEANREILERREE
Number of suppliers by region.

RS SN HEEBHAE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where
the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HOAFEHEERHERNED MERTEBENNOHEHHE  UREBHEN D
WITRERFE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HAEBRNEEESEARTNRERLERBRNED  UREERTRER
T e

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HREREREAERESARRERRRBNED - AEBRATRERTE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEB6: EmEE

General
disclosure

-REE

KPI B6.1
KPI B6.1
KPI B6.2
KPI B6.2
KPI B6.3

KPI B6.3
KPI B6.4

KPI B6.4
KPI B6.5

KPI B6.5

Information relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer.

BERAFRUERARENREERRZ 2

@ BE:Rk

(b) BFUBTABEAZENHBEIERAGNER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health

reasons.

PEXCERERABFRL 2 EHEREAMANRNBES L

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt

with.

BE BREMMBEEARBRITEN:

REBRERRRENBEFBEENREH L -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.
Wt EgERRENAEEFHANED

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HilEERTBERERBEKER
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.

WA BBEEHRERABRE UWRBBRTRERENE
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rHRER
FHER

Supply Chain
Management
and Service
Procurement
HEHEEE R
B
Supply Chain
Management
HEEER
Service
Procurement

AR5 £ R8

Service
Procurement

R RE

Supply Chain
Management

HERER

Quality
Management

i
il

i i

Not applicable

i@ A
Customer
Communication
and Service
BEEBBRIR
%

Innovation and
R&D
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Quality
Management
mEER
Quality
Management
mEER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERBRE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EMEB7: RES
General Information relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering:
disclosure (@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer.

-REE ARAMGLEE DR HFERABREMN:
@ BE: Rk
(b) BFHEBETARBEARENHBZRZRBRONER -
KP1 B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
KPI B7.1 REGRBAHETASIHEIRLICELANESHARGENBARFRER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
KPI B7.2 B HEERBERET  ARBARTREERE -
KPI B7.3 Description of the anti-corruption training provided to directors and employees.
KPI B7.3 HimEEREIRHUNREFET -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EMEB8: #tBRE

General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities

disclosure where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

—-REE BRNHEL2HERTHREEMEHESEMBRREEREHCEEHLEMZMEE -
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

KPI B8.1 EXEREE -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to focus areas.

KPI B8.2 EETHREMPHER -

Section(s) in
this Report

AHRER
FHER

Anti-corruption

R&EB

Anti-corruption

k&S
Anti-corruption
k&S
Anti-corruption
k&S

CONTRIBUTING

TO THE
COMMUNITY,
SHARING THE
LOVE

RE
CONTRIBUTING
TO THE
COMMUNITY,
SHARING THE
LOVE
BERftEE DF
RE
CONTRIBUTING
TO THE
COMMUNITY,
SHARING THE
LOVE

ARLE  HF
RE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRERES

NN

Mr. Xiao Xingtao HE B % &£
Chairman E &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Riverine China
Holdings Limited together with its subsidiaries, | would
like to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

ANNUAL REVIEW

The Group continued to press ahead with the operating
strategies in 2022 under the principle of “enhancing the
foundation of property services, optimizing the layout
of urban services, improving the overall service capacity
and promoting the market of science and technology
products” with expected goals achieved.

For property services, the Company continued to improve
its nationwide geographical layout, enrich the product mix
of property services, improve service quality and customer
experience, as well as expand the size of its core business
and improve its professional service capacity.
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In the field of urban services, the Group achieved the
steady growth with business in existed geographic
areas and progressively seeking for market chances
in new areas. Meanwhile, the Company is proactively
promoting the development of comprehensive urban
service business integrating property, sanitary, public
parking operation and intelligent building, laying a
solid foundation for building the Company into a
comprehensive provider of urban sanitary services.

For science and technology services, while enhancing
investments, the Company applied and optimized the
information technology system for building services
based on the Internet of Things and cloud computing
which was profoundly applied in property service projects
with breakthroughs achieved in overseas markets. In the
meantime, we invested resources into the development
and application of information tools for project operation
and maintenance business in property management to
strengthen the building of its core competitiveness.

Meanwhile, the Company continued to carry out
resources preparation and business exploration in asset
management, corporate service and other fields.

The Company had positive performance in the process of
epidemic prevention and control. All the projects under
management have weathered the epidemic steadily
and received praise from the media and owners of
certain projects. The Company has also established an
emergency management mechanism to respond to public
emergencies through the summarization of epidemic
prevention and control.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRERES

Through effective business layout and active cost control,
the Company has maintained stable gross profit margin
while expanding its business scale and maintaining
customer stickiness. With the maturity of information
and technology products, the investment in technological
development will continue to fall; the application
of information and technology products will further
improve corporate efficiency; the sales of information
and technology products will realise contribution of
revenue from information and technology products.
With the better synergy of sanitary business and public
parking operation services with property management
services, together with the growth of leases services of
commercial buildings, the Group is full of confidence in
its future development prospects and profitability.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's total
revenue was approximately RMB917.6 million, representing
an increase of approximately 3.6% from RMB885.5 million
for the previous year. For the year ended 31 December
2022, net profit was approximately RMB24.8 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 53.2% from
RMB53.0 million for the previous year.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.010 per Share for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “2022 Final Dividend”) with
a sum of approximately HK$4.1 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB3.5 million which is subject to
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2023 annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday,
12 June 2023 (the "AGM"). The 2022 Final Dividend, if
approved, will be distributed on or about Tuesday, 18
July 2023 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Monday, 26 June 2023.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to provide quality
property management services as well as value-added
services targeting the commercial interests of customers,
and develop and provide quality sanitary services for
urban management. The Group plans to continuously
grow its business efficiently and strategically through
acquisitions and mergers, investments, joint ventures and
business collaboration. The Group will expand its business
vertically along the industry chain and the supply chain
of the property management industry. In addition, the
Group will strengthen the application of its information
technology system as well as enhance its service quality
for the customers and users of the properties under
its management while launching the marketing of its
information technology system to generate more revenues
for the Group. Last but not least, the Group will promote
the mechanism within the Company’s departments and the
mechanism to coordinate subsidiaries in different regions to
improve its operating efficiency. With the in-depth strength
of the Group in capturing market opportunities, its well-
established brand name in the industry and the strong
growth potential in the property management industry and
sanitary industry, the Directors believe that the Group’s
business will continue to grow thereby further driving the
growth of its market share and profits.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my
gratitude on behalf of the Board to the Shareholders,
business partners, customers and suppliers for their
great support and trust. | would also like to express my
appreciation to the management and all the staff for
their contributions and efforts during the past year.

Xiao Xingtao
Chairman
31 March 2023

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ETRBEE

&2

REKE SEKEERHYETPEHERN
sMEEMXEERBREBERS  BRY
SEMEERHEEENREFLERYE  &HE
AEEERREH  WE BRE AERE
BEEARRERBEUEBAASENER -
EMEERTENEXBEIHRBEPERTER
RAEBEER - 1o - KFEHBILCERAR K
RGNER RARNEENETPRERE
RUEBREORE REZXHEARMRRERD
MGHETIE WREBNHKRE - RIK -
5% 1B 5 36 B) 2 B /Y 5 5 B0 I A0 R [ 38 A
DFABBRES - BARENLEREK -
BREBILETSHENEEE N  REA
BEOMEBE URWEEETE RR
METENRAEREN  EFHEEED
EBRBFEER UME—FSFTHMHNE
RBFER -

B

ANBHRUBERRETS HEURE .
EHBH BEREBEHANZHAEE
FEHE ARNBHERERZBAILS
E—FNEBRSEN -

E

HEE
2023493A31H

EThRERARAE 52022 81




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The urbanization development of the PRC has been
gradually accelerating since 1980s with urbanization
rate increasing from only 19.4% in 1980 to 65.22% in
2022. As compared with the average urbanization rate
of approximately 70% in developed countries, there
are further potential for urbanization development in
the PRC. Improved urbanization has led to an increased
demand for residential and other property projects,
resulting in an increased demand for comprehensive
urban public services including property management
services, sublease services from investment properties
and urban sanitary services.

The fast-growing economy in the PRC has spurred
continuous growth in annual disposable income
per urban capita. According to the National Bureau
of Statistics of China’s preliminary calculation, the
annual disposable income per urban capita increased
from RMB47,412 in 2021 to RMB49,283 in 2022. The
increasing demand for better living conditions is another
reason for the growth of property management industry.

In line with the economic growth and urbanization of
the PRC, there are increasing supply of public facilities
such as museums, arenas and stadiums as well as newly-
constructed urban road areas to cater for the increasing
demand from city dwellers of the PRC. Meanwhile, the
increased urban population is promoting the demand for
refuse treatment both in qualities and quantities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group, through its operating subsidiaries and
investments in associates, provides a wide range of
comprehensive urban public services, including property
management services with valued-added services to a
variety of properties in the PRC, sublease services from
investment properties and urban sanitary services to
various areas.

The properties managed by the Group are mainly located
in Shanghai and expanded to Beijing, Tianjin, Anhui,
Zhejiang, Jiangsu, Shandong, Jiangxi, Fujian, Sichuan,
Henan, Hubei and Hunan provinces. The urban sanitary
services are mainly performed in Fujian and Sichuan
provinces.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Period, the Group through its subsidiaries and
investments in associated companies had entered into
564 property management agreements for the provision
of various kinds of property management services for
the properties in the PRC, representing an increase
of approximately 2.5% as compared to 550 property
management agreements in the same period of 2021.

During the Period, approximately 70.4% of total
revenue was generated from the provision of property
management services, of which approximately 88.9%
was attributable to non-residential properties whereas
the remaining approximately 11.1% was generated from
provision of property management services to residential
properties. Also, approximately 28.8% of the Group’s
total revenue was generated from the provision of urban
sanitary services, and approximately 0.8% of the Group's
total revenue was generated from sublease services from
investment properties.

The Group’s property management services have been
and will continue to be strategically focused on high-
end non-residential properties in the PRC and the
Group’s urban sanitary service is an important part of
the comprehensive urban public services. Meanwhile, the
sublease services from investment properties will be the
Group's important new point of business growth.

BEBNWR D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmRE DM

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues by TER&FZ AT ~EAEIREREEAE H UK
type of services provided for the period indicated. EAA o

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
LB hHBE
&= Bk I &5 AA
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT

Property management services £ & #i| ¥y % & 12

on the lump sum basis Ak %5 644,227 70.2% 612,757 69.2%
Property management services Bl & Il ¥ % & 12

on the fix remuneration AR 75

basis 1,761 0.2% 1,349 0.2%
Urban sanitary service Yk $8 IR 71 AR 7% 264,437 28.8% 270,313 30.5%
Sublease services from KEMEMESEME

investment properties Ak %5 7,145 0.8% 1,120 0.1%
Total B Et 917,570 100% 885,539 100%

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues TFXREINILF RGP EEYWEBRE HKB
from providing property management services by type of IREMEEERB AWM -
managed properties for the period indicated.

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
ECE hBE
iy £ Ba Iz Batk
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT
Commercial establishments & EE4{E 5 K&
office buildings maKRE 432,635 67.0% 410,301 66.8%
Public properties NRYE 118,699 18.4% 126,732 20.6%
Residential properties FEWE 71,773 11.1% 56,517 9.2%
Others H A, 22,881 3.5% 20,556 3.4%
Total HET 645,988 100% 614,106 100%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenues from
providing urban sanitary services by various areas for the
period indicated.

BEBNWR D

NRE R AR HIRE A F R E kA 1R T
PSR IR AT AR A RO W s AR AR o

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12831ALEE
2022 2021
20225 20214

Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
1h 8 Ha%
= Bok & B

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARBET T
Fujian & & 172,453 65.2% 171,229 63.4%
Sichuan /g )l 80,277 30.4% 92,493 34.2%
Others H b 11,707 4.4% 6,591 2.4%
Total 45T 264,437 100% 270,313 100%

HUMAN RESOURCES ADER

The Group employed 5,173 employees and dispatched
staff as of 31 December 2022. The Group also
subcontracted part of the labour intensive work, such
as security, cleaning and gardening services and certain
specialized engineering repairs and maintenance works
to sub-contractors. The employment contracts either
have no fixed terms, or if there are fixed terms, the terms
are generally up to three years, after which the Group
evaluate renewals based on performance appraisals.
All of the full-time employees are paid a fixed salary
and may be granted other allowances, based on their
positions. In addition, discretionary bonuses may also
be awarded to employees based on the employee’s
performance. The Group conduct regular performance
appraisals to ensure that the employees receive feedback
on their performance.

B £2022F12A318 - X & B EAB5173% &
BRNEEETI - AEENTSEHBILHEE
BATE PlInZR - - BEAREERBUARE
FEMIR#BREREIRFOBEE - ZE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmRE DM

PROSPECTS

Following the listing on the Stock Exchange on 11
December 2017, the Group, by leveraging on its capital,
has striven to develop as an operator for systematic
urban management engaging in environmental and
property management businesses in core regions
around the country. Currently, the Group has been
actively developing its business in the cities along the
eastern coast, as well as the regions along the Yangtze
River by extending the horizontal development of
complementary products and vertical development along
the industrial chain. The Group has gradually kick-started
its acquisition and investment activities. Against the
backdrop of global economic downturn, the Group will
carry out its acquisition activities in a prudent manner,
and focus more on those businesses of superior synergy
effects with comprehensive urban public services, such
as sublease services from investment properties and
operation of urban public parking resources.

As a leading service provider in the non-residential
property management service industry, the Group
will continue to build up its core competitiveness
in engineering technology. We endeavor to achieve
innovative development in engineering technology
with our ability to operate and maintain the online and
offline integrated engineering equipment and facility for
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu as well as professional resources
synchronization mechanism.

Furthermore, based on various technologies, such as
the Internet of Things, the Internet, 3D technology and
big data, the Group will continue to utilize its property
management business as a pilot business to develop a
self-owned open source smart building system, “Dynamic
Building Matrix" (“DBM") to manage the data of basic
status of buildings, which allows the provision of data
and information as well as professional services to
relevant parties, including property owners, property
users, managers and regulators. In 2022, we continued
to achieve the sales of this system to customers at home
and abroad. The Group will ensure the stability and
reliability of our advanced technology, prudently expand
the market at home and abroad and gradually realize the
output effect of our technology investment in China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in China in January
2020, the Group has taken active measures to implement
the regulations and requirements issued by the local
government on the prevention and control of COVID-19,
and carry out all epidemic prevention work, focusing on
the health of the customers, users and employees and the
public security and social responsibilities. Although this
outbreak had a huge impact on the global economy, and
may inevitably continue to spread and affect the upstream
and downstream enterprises of the Group to varying
degrees, however, according to the current guidance of
domestic policies, the important role of sanitation and
property management in urban comprehensive services
in the epidemic will be recognized by the community and
there is increase in demand for environmental sanitary
services. The Group will continue to deepen its strategic
positioning, assess and measure the risks posed by the
outbreak, and identify and seize the opportunities in this
crisis.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately 3.6%
to approximately RMB917.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB885.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase in
revenue was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in
revenue generated from property management services
increased from approximately RMB614.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB646.0 million for the Period, (ii) the revenue
generated from sublease service from investment
properties increased from approximately RMB1.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB7.1 million for the Period, which were offset by
the decrease in revenue generated from environmental
sanitary services from approximately RMB270.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
RMB264.4 million for the Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

Cost of services provided

The Group’s cost of services provided increased by
approximately 3.8% to approximately RMB787.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately RMB759.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The increase in cost of service
provided was primarily due to (i) the increase in property
management services income which leads to the increase
in staff costs and sub-contracting staff costs; and (ii)
the Group continues to recruit more talented staff and
provide training for the existing staff to cope with the
expansion of operations.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately 2.7%
to approximately RMB130.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB126.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 due to an increase in
revenue despite being partially offset by the increase in
the cost of services provided. Gross profit margin for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately 14.2%
which generally kept stable as compared with the gross
profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2021 at
approximately 14.3%.

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains decreased to
approximately RMB14.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB22.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease in net
other income and gains was primarily due to the one-off
investment gain from disposal of Shanghai Xin Shi Bei
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 37.0% to approximately RMB21.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately RMB15.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The increase in selling and distribution
expenses was primarily due to expanding travelling and
entertainment activities with the Group's expansion in
business scale.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately
14.1% to approximately RMB80.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 as compared with the
administrative expenses of approximately RMB70.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
increase in administrative expenses was primarily due
to the Covid-19-related rent concessions to lessees
generated from sublease service from investment
properties, which amounted to approximately RMB8.3
million.

Interest expenses

The interest expenses increased to approximately
RMB13.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from approximately RMB5.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The increase in the interest
expenses was primarily due to the increase in recognition
of interest on lease liabilities in relation with sublease
service from investment properties, which amounted to
approximately RMB8.9 million.

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures
Share of losses of joint venture decreased to
approximately RMB0.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB2.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, which was primarily
due to the share of losses of Zhong Min Zhi Da.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

Share of profits and losses of associates

Share of profits and losses of associates decreased to
approximately RMB7.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB10.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021 which was primarily
due to the decrease in profits shared from Ningbo Plaza,
Shanghai Qiang Sheng and An Hui Pu Bang.

Income tax expense

The income tax expenses decreased to approximately
RMB7.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
from approximately RMB17.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The decrease in income tax expense
was primarily due to the decrease in profit before tax.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, the net profit decreased
by approximately 53.2% to approximately RMB24.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately RMB53.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 and the net profit margin decreased to
2.7% for the year ended 31 December 2022 from 6.0%
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Intangible assets and goodwiill

The intangible assets and goodwill primarily included
customer relationship and goodwill obtained from a
business combination. The intangible assets and goodwill
decreased to approximately RMB62.9 million as at 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB69.8 million as
at 31 December 2021, which was primarily due to the
amortisation of customer relationship.

Trade Receivables

The trade receivables increased by approximately 31.7%
to approximately RMB250.7 million as at 31 December
2022 from approximately RMB190.3 million as at 31
December 2021, which primarily kept in line with the
increased revenue. The trade receivables turnover
(average trade receivables divided by revenue multiplied
by 365 days) was 87.7 days (2021: 68.7 days).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prepayments and other receivables

The prepayments and other receivables increased by
approximately 44.7% to approximately RMB132.1
million as at 31 December 2022 from approximately
RMB91.3 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase
in prepayments and other receivables is primarily due to
the increase in payments on behalf of residents and the
dividends receivable balance from Shanghai Qiang Sheng
and Shanghai Xin Di.

Trade payables

The trade payables increased by approximately 13.2% to
approximately RMB132.2 million as at 31 December 2022
from approximately RMB116.8 million as at 31 December
2021, which was mainly due to the increase in cost of
services provided with business expansion. The trade
payables turnover (average trade payables divided by cost
of services provided multiplied by 365 days) increased to
57.7 days (2021: 54.0 days).

Other payables and accruals

The other payables and accruals increased by
approximately 9.0% to approximately RMB134.1 million
as at 31 December 2022 as compared with the balance
of approximately RMB123.0 million as at 31 December
2021, which was mainly due to the increase in receipts
on behalf of residents.

Cash Flow

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net cash from
operating activities was approximately RMB3.2 million.
The net cash used in investing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB22.9
million. The net cash from financing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB12.1
million, which was primarily due to the increase in bank
loans and other borrowings, which partially offset with
dividends and interest paid.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of approximately RMB12.6 million as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: RMB13.6 million)
was pledged to financing institutions.

BEBNWR D

EARERHEMmERRE

FE 1 FRIE K E b FE U FR A B A = 2021412 A
BTHEMHARBNIE T INL44.7% = &
F202FNAMEHAOARKIZ2ZIEE T °
BRFREREMERZFOENEZARNRE
FRAFIEM - AR B EGRERMEFMRK
AR FIEREEIG ANFTEK ©

EZENRE

ZE5RMAFBARE Z2021F12A31BH K A
R¥116.88 B LG 1N 4913.2% = & £20224F
RAJNEHMNHOAREIRZ2AE L TE2HR
EBBERAERREA AL N - BHEMNK
EMHEEXE(FHEZENRIBR TR
AR 75 AKX 3k BA365K) 12 i1 £57.7K (2021
F:54.0K)

HtEMNRERESER

Hih B RIB R EFE A BB £2021F12A8
BTHM O ARBEI23.08 8 T MA9.0% =
HZE2022F12A31HNHARKEI13418E T
FEHRRKREPWFIGMATE -

RERE

B E2022F12A3BFE - KL FHAFIR
CEFEBOAAREIZEE L - B £2022F
NRAJNBLEFE REGFHEANRSFE
e ARB2298 T o B £2022F12H31H
LtFE RETZHAERSIFIENARARKE
RIBET FZHERBRTEREKREMEE
BIZE - FoWE KR ERENF B ATIEH
T 2 ©

EEER
HZE2022FN2A3BREBHNAAR
1268 &L (B =2021F12A31H: AR %136
BELNZETYE BEEXREEEF
TRIEWE

EThRERARAE F52022 91

|
1
¥

¥




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB171.8 million. The
total interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
increased to approximately RMB158.8 million as at 31
December 2022 from approximately RMB116.8 million
as at 31 December 2021. The gearing ratio (total debts
divided by total equity) as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 43.0% (31 December 2021: 32.5%). The
current ratio (total current assets divided by total current
liabilities) as at 31 December 2022 was 1.3 (31 December
2021: 1.3).

Financial management and policy

The management has designed and implemented a risk
management policy to address various potential risks
identified in relation to the operation of the businesses,
including financial, operational and the interest risks
from the property management agreements. The risk
management policy sets forth procedures to identify,
analyse, categorise, mitigate and monitor various risks.

The Board is responsible for overseeing the overall risk
management system and assessing and updating, if
necessary. The risk management policy is reviewed on a
quarterly basis.

The risk management policy also set forth the reporting
hierarchy of risks identified in the operations.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors was not aware
of any significant events that would have resulted in
material contingent liabilities.

Subsequent Event

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.010 per Share for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “2022 Final Dividend”) with
a sum of approximately HK$4.1 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB3.5 million which is subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2023 annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday,
12 June 2023 (the "AGM"). The 2022 Final Dividend, if
approved, will be distributed on or about Tuesday, 18
July 2023 to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Monday, 26
June 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 7 June 2023 to Monday, 12 June 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the above meeting, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
6 June 2023.

Subject to the approval of the proposed 2022 Final
Dividend from the Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 21 June 2023 to Monday, 26
June 2023, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of Shares will be registered for ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed 2022 Final
Dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed 2022
Final Dividend, all transfer of Shares, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 June 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
Quality and committed staff are valuable assets to the
Group's success. The primary objective of the Group’s
remuneration policy is to ensure there is an appropriate
level of remuneration to attract and retain experienced
people of high calibre to join the Group. The Group
links the remuneration of its employees to both the
Group's performance and individual performance, so
that the interests of the employees align with those of
the Company’s shareholders. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group employed approximately 5,173 employees.
To enhance the performance of the employees, the
Group provides its employees with adequate and
regular trainings. Employees’ remuneration package
comprises fixed and variable components including
salary, discretionary bonus and share options that may
be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (H #3&), aged 73, a co-founder
of our Group with Mr. Fu. Mr. Xiao was appointed as
our Director on 27 July 2016, as the chairman of our
Board and re-designated as our executive Director on
24 October 2016. Mr. Xiao is responsible for strategy
planning and business development of our Group. He is
also the chairman of the nomination committee of our
Group. Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ.

Mr. Xiao obtained a diploma degree in Chinese Language
from Shanghai Institute of Education* (/8% & 2F%x)
in the PRC in July 1985. He attended a training course
in economic study organised by the Graduate School of
Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences* (/&4 & &l 23
fiff 7T & ZB) in the PRC in March 1997. Mr. Xiao obtained
the qualification of senior economist upon completion of
the Integrated Economic Management Programme* (#%
4R & B ¥2) organised by Shanghai Accreditation Board
for Senior Professionals in Economics (Production sector)*
(LBTRBRIN(EEER) SREERMBEERE
BT EZEE)in July 2003.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Xiao had
worked in several state-owned enterprises. He joined
Jiangnan Shipyard* (T & & f) (now known as Jiangnan
Shipyard (Group) Company Limited* GLEEM (@) B
PR & E 2 F])) in November 1968 and acted as head of its
publicity department from October 1992 to June 1995. Mr.
Xiao first encountered the property management industry
when he served as an officer director of Shanghai Jiu Shi
Company* (L8 AZERF]), deputy general manager of
Shanghai Jiushi Company Bund Zhihuan Headquarters*
(EBAERRINGE BB B ID) responsible for overall
operation and general management of Shanghai Bund
Housing Replacement Property Company Limited* (/&
WNEEREEBRMEERAR) (now known as Shanghai
Bund) from May 1995 to October 2002.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

With his knowledge and experience gained in property
management industry, Mr. Xiao established Pujiang
Property jointly with Mr. Fu in December 2002 for
carrying out property management business and served
as the chairman of the board and general manager since
its establishment. With the growth and expansion of our
Group, Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu later established or acquired
other property management companies for carrying out
various property management projects and also set up
Pujiang Holding in June 2007 as their investment holding
vehicle for various property management companies and
other companies carrying out investment management
business and has been acting as its chairman since then.
Mr. Xiao currently holds directorships in Pujiang Property
and Shanghai Bund of our Group.

Mr. Xiao was awarded the independent innovation leading
talent* (B £ &I %8 E A ) by Shanghai Luwan District
Government* (/8 E E[@ A R BAT) in April 2008, the
golden prize of outstanding contribution to Shanghai Property
Management Industry* (E/8 ¥ ¥ EBITHERHER S 12)
in January 2011 and the outstanding individual* (£ H A %) 2%)
by Shanghai Property Management Industry Society* (= /&%)
EEBITEWHE) in January 2015.

Mr. Fu Qichang (X &), aged 65, a co-founder of
our Group with Mr. Xiao and was appointed as our
executive Director and vice chairman of our Board on 24
October 2016. He is responsible for strategic planning
and business development of our Group. Mr. Fu is also a
member of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of our Group.

Mr. Fu obtained a diploma degree in Accountancy from
Lixin Accountancy College of Professional Studies* (i
E &5 ER24) in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master
degree in Business Administration from Macau University
of Science and Technology (by distance learning) in
Macau, in February 2004. He obtained an executive
Master of Business Administration (Service Management)
(by distance learning) in Shanghai, the PRC offered by W.
P. Carey school of Business of Arizona State University in
May 2013.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu obtained the accountant qualification awarded by
Shanghai Accreditation Board for Middle Level Professionals
(Accountants) of the Shanghai I\/Ioto Industry Holding
Company* (E/BMTELERRRGFHRINFTREER
MEBERERTEZES) in June 1992 and attended a
corporate finance course organised by Sino-Euro International
Business school* (R ENEIER T2 FT) in August 1999. He
obtained the qualifications of senior business manager* (7= A% &
% E IR AL E 18 #E F) awarded by Shanghai Business Talents
Training Center* (/8 &% AA B3I 4) and Shanghai
Desirable Talent Training Projects Joint Conference Office* (=
BEHRATIEIIRRBFESZ I AE) in February 2004
and corporate manager of national property management
upon completion of the National Property Management for
Corporate Manager Programme* (& Bl#) 2 & 18 (> E 4L 18)
organised by Shanghai Property Industrial Education Centre* (=
MR EITEHEF L) in December 2001. Mr. Fu was
awarded the chief financial officer qualifying training certificate
by Shanghai National Accountants Institute in July 2013.

Prior to the establishment of our Group, Mr. Fu acted
as the deputy general manager and chief accountant in
Pudong Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (£ &
AFERFHEAT) and the deputy general manager of
Property Company of Shanghai Jiu Shi Company* (_E &
AE QAR YEAR]) from July 1997 to March 2003.

Mr. Fu currently holds directorships in several subsidiaries
of our Group, including Pujiang Property, Shanghai Bund,
Shanghai Bund Green, Shanghai Rui Zheng and Hong
Xin.

Mr. Fu was awarded the role model of the Shanghai
Labour Force* (/@M & EN1E %) by Shanghai People’s
Government in April 2010, national role model of
the industry* (% Bl 7 2 & 2 ) by National Property
Management Society* (2B EEE W E) in September
2011, veteran professional manager of the Shanghai
property service industry* (/8T ¥ 2 R % % & R
F¥ 438 N) by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society in January 2012, Shanghai Huangpu district
professional and technical talents* (& fiT R A A)
by Shanghai Huangpu District Government* (/M=
R A RBAT) in September 2012 and the outstanding
individual by Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society in January 2015.

EENGHREEE

1ﬁ%$w992¢6ﬂ§%ﬁﬁbﬁn‘ﬁﬁi%“

Al EF R P REER MRS TR EST
%?E@&%E’Uaﬁ%ﬂhﬁ%ﬁ% NS
199F8HMHA MBI IHER BRI D
B TEERAZ o 20042 FiETH g ¥
ATEIPLRE EBBRATEZIIREE
EERMAERESAEBEREUERESE -
3 EA2001¢12HnWEEJ:/iFD%iﬁEFTT%%Z
BRLEBRNEZEAMEEE P ELEEIIE
BEEZBM¥XERCELEEUERESE -
BEER0BFTAE L ESHREFT 2R B
BRI GBELERFINIESE -

AEBE KA - BREB19979F7A E 20034
SABREMT LBAERARBMR AR E AL
BRAETH  UEEBAFARYERAF
M Bl AR -

BREEBARAEBZHENBARETES
B BREBIME  LBINE - EBNE
#x1b ~ E/BHm IE LA ROSAAR ©

HBRAENR00F4RELEESTARBNTFE S
FETYEHEES  R20NFIORLEZRYMET
BipedrsBETERE  R20012F1A% L
EMYEERTEHBETALEITMERY
TEEIBELEA R20RF9AE LS
TEHREARBFIALSERREERM
WRAA AR R2015F 1R E L BTYMES
BITEHBeEBEGEEADE-

EThRERARAT #2022 97




|

1

H
b=

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Xiao Yuqiao (B F &), aged 40, was appointed as
our executive Director and chief executive officer on 24
October 2016. He is responsible for the overall operation
and management and execution of the policies of our
Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is also member of the remuneration
committee of our Group. Mr. Xiao YQ is the son of Mr.
Xiao.

Mr. Xiao YQ obtained a double degree in Philosophy and
Business Management from the State University of New
York at Stony Brook in the United States in May 2005.

Mr. Xiao YQ has over ten years of experience in the
property management industry. He joined our Group in
February 2006 and had served as the general manager
of Shanghai Pujiang Sanqging Property Co. Ltd* (L&
L= BYWHEBMRAF) (now known as Shanghai Rui
Zheng) until May 2012. He was the general manager of
Ningbo Plaza from May 2012 to December 2013. Mr.
Xiao YQ had served as the deputy general manager in
Pujiang Property since May 2012 and was subsequently
appointed as its director on 11 March 2016. He has been
the deputy general manager of Shanghai Bund since May
2012 and a director of Shanghai Jie Gu since May 2016.
Mr. Xiao YQ has also served as an executive director of
Pujiang Holding since January 2014. He is also a director
of Shanghai Bund Ke Pu, Shanghai Jiu Yi, Anhui Pu
Jing, Nantong Pu Sheng, Bengbu Zhi Xin, Shanghai Rui
Zheng, Hong Xin and Qidong Xingiao Property Company
Limited*(RUER 3 & ¥ B R 2 7).

Mr. Xiao YQ was awarded the outstanding individual

(15th anniversary) by China Property Management
Magazine* (P B ¥ X E E )5 54L) in July 2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Hui (£ £), aged 49, was appointed as our
executive Director on 20 November 2020.

Ms. Wang has obtained a degree in Economics
Management from the University of Science and
Technology Beijing* (dt R K 2) in 1997. She is
currently part of the Executive Committee of Fuzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce, the Executive
Vice President of Dazhou General Chamber of
Commerce and a member of the Eighth Committee of
Taijiang District, Fuzhou City, Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. On 5 July 2000, Ms. Wang
founded Hong Xin (formerly known as Fuzhou Hongxin
Cleaning Company Limited* (& M 54 fRRZ B R A7),
Fuzhou Hongxin Pest Control Company Limited*
(FBIMBARBE FE LW AE R A 7A]) and Fuzhou Hongxin
Environmental Cleaning Service Company Limited* (1@
ML FRIR R B R IR B BR 2 F])) and she has been
acting as the director and the legal person since its
incorporation. On 3 January 2020, the Group acquired
51% equity interest in Hong Xin. Since then, Hong Xin
has become an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company and Ms. Wang has also been acting as the
chairperson of Hong Xin.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yongjun (% # &), aged 47, has been
appointed as our non-executive Director with effect from
7 May 2018.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University* (/8% 8 KE) with a bachelor's degree
in cranes, transportation machinery and mechanical
engineering in July 1996 and a master’'s degree in
business administration in July 2003.

Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in investment and
corporate management. Prior to joining our Group, he
worked as the senior investment manager in Shanghai
Galaxy Digital Investment Co., Ltd* (L /& E/EIBERE
BBR27F]) from January 2003 to March 2006. He served
as the assistant director of the investment department
at Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai) Company
Limited* (EE B E(L/8) B R A7) from April 2006
to April 2008. He was the deputy general manager of
Runfeng Investment Group Shanghai Investment Co., Ltd.*
(HE2REEE LB EARAA) from April 2008 to
May 2009. He was the director and head of the investment
department of Shanghai Industrial Investment (Shanghai)
Company Limited* ( = & T3 (L &) B R 2 F]) from
June 2009 to March 2019. He has served as the assistant
president of Shanghai Overseas International Trading
Company Limited* (/88 52 &) since January 2019.

Currently, Mr. Zhang serves as a director of Weifang City
Water Supply Company Limited* (#3582 /KGR A 7)),
Shanghai Qingpu Second Sewage Treatment Plant Company
Limited* (/858 % =5 7KEE M AR A A]), Shanghai
Biomedical Frontier Industry Innovation Center Co., Ltd* (/&
A B8 BRI E ¥ BIFT 0 AR A F]), Shanghai Electric
Power Generation Environment Protection Engineering Co.,
Ld* (E/BER/RBURE TR ER2AF), SIC Properties
Group (Shanghai) Limited* (FE & 2 £ B(L/8)BRAA])
and Shanghai SIIC Investment Development Company Limited*
(BB EEREZRREERAT]). He also serves as the vice
board chairman of Qihua Company Limited* (B% % A& R A &),
the board chairman of Shanghai Nanyang Plywood Company
Limited* (L= /8 @ ¥ B & RA R 2 A]) and Lu An Xinshi Asset
Management Company Limited* (N EZZEEEEEEBRA
A]). He is also on the board of supervisors of SIIC Environment
Holdings (Wuhan) Company Limited.* ( - & & 5 #5 i% (& )£)
BBRAA]), a subsidiary of SIC Environment Holdings Ltd. (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 807) and
the Singapore Exchange Limited (stock code: BHK)).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheng Dong (# %), aged 60, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 15 November
2017. He is responsible for overseeing the management
of our Group independently. He is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of our Group.

Mr. Cheng graduated with a Bachelor degree in
management engineering from Tongji University
(FlE X&) in the PRC in July 1984 and Master degree
in economic informatics from Academy for Computer
Science and Computer executives* (Akademie flr Fach-
und Fihrungskrafte der Informatik) in Germany in May
1995.

Mr. Cheng was accredited as an organisational
programmer and economic informatics scientist by the
Chambers of Industry and Commerce Region Stuttgart*
(Industrie-und Handelskammer Region Stuttgart) in
Germany in November 1992 and December 1992
respectively.

Mr. Cheng was a teacher at the school of economics and
Management at the Tongji University (&% XZ) from
July 1984 to January 1990. From March 1992 to June
1995, he served as an software engineer and project
manager at Yingta Information technology Company
Limited, Germany* ({2 B & % #% 1z #25 % {» 2 7)) and was
the company’s chief representative at its representative
office in PRC between June 1995 and May 1998. He
had served as the general manager of Shanghai Yingta
Information Technology Company Limited* (/&&=
B 1A BR Q7). Mr. Cheng is currently holding senior
positions in several companies in the PRC including legal
representative (J& AfX ) of Shanghai Entai Business
and Trading Company Limited* (EF /5B ZHEBRA
A]) since May 1996, chairman of Shanghai Yingta Health
Management Company Limited* (- /5 %5 £ 2 fF & 8
B R AT since November 2008, general manager of
Anpac Bio-Medical Science Company Limited (&R &t
Ay BEER (L) ARAT) since April 2014, and
chairman of Shanghai Liufu Training School Company
Limited* ( E/B B RFI ER B R A F) since March
2021.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Weng Guogqiang ($ B &), aged 62, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 15
November 2017. He is responsible for overseeing the
management of our Group independently. He is also
member of the audit committee, nomination committee
and remuneration committee of our Group.

Mr. Weng graduated with a Bachelor degree in Applied
Mathematics from the Tongji University in the PRC in July
1982 and a Master degree in Public Administration from
the University of Macau in Macau in September 2003.

Mr. Weng was accredited as a National Vocational
Qualification Level 2 Vocational Management
Professional* (BIXB X ER —HBELE A) in May
2003 and a Level 1 Senior Vocational Management
Professional* (— # = A B 2= «£ 32 A) in September 2004
by the Shanghai Vocational Skill Testing Authority* (I
T B 2 R REZE F ). Mr. Weng was also accredited
as a Certified Property Manager by the Personnel
Department of Shanghai* (LMW AEB) in October
2006 and an Advanced Economist* (75 & £ & Bl) by the
Personnel Department of Jiangsu Province* (T & & AS
EE) in September 2009.

Mr. Weng has extensive experience in the property
management industry in Shanghai for over 18 years.
He had served as a general manager of Shanghai
Lujiazui Property Management Co., Ltd. (/& FE R
MEEEABRAF) from October 1999 to May 2008
and as a general manager of Wuxi Dongzhou Property
Management Company Limited* (£ 5 R M ¥ % & 2
BB AR from May 2008 to December 2009. Since
January 2010, Mr. Weng has taken up the positions of
general manager and subsequently executive director at
the Shanghai Tonglai Property Management Company
Limited* (E/BRAMEERBERAF]).
independent non-executive director of A-Living Smart
City Services Co., Ltd.* (M4 & & E W MR % K H
R~ 7\]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code 03319) since January 2022.

He is also an
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence (& # X ), aged 50, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 15 November 2017. He is responsible for overseeing
the management of our Group independently. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of
our Group.

Mr. Shu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business
(Accounting) from Deakin University in Australia in
September 1994. He became an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants in September 1997. Mr. Shu
attended the chief financial officer programme offered
by China Europe International Business School from July
to November 2009.

Mr. Shu has over 20 years of experience in audit,
corporate finance and financial management. He joined
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as an accountant
in March 1994 and later became a manager of Deloitte’s
reorganisation service group in April 2000. Mr. Shu
joined Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance Limited
and served as its manager from July 2001 to November
2002. Mr. Shu worked as an associate director in
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited from November 2002 to
April 2005. He served as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Texhong Textile Group Limited (X
W4 EB AR A A]) (@ company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 02678) from May 2005 to
July 2008. Mr. Shu was employed as the chief financial
officer of Jiangsu Rongsheng Heavy Industries Company
Limited* ()L %% k& 8% & T B R 2 A ) overseeing its
financial management functions and corporate finance
activities as well as the daily management of its finance
department from July 2008 to June 2010. Mr. Shu served
as the chief financial officer of Petro-king Qilfield Services
Limited (B # M ERB B R A2 F) (@ company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 02178) since
July 2010 to July 2018. Mr. Shu has served as the chief
financial officer of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly
known as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code:
02203) since August 2018 to November 2019. Mr. Shu
was an independent non-executive Director of Chengdu
Expressway Co., Ltd. (K& SRR ERMHDER LA (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
01785) from November 2016 to September 2022.Mr. Shu
is currently the director and the chief financial officer of
Contiocean Environment Tech Co., Ltd* (_t & & i 2R (R
L %19 B BR A 8)), primarily responsible for its financial
and investment division. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Twintek Investment Holdings Limited
(LEREERBRAQE) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 06182) and Goldstream
Investment Limited (£ EH R 2 7)) (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 01328) and
Termbray Industries International (Holdings) Limited (/7%
FMIEBIE(EE)ERAF) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 00093) since December
2017 and December 2019 and 2022 respectively. He has
been served as a member of the Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association since May 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Company Secretary

Ms. Cheung Kam Mei, Helen (3R & 3%), aged 61, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on
1 May 2019.

Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Laws from University
of London in 1999 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
from University of Hong Kong in 2000. She is a qualified
solicitor in Hong Kong, a member of the Law Society of
Hong Kong since 2002, a member of the Law Society
of England and Wales since 2003 and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since 2005.
Ms. Cheung has 4 years of experience in the corporate
governance and company secretarial field.

Mr. Cai Yufei (&), aged 38, joined our Group
in August 2017 as assistant to chief financial officer. He
appointed as chief financial officer and was appointed as
joint company secretary of the Company on 1 May 2019
and on 1 July 2022 respectively. He is responsible for
overseeing accounting activities.

Mr. Cai obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics with a
major in Finance from Tongji University ([7] /& X £) in 2007.

Mr. Cai has over ten years of experience in auditing,
financial management and corporate financing. Prior in
joining our Group, he worked as a senior associate at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian LLP from August 2007
to January 2010. He served as deputy director of finance
department in Tat Hong Zhaomao Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd* (EE KKK EERAQF) from January 2010 to
November 2016 and was its head of corporate financing
department from December 2016 to August 2017.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Vice President
Ms. Zhu Hong (% 4L ), aged 58, is responsible for
managing the operations of Shanghai Xin Di.

Ms. Zhu graduated with a diploma degree in Basic
organic synthesis from Shanghai Chemical Industry
College* (E/B{EETEERER) in the PRC in July
1984 and a Master degree in Business Administration (by
distance learning) from Macau University of Science and
Technology in June 2004.

Ms. Zhu qualified as a corporate manager of the national
property management upon completion of the National
Property Management for Corporate Manager Programme
organised by Shanghai Property Industrial Education Centre
in May 2003, a national property manager by the Shanghai
Human Resources and Social Security Bureau* (/& A 71
BRMEZRER) in September 2011 and an engineer
by Shanghai Engineering Technology Management Middle
Level Professional and Professional and Technical Title
Qualification Evaluation Committee* (_F /& L2 R 5l
BEREETREXRMBEEBRERITETEES) in
November 2014.

Ms. Zhu had been engaged in the property management
business for nearly 20 years. Ms. Zhu served as an
assistant to the general manager in Shangshi Property
Management Company Limited* (/8 -t EW¥ERE
FR 22 ®]) from July 1996 to January 2001.

Ms. Zhu joined our Group and was appointed as the
office director of Pujiang Property in August 2003,
deputy general manager of Pujiang Property and
Shanghai Bund since April 2006. Ms. Zhu was appointed
as a deputy general manager of Anhui Bund on 1 January
2013 and became its director on 15 February 2016. She
has served as an assistant to the director of Pujiang
Holding since January 2009. Ms. Zhu was appointed as
our vice president on 24 October 2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Ms. Zhu was recognised as an expert for the Shanghai
Property Management Bidding and Tendering*
(EBETYREERBKRFFZEEZER) by the Shanghai
Housing and Land Resources Management Bureau*
(EFEBmMEERELHEREIEB) from September 2006 to
September 2008 and a procurement evaluation expert
of Shanghai People’s Government* (/& B fF £% B8
% B X) by Shanghai Finance Bureau* (L & B
/&). She was awarded the veteran professional manager
of Shanghai Property Service Industry by Shanghai
Property Management Industry Society in January 2012
and the outstanding individual by Shanghai Property
Management Industry Society in January 2015.

Mr. Bai Min (B ), aged 51, is responsible for managing
business development and day-to-day business of our Group.

Mr. Bai graduated with a Bachelor degree in Business and
Corporate Management from Hubei Province economic
Management Cadre Institute* (8 1t & 4 & & 12 & [
E2[%) in the PRC in January 2009, a Bachelor degree in
Business Administration (Marketing) from Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in the PRC in January 2012 and a Master
degree* (F/B% i KE) in Business Administration (by
distance learning) from City University of Macau in July
2015.

Mr. Bai obtained the qualification of national property
manager by Shanghai Human Resources and social
security Bureau in October 2010.

Mr. Bai had worked in various property management
companies in Shanghai for over 10 years before joining
our Group in April 2009. Mr. Bai was a property manager
of Shanghai Yuntai Property Management Company
Limited* (E /B ERMEETIEBRAA]) from April 1997
to August 2000. He was a senior director in Shanghai Kai
Shing Property Management Service Company Limited*
(EBRBYWEETERBKAERAF) from August 2000
to December 2000. He was employed as an assistant to
general manager of the integrated centre and deputy
general manager of the property department of Shanghai
Minghua Property Company* (/8B ZE Y % QA7) from
February 2001 to July 2005. He was the general manager
of Yangshan district and deputy general manager of the
quality control department of Shanghai New Century
Property Service Company Limited* (/& 1ttt 42 & & IR
% A BR A A]) from August 2005 to March 2009.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Bai joined our Group as the general manager of our
estates management office of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China in April 2009 which was managed by
Pujiang Property. He was then seconded to serve as the
general manager of the Shanghai World Expo in January
2010. Since January 2011, he has served as an assistant
to the general manager and chief property officer in
Pujiang Property. Mr. Bai has been serving as a deputy
general manager of Anhui Bund since 1 January 2013,
and director and deputy general manager in Shanghai
Xin Di since June 2015. Mr. Bai was appointed as our vice
president on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Bai was awarded the outstanding individual by
Shanghai Property Management Industry Society* (/&
YIEERITEWE) in January 2015 and is an expert of
5th Council of Shanghai Property Management Industry
Society* (LB X ERBTEMEELEESS)
since December 2015.

Mr. Xu Wenzhang (# X %), aged 62, is responsible
for managing development and day-to-day business of
our Group.

Mr. Xu graduated with a Bachelor degree in Power
Mechanical Engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University in the PRC in July 1983 and a Master degree in
Management from Norwegian School of Management B
in Norway (by distance learning) in January 2000.

Prior to joining our Group in November 2015, Mr. Xu
had worked at a number of international corporations
in property management sector for over 25 years. Mr.
Xu was the property engineering senior manager in
American International Group (AIG) from March 1990
to February 2005. He was the chief property officer in
Shanghai Alison Group Company Limited and general
manager in Shanghai Alison Property Management
Service Company Limited from February 2005 to January
2007. Mr. Xu held the position of national facilities
manager (associate director) in Jones Lang LaSalle
Surveyors (Shanghai) Company Limited from February
2007 to September 2008. He served as a director of
facilities management of Accor Greater China in Accor
Hotels Group from September 2008 to December 2015.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Xu joined our Group in November 2015 and has
served as the chief technical officer in Pujiang Holding
since then and deputy general manager of Pujiang
Property since January 2016. He was appointed as our
vice president on 24 October 2016.

Mr. Chen Jie (BR2), aged 53, is responsible for the
operation of engineering facilities’ management services
of our Group.

Mr. Chen graduated with a bachelor degree in industrial
and civil engineering from Tongji University ([ & A &)
in 1992. He is currently a member of Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) . During the period from
2016 to 2018, he acted as the vice minister of facility
experts’ committee of Shanghai Property Management
Industry Society* (L BMEEERHEXRBEREER
Z E=). From 2010 to 2011, he was engaged in the
compilation of Shanghai local standards of Property
service specification of hospital DB31/T502-2010 (& Pt
¥) % IR 7% #8 81DB31/T502-2010)) and Property service
specification of industrial zone DB31/T562-2011 ({ T %
B & ) 3 IR 7% & 32 AR $8DB31/7562-2011)).

Mr. Chen joined our Group in July 2018 and was
appointed as our vice president in January 2020. Mr.
Chen has worked in the property management industry
for over 20 years. From 1998 to 2003, he served as a
regional manager of Guanghua Service Industry (China)
Company Limited* (X ZERBE X (FE) AR A F) and
thereafter, he served as the general manager of Shanghai
SF Service Industries Company Limited* (/8 FE¥ %
AR 75 A% 15 B BR 2 A1) from 2003 to 2018 until he joined
our Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to establishing good corporate
governance practices in accordance with the Listing Rules
and ensuring integrity, transparency and comprehensive
disclosure. The Board believes that such commitment is
beneficial to safeguard the interests of the Company and
its shareholders.

The Board has adopted the CG Code as set out in of the
Listing Rules. The Company reviewed the CG Code from
time to time to ensure its compliance with the CG Code.

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange since 11 December 2017 (the "Listing
Date”). The Board is pleased to report compliance with
the code provisions of the CG Code from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:
Executive Directors Mr. Xiao Xingtao
(Chairman)
Mr. Fu Qichang
Mr. Xiao Yugiao
(Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Wang Hui
Non-Executive Director : Mr. Zhang Yongjun
Independent : Mr. Cheng Dong

Non-Executive Directors  Mr. Weng Guogiang
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

Mr. Xiao is the father of Mr. Xiao YQ. Save for the family
relationship between Mr. Xiao and Mr. Xiao YQ, there
was no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors.

DNRERRE

EXERER
EERRNIRBLTABBRIRFODCESE
ARRUBRTE BZHRZEANKE ¥
ERREMAFANNREARARER
Ry M

E=SCRMEIMBRAMBZEEESRTA -
ARBATEEMEEERTA  AREFREE

SERERTH -

ARATFBE2017F12B811B ([ L B H ) #E 7 B
TAERLET - EFEMARE B LA
HI# Z22022F 12 A31HE BT EE AT 8
B 5T BIE 3C -

EEETESFRS

RAARERMNEBETAIEASESHETES
REGZIBTERA - BARRELFEEHE -
EEFHER HB LTWABEE2022412

A31B—HE&TEZESTRIMES AR T ER -
BExg
EEHUATALTAEK:
WMITES HEELE
(£/®)
BHEEXLE
HFBEAE
(7T 4B )
ITELL
EMITES REERA
BYIEATES RR LA
& B 58 5t A
FERLE

TEREZHANBRBRARIN EFcHLE
M X% BRBREMBERNER -

SEITHREERARAR £52022 109

i
1
H

h-




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AREAREE

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and
the Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of the majority of the Directors, either in person or
through electronic means of communication.

The Company generally convenes at least four regular
Board meetings a year. During the Period, four Board
meetings were convened for the following purposes:

1. reviewed and approved the 2021 annual report of
the Company and its related results announcement
and documents;

2. reviewed and approved the 2022 interim report of
the Company and its related results announcement
and documents;

3. reviewed and considered various projects and
investment opportunities that have arisen and/or
undertaken by the Company during the Period; and

4. reviewed, discussed and considered the Group’s

affairs, including strategic plans, financial affairs,
progress and updates of business performance.

110 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ZERBUNRTEFCREERBEBELNA
RARANRARB/RE TR BE313K A
FESIFIEBILIMR  SBULUFATES
BRBIAL -

BISTRAME XX ECS51MER T EF
L—FRITOR HEEFTER
BANEREEARBLIEERGFLR
B AEER2HEEE -

RARAR—MEBFERZEINAESTETHE
§§°,Hﬂl9q Eﬁf;ﬁm/Ai%E EE%J//\J:EIEJ//\
TEEH:

1. FHE R AEARRT2021F F B A K EAE
MEERERXM:

2. BHRBERQAR022FHREHHREUR
HEBEERAER U

3. BRRBRALNARBREER S
TOZEEENKRERS &

4. B - FWEAERAEENER(ERE
BEtEl MBEE EBRBERB
R EFR) o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
AREARE

Attendance at Meetings of the Board and EEERESZESCERLERE
Board Committees

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend for the year
ended 31 December 2022
B E2022F12A31BLFE

HE EEREESRARH
Annual

Audit Remuneration General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Meeting
Exps Exg ERERS FMEEE BRRBFAE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Xiao Xingtao 4/4 N/A N/A 171
H 8= A58 H 3 H
Fu Qichang 4/4 N/A 2/2 11
BHE i A
Xiao Yugiao 4/4 N/A 2/2 171
HTS A58 H
Wang Hui (Note) 4/4 N/A N/A 11
FTE ) i A T iE A
Non-executive Director
HHTEF
Zhang Yongjun 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1
R HE 35 A T3 A
Independent Non-executive Director
BUHNITEF
Cheng Dong 4/4 2/2 2/2 11
R
Weng Guogiang 4/4 2/2 2/2 11
5 B 58
Shu Wa Tung Laurence 4/4 2/2 2/2 11
FFER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AREAREE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the management of the
Company, which includes formulating business strategies,
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
Board reserves power for decisions concerning all
major matters which include, inter alia, the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgeting, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those
which may involve conflict of interests of Director(s) or
substantial shareholder(s)), appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters.

The Board is also entrusted with the overall responsibility
of developing, maintaining and reviewing sound and
effective corporate governance policies within the Group
and is committed to ensuring that corporate governance
functions are carried out in accordance with the CG
Code, including continuously reviewing and improving
the corporate governance practices within the Group.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company as well as the services
and advice from the company secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and internal control
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
etc.

Every Board member has full access to the advice
and services of the company secretary with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
As at the date of the report, Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the
Chairman while Mr. Xiao Yugiao is the chief executive
officer of the Company. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is the father of
Mr. Xiao Yugiao.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the
Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the overall
operation and management and execution of the policies
of our Group. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
defined and set out in writing.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All executive Directors and non-executive Director
have entered into a service contract with our Company
for an initial fixed term of three years and renewable
automatically until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time
thereafter. All independent non-executive Directors are
appointed from the date of the Listing until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either the Company or the respective Director.

The current articles of association of the Company
provide that subject to the manner of retirement by
rotation of directors as from time to time prescribed by
the Listing Rules, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. All Directors also participate in continuous
professional development programmes to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their
contribution to the Board.

All the Directors have confirmed in writing they had
participated in continuous professional developments
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as
directors during the Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
AREAREE

The below table summarises the participation of Directors TFTXREAZBENCEHEARALXMEI R EE
in training and continuous professional development ZHEZEREMNIB N o
during the Period under review.

Types of Continuous Professional Development
FESXZRER
Received an
introduction
regarding the

Reading responsibilities
Material regarding and obligations
regulatory update under the Listing Attending
and corporate Rules and seminars/
governance relevant statutory conferences/
Name of Directors matters requirements forums
EERE
EHmR AR
REEHEEE HEEEER
EHREEER EAENBER HEAwRE
EEn EHEH M EEHH EE VA k!
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Xiao Xingtao v v v
HBESELE
Mr. Fu Qichang v v Ve
BEESLE
Mr. Xiao Yugiao v v v
HT&E4E
Ms. Wang Hui v v v
FEx+
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Zhang Yongjun v v v
REFLRAE
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Cheng Dong v v v
BREE
Mr. Weng Guogiang v v 4
SEATE
Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence 4 v v
HERLEE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 15 November 2017
comprising 3 independent non-executive Directors, who
have reviewed the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022. All of them have
appropriate professional qualifications and one of them
has accounting expertise. Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. No member of the
Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing
auditor of the Company. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available at the Company’s website
and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia,
the following matters:

(@) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, internal control procedures and risk
management and ensuring such systems are
effective;

(b) reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment, removal and remuneration of the
external auditor of the Company;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standard;

(d) monitoring the integrity of financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual report
and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing any
significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them; and

(e) overseeing the Company’s internal audit functions;
and

(f) acting as key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor.
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AREAREE

During the Period, the Audit Committee convened two
meetings and performed the following work:

1. reviewed the 2021 annual report and the 2022
interim report of the Company and their related
preliminary results announcements;

2. reviewed and discussed the auditor’s report to the
Audit Committee in respect of 2021 annual audit;

3. reviewed and recommended the re-appointment
of the external auditors, taking into account its
independence;

4. reviewed and discussed the internal control reports;

5.  reviewed and discussed the 2022 annual audit plan
of the Group.

The Audit Committee has met with the external auditors
once during the Period without the presence of the
executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) was established on
15 November 2017 comprising five members, namely
2 executive Directors, Mr. Fu Qichang and Mr. Xiao
Yugiao and 3 independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr.
Weng Guogiang. Mr. Cheng Dong is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for,
inter alia, the following matters:

(@) establishing and reviewing the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of directors and
senior management and making recommendations
to the Board on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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(b) determining the specific remuneration packages
of all executive directors of the Group and senior
management;

() reviewing and approving compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of directors for misconduct to ensure that such
arrangements are determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that any
compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

(d) advising shareholders of the Company with respect
to any service contracts of directors that require
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules.

During the Period, the Remuneration Committee
convened two meetings and performed the following
work:

To review the draft plan and final adoption plan of grant
of Shares to selected employees of the Group under the
Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 30
August 2018 and made recommendations to the Board.

Details of the fees and other emoluments paid or payable
to the Directors and the details of the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (excluding
Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in details in Notes 8 to the audited consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) was established on
15 November 2017 comprising five members, namely
2 executive Directors, Mr. Xiao Xingtao and Mr. Fu
Qichang and 3 independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Cheng Dong, Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence and Mr. Weng
Guogiang. Mr. Xiao Xingtao is currently the chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for,
inter alia, the following matters:

(a)

reviewing the structure, size diversity and
composition of the Board,;

developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors;

making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.
The criteria to be applied in considering whether a
candidate is qualified shall be based on a number
of factors, including gender, age, educational
background, qualifications, regional and industry
experience, skills, length of service and his or her
ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company and if the appointment will
contribute to the diversity of the Board;

assessment of the independence of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors in accordance with, among
other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may
be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time
and where applicable, whether he or she has the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an independent non-executive director
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules;
and

set any measurable objectives for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships
by making reference to the balance of expertise, skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of such individuals, business
requirements of the Group and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.

During the Period, the Nomination Committee did not
hold any meeting.

BOARD POLICIES

Pursuant to the Listing Rules and policies of the Board,
the Board has adopted a number of policies and
procedures to strengthen its corporate governance and
internal control. The following is a summary of certain
policies adopted by the Board:

(a) Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
("Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. Pursuant
to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of aspects, including, but not limited
to, gender, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and educational background. All board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The Company will also take
into consideration its own business model and
specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimal composition of the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
8 directors. Three of them are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of age, industry
experience, professional background and skills. The
following tables further illustrate the diversity of the
Board members as of the date of this annual report:
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(b) RRBEBXK

(b) Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Board is dedicated to promote effective
communications with Shareholders. Effective
communications can enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights as shareholders in an informed manner
and furnish the investment community with timely
information about the Company.

The Company is committed to maintain open
communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community and to promote investor
confidence by keeping the market fully informed of
all material information about the Company.

The Company holds its annual general meeting
in June each year. If necessary, the Company
will hold extraordinary general meetings to seek
Shareholders’ approval on proposed transactions.

Shareholders may, at any time, raise questions to
the Company provided such matters are in the
public domain.

Shareholders may contact the Company as follows:

Riverine China Holdings Limited

14F No. 28 South Zhongshan Road Shanghai China,
200010

Tel: (86) 21-63333599

Fax: (86) 21-63301947

Email address: ir@ppmc.com.cn

For enquiries relating to their shares in the
Company, Shareholders may contact the Company’s
share registrar as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has implemented measures to follow
the inside information provisions of the SFO and
the Listing Rules to ensure inside information of
the Group is disseminated to the public in equal
and timely manner in accordance with SFO and the
Listing Rules.

For more details, please refer to the section headed
“Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information”
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board

As part of checks-and-balances of the management
of the Company, the Board has adopted this policy
to provide mechanism to ensure independent view
and input are available to the Board.

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive
directors ("INEDs”), representing not less than
one-third of the Board. One of the three INEDs
possesses professional qualifications, accounting
and financial management expertise.

The INEDs, as other Directors, are entitled to review
books and records of the Group and they may
seek assistance from the Company’s joint company
secretaries. Further, where necessary, the INEDs may
seek independent advice from external professional
advisers at the expense of the Company.

Further, to provide checks-and-balances to the
Group, the INEDs are also the only members of
the Audit Committee and majority members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.
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(e) Whistleblowing Policy

(f)

The Company is committed to maintain the highest
standards of ethics and conducting business legally,
honestly and fairly.

To enhance the Group to maintain good corporate
governance, employees and third parties who
suppliers
and agents are encouraged to report any genuine

deal with the Group, e.g. customers,

concerns about suspected or actual fraud, breach,
malpractice, misconduct or irregularity to the
internal audit department of the Company and such
reporting shall be made in good faith. The internal
audit department in turn reports to the Audit
Committee.

The internal audit department may consult the
Audit Committee and external professional advisers
in deciding whether an investigation is warranted.

If investigation is required, the internal audit
department will conduct investigation in strict
confidence and report to the Audit Committee.
If necessary, the internal audit department may,
after consultation with the Audit Committee and/
or professional advisers, report the matter to the
relevant regulatory authorities in accordance with

relevant laws and regulations.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company is committed to upholding high
standards of business integrity, honesty and
transparency in all of its business dealings. This
policy aims to protect the reputation of the
Company and prevent any attempt of fraud,
deceit or any
other improper conduct by any senior management

corruption, bribery, malpractices,
or employees of the Group.

The policy provides guidelines to employees what
constitutes advantages, corruption and bribery.
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Remuneration Policy

This purpose of this Policy is to provide guidelines
to the Group to retain and motivate its directors
and employees by offering them competitive while
not excessive remuneration packages hiving regard
to those offered by comparable companies in the
property management industry in China.

The remuneration packages offered by the Group to
its executive directors and employees comprise basic
salary, discretionary bonus and share awards having
regard to their performance and the performance of
the Group.

Non-executive directors shall receive fixed
remuneration only. The Board will make reference
to the remuneration payable by companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange and engage in
property management industry in China. No bonus
or equity linked remuneration is payable to non-
executive directors, in particular, independent non-
executive directors, in order to ensure they are
independent and act impartially at all times. Their
remuneration will be reviewed annually.

Nomination Policy

In evaluating a candidate for nomination to the
Board for appointment or to the Shareholders
for election as a Director of the Company, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number
of factors. These factors include the candidate’s
qualifications, skills and experience, diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
the candidate’s integrity, and if the candidate
is proposed to be appointed as an INED, the
independence criteria under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and his/her time commitment. The Nomination
Committee will take appropriate measures to review
and evaluate a candidate’'s profile as proposed by
the Board and make recommendations to the Board.
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(i)
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Dividends Policy

In general, it is the policy of the Company to allow
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits while retaining adequate reserves for future
development and growth. Normally, the Company
pays dividends twice a year, which are the interim
dividends and the final dividends. The Board will
consider a number of factors in deciding the
frequency, amount and form of dividends, including
the conditions of the economy, market outlook,
results of our operations, cash flows, financial
position, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the
payment of dividends, future prospects and other
factors that the Board my consider relevant.
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The Board delegated certain duties under the Board
Diversity Policy to the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee will discuss and review
the necessity to set any measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor's Report) for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group. The Board was not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and the Board has prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to
form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on
those consolidated financial statements prepared by the
Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders. A
statement by auditor about their reporting responsibility
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has developed the Group's internal control,
risk assessment and management systems and has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining an
adequate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to
ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.
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The Company has an internal audit department,
which reports directly to the Audit Committee and is
independent of the Company’s daily operations. The
internal audit department is responsible for conducting
regular audits on compliance, risk management and
major activities of the Company. Its objective is to ensure
that all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions
are in place and function effectively.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring
and management of risks associated with its business
activities. The Group’s internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment
of business objective. The system includes a defined
management structure with segregation of duties and a
cash management system such as monthly reconciliation
of bank accounts.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board has conducted a review of the systems of risk
management and internal control for the year ended
31 December 2022 to ensure the effectiveness and
adequacy of the systems. Such review shall be conducted
annually. The Board considered that the risk management
and internal control systems of Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were effective and adequate.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s
material internal controls and is of the opinion that the
resources for and qualifications of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function are adequate
and sufficient. Based on information furnished to it
and on its own observations, the Board is satisfied with
present internal controls of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) was entered into by Partner Summit, Vital
Kingdom, Mr. Xiao, Source Forth, Mr. Fu, Pine Fortune
and Mr. Chen, the Controlling Shareholders in favour
of the Company on 28 November 2017, pursuant to
which each of the Controlling Shareholders will not, and
will procure any of its/his associates and any company
directly or indirectly controlled by him/it (not include
any member of the Group) not to either on his/its own
or in conjunction with any body corporate, partnership,
joint venture or other contractual agreement, whether
directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry
on, participate in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate,
or provide any form of assistance to any person, firm
or company (except members of the Group) to conduct
any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or
may compete with the business presently carried on
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other
business that may be carried on by any of them from
time to time during the term of the Deed of Non-
Competition, in Hong Kong or the PRC and such other
places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may
conduct or carry on business from time to time, including
but not limited to provision of property management
services and other related services. Details of the Deed
of Non-Competition are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 28 November 2017.
In order to ensure that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with the Deed of Non-Competition, the
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed
the status of compliance by way of confirmation by
individual Controlling Shareholder and confirmed that
the Controlling Shareholders have complied with all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition for
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit for the year ended 31
December 2022 amounted to approximately RMB1.8
million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheung Kam Mei (“Ms. Cheung”) was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company on 1 May
2019. Mr. Cai Yufei ("Mr. Cai”) was appointed as joint
company secretary of the Company on 1 July 2022. The
biographical details of Ms. Cheung and Mr. Cai are set
out under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
Ms. Cheung and Mr. Cai have complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide
an opportunity for communication between the
Shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting
of the Company shall be held in each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").

— Right to convene extraordinary general

meeting

Any one or more members holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition sent to the Company’s principal
office as set out in the manner below, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposit it to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business at 4/F, Cheung Hing Industrial Building,
12P Smithfield, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong and
such may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrars in Hong Kong and upon
their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the company secretary of the Company
will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request has been verified is
not in order, the Shareholders will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will not be
convened as requested. If within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to the
requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised
by the requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

— At least 14 clear days’' notice in writing (and
not less than 10 business days) if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
Company;,

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the
Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent
by post to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the
company secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. The Company endeavors to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At annual general meetings,
Directors are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries. The Company discloses information and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the
public in accordance with the Listing Rules, the relevant
laws and regulations.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy is subject to
review by the Board and will be amended as appropriate
to reflect current best practices in communication
with Shareholders and to ensure its effectiveness in
communicating with Shareholders.

There has been no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents since the Listing Date.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information according to the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” (the “Guidelines”)
published by the SFO to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved and the
dissemination of such information is properly made. The
Company regularly reminds the Directors and employees
about due compliance with the Guidelines and all
policies regarding handling and dissemination of inside
information. Also, where applicable, the Company keeps
Directors, senior management and employees appraised
of the latest regulatory updates.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents
of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in
submitting their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is property
management. Details of the principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into
business units based on their services and the Group
has three reportable operating segments which is
engaged in (a) property management services, (b) urban
sanitary services and (c) sublease service from investment
properties. Management monitors the results of the
Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Details of the operating segment information of the
Company during the year are set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Since all of the Group’s revenue were generated from
providing property management services and urban
sanitary services in China and all of the Group’s non-
current assets were located in Mainland China, no
geographical information in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Net proceeds from the Listing (including the exercise of
the over-allotment options on 5 January, 2018), after
deducting the underwriting commission and other
estimated expenses in connection with the Listing which
the Company received amounted to approximately
HK$125.5 million (equivalent to approximately RMB104.9
million), comprising HK$117.9 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB98.6 million) raised from the Listing
and HK$7.6 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6.3
million) from the issue of shares pursuant to the exercise
of the over-allotment options, respectively.
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As at 31 December 2022, the net proceeds from the
Listing were utilized as follows:

MR2022912A831H » EdFR
BRI

78 £k

= 3K

HAEBCDE

Planned use Proceeds
Use of proceeds FeREAR of proceeds Used Balances
R8s E BEEHR
T8 AR RS RIE i ek
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAET BEET BEET
Horizontal expansion by FRWE  RESET
acquisition, investment or 5 AR EEIRRA
forming business alliance AP R SR R ETTOK
with property management TR
companies in the markets 42.7 42.7 —
Vertical expansion of both RMEEBITENESE
industry chain and supply Rt ETTA A
chain in the property ERE
management industry 29.8 29.8 —
The development of M EMB R R
information technology
system 19.8 19.8 —
Recruitment of talent and BEATREBEIEI R
implementation of training Rt &
and recruitment programs 16.3 16.3 —
Repayment of bank borrowings 1& & R 17T & & 5.0 5.0 .
General working capital —REEE® 11.9 11.9 .
125.5 125.5 —

As of the date of this annual report, the net proceeds
from the Listing has been fully utilized and there was no
change to the Group’s plan of use of proceeds as stated
in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 November
2017.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December
2022 and the state of affairs of the Group and of the
Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 172 to 175 respectively.

The Board recommends the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.01 per Share for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “2022 Final Dividend"”) with
a sum of approximately HK$4.1 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB3.5 million which is subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2022 annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday,
12 June 2023 (the “AGM"). The 2022 Final Dividend, if
approved, will be distributed on or about Tuesday, 18
July 2023 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Monday, 26 June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 78 to 81 and 82 to 94
respectively of this Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Relationship is the fundamental of business. The Group
fully understands this principle and thus maintains close
relationship with the customers to fulfil their immediate
and long-term need.

All of our full-time employees are paid a fixed salary
and may be granted other allowances, based on their
positions. In addition, discretionary bonuses may also
be awarded to our employees based on the employee’s
performance. We conduct regular performance appraisals
to ensure that our employees receive feedback on their
performances.

Our major suppliers are primarily sub-contractors for
our property and management services. The Group is
dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers
and sub-contractors as long-term business partners to
ensure stability of the Group’s business.
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POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
FACING THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be
other risks and uncertainties which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

The Group constantly faces the challenge of responding
promptly to market changes within the industry
sectors it operates in. Any failure to interpret market
trends properly and adapt its strategy to such changes
accordingly, as well as termination or non-renewal of
our services contracts of property management and
urban sanitary could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial position and results of
operations.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the financial position of
the Group as at that date are set out on pages 72 to 75.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 7 June 2023 to Monday, 12 June 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the above meeting, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
6 June 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Subject to the approval of the proposed 2022 Final
Dividend from the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 21 June 2023
to Monday, 26 June 2023, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered for
ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
2022 Final Dividend. In order to qualify for the proposed
2022 Final Dividend, all transfer of Shares, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 June 2023.

SUMMARY OF 5 YEARS’ FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published consolidated results and of
the assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the 5
years ended 31 December 2022 is set out on page 312.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings of the Company during the year are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding
of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
and of the Group during the year are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders.
As a general policy, given the current growth of the
Company, it is the intention of the Company to declare
no more than 30% of the net profit as dividend each
year. However, the actual amount of dividends declared
and paid (if any) will depend on the results of our
operation, cash flows, financial position, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends,
future prospects, and other factors that we may consider
relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend
is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and
any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the
approval of the shareholders.

Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the constitutional documents, which indicate that
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits,
realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside
form profits which the Directors determine is no longer
needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of the share
premium account or any other fund or account which
can be authorised for this purpose in accordance with
the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount
will be declared or distributed in any years.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had distributable
reserves of approximately RMB280.2 million (2021:
RMB280.3 million) calculated in accordance with
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
This includes the Company’s share premium account
of approximately RMB147.5 million (2021: RMB159.7
million) which is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and
when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
The share premium account may also be distributed in
the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Period, sales to the Group’s 5 largest customers
accounted for approximately 22.4% of the total sales for
the year and the sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted to approximately 8.7%.

Purchases from the Group’s 5 largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 37.8% of the total purchases for the
year and the purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 12.3%.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associate(s)
or any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s 5 largest customers or 5 largest
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Xingtao (Chairman)

Mr. Fu Qichang

Mr. Xiao Yugiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wang Hui

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yongjun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Dong

Mr. Weng Guogiang

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Fu Qichang, Mr. Xiao Yugiao and Mr. Zhang Yongjun
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his independence of the Company and
the Company considers each of them to be independent
in accordance with the guidelines of assessing
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 95 to
108 of the annual report.

1 38 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

=2
AEEREEABREAMIEZESWT:

HITES
HEBLEEE)
BEESEE

BT BRETTHAAE)
FEXL

FEITES
REERE

BAFATES
BREE
SEmELE
HFERLE

REARGDEAGERMAR  BEEXE B
FTHREERREELEBRERERRBEFK
SLERE ERFTAEBLBERERERK
REFAGLBEBE-

CRBURATESTSAHEERANARA
MBI - NRRRIE AR B F3 3G
FOBYEFGES RARFEEEHAB
BT e

EEREREEEBERESER

REBEENSAEEB 2 BRABIHNE
R EISE108H °



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of service contracts of the executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive Directors are
set out under the section headed “Appointment and
Re-election of Directors” of the Corporate Governance
Report.

No Director proposed to have a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within 1 year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
transactions” and in the related party transactions as set
out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance, to
which the Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year. There are
no transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries and a Controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year. During the year, no
transactions, arrangements and contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Group by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries were made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
the Directors, the secretary and other officers of the
Company are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices or trusts, to the extent as permitted by
laws. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company during the Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors in
the Shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for securities
transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
were as follows:

EEEHEE

EERNEAQFAREMEABEE KRG
HEROREREBZ2EERAXR

M2022F12 A31H - EEH R AR A) 3k E A8 B
ZE(EEBHFRBERAEXVE) 2RO K
HEROHFEEQARBESRBAEBKRMNE

XVEBETR8D MBI AR T KB R T2 #Ea=
(BEERBEBESFLRBERICZERES
WEEIERIEZAZERZRAR)  3(b)
AR ARBES KB EKOE3I2EHEEFT
EvExCMzER HQOEBERE ETEITA
%%Lﬁ%ﬁ 2 MRS A (R £E<F A1)

BAARNFIRBRZERZAT

Number of issued

ordinary/underlying Percentage
Director Nature of interests Shares held of interest
FEeRTER

=S EaME HEROHA FriEEEBE DL
Mr. Xiao Xingtao Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%

person; interest of controlled

corporation®
B R LA A%*Aiﬁﬁﬁﬁm%é:

ZHEE RO

Mr. Fu Qichang Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%

person; interest of controlled
corporation®

BHEE %4 HP—AtTHEBEMER:
REHEEERO
Notes:

Q) As at 31 December 2022, 302,634,000 shares were held by
Partner Summit, a company incorporated in BVI which is owned
as to 87% by Vital Kingdom, 10% by Source Forth and 3% by
Pine Fortune. Each of Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu owns the entire issued
share capital of Vital Kingdom and Source Forth respectively.
Thus, both Mr. Xiao and Mr. Fu were deemed to be interested in
302,634,000 Shares.

(2)  All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
Shares.

(1) R2022F12A31B 6 (—HMRAEBERAESH
MK sz 2 A &) # H302,634,0001 % 15 - B3z
RIEEMEES7T%RE - BARBHAB10% K% LA
MEEMERI%RE HEILERBLTENFES
EEMREBMEDBCHITRAEA - Al HEEREB
% 4 A8 A T2302,634,000 B ID A RERS o

2 EXBRBEzZHERzHRARMHZIER -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors, or their associate(s) had any interests
or short positions in the shares or debt securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which
the Directors are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were the rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to date of this
report, no Director of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is considered to have an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, pursuant to
the Listing Rules, other than those business of which the
Directors of the Company were appointed as Directors to
represent the interest of the Company and/or the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15
November 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing
Date. No share option under the Share Option Scheme
(the “Option”) has been granted since the adoption of
the Share Option Scheme and therefore, there was no
outstanding Option as at 31 December 2022 and no
Option was exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the
Period.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set
out as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant Options to the Eligible Persons (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to our Group.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme
An Eligible Person is any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the
Group, including any executive director, non-
executive director and independent non-executive
director, adviser and consultant of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite
any Eligible Persons to take up Options at a price
calculated in accordance with paragraph (e) below.

(c) Acceptance of an offer of Option

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by each Eligible Person who accepts or
is deemed to have accepted the offer of any Option
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Participant”) when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the Option duly signed by
the Participant with the number of Shares in respect
of which an offer of an Option is accepted clearly
stated therein, together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof, is received by the Company
within 28 days from the date on which an Option is
offered to an Eligible Person.
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(d) Maximum number of Shares available for (d) AR EROEHE LR

subscription

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all Options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes (“Other Schemes”) adopted by the
Group from time to time pursuant to which options
to subscribe for Shares may be granted must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
of the date of listing (i.e. 11 December 2017, the
“Listing Date”) of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
(the "Scheme Mandate Limit”), being 400,000,000
Shares. Options which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes will not be counted for the purpose
of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting, the Company may do one or more
of the following:-

refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit to the
extent that the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all Options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and Other Schemes under the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit must not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of such
Shareholders’ approval, provided that Options
previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and Other Schemes (including those
outstanding, cancelled, exercised or lapsed in
accordance with the terms thereof) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit; and

(i)

(i) grant Options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that Options in excess of the
Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the
Eligible Persons specifically identified by the
Company before such Shareholders’ approval

is sought.
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(e)

(f)
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The total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the
Listing Date.

Basis for determining the exercise price
The subscription price for the Shares subject to the
Options will be a price determined by the Board and
notified to each Participant and shall be the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the Options, which must be a day
on which trading of Shares take place on the Stock
Exchange (“Trading Day"”); (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Trading Days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Maximum number of underlying Shares
comprised in Options to any one Eligible
Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to a
Participant under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% (“1% Individual Limited"”)
of the Shares in issue from time to time. If the
1% Individual Limit will the exceeded, then the
proposed grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders.

If a grant of Options to a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or an independent
non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) will result
in the total number of the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options already granted
and to be granted (including Options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under
the Share Option Scheme or Other Schemes in any
12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or
such other percentage as may from time to time
specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in
issue from time to time, then the proposed grant of
Options must be approved by the Shareholders.

(e)

(f)
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(9)

(h)

Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each Participant, provided that the
period within which the Option must be exercised
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of
the grant of Option.

Minimum period for which an Option
must be held before it can be exercised
Commencing from 1 January 2023, the vesting
period imposed by the Board for Options granted to
Eligible Persons shall be not less than 12 months.

Alteration to Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any
respect by resolution of our Board except that, (a)
any alteration to the advantage of the Participants
or the Eligible Persons (as the case may be) relating
to matters contained in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules; and (b) any material alteration to the terms
and conditions of the Scheme or any change
to the terms of Options granted, except where
the alterations take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the Scheme, shall first be
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
(with the Eligible Persons, the Participants and their
associates abstaining from voting) provided that
if the proposed alteration shall adversely affect
any Options granted or agreed to be granted prior
to the date of alteration, such alteration shall be
further subject to the consent or sanction of the
Participants in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.
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(j) Remaining life of the Share Option

Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Listing
Date, after which period no further Options may
be granted but the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all
other respects and Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

(k) Movements of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme
No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME
The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme (the

“Scheme"”) on 30 August 2018 (the “Adoption Date”).

Summary of the principal terms of the Scheme are as
follow:

(@) The purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to recognize the
contributions by certain Employees and give
incentives thereto in order to motivate them for
the continual operation and development of the
Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

(b) The Participants of the Scheme
Selected Employees (excluding Excluded Employees)
based on their performance, years of service and
other factors as the Board thinks fit and at its sole
discretion.

(c) The total number of Shares available for
issue or subscription under the Scheme
The total number of Shares available for issue or
subscription under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (“Scheme Limit"), i.e. shall not
exceed 40,500,000 Shares, subject to Adjustment.
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d) BU2EEEZFETEZANES

(d) Maximum entitlement of each

T o=

e |

participant under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may
be awarded to a Selected Employee under the
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the number of
Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, subject to
Adjustment.

Vesting period of awards granted under
the Scheme

The Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine any vesting terms or conditions as it sees
fit. To the extent the relevant Award has not lapsed,
the Awarded Shares and the Related Income are to
be vested on the Selected Employee on such date to
be notified by the Board to the Selected Employee.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
award and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

Subject to confirmation by the Company that all
vesting conditions have been fulfilled, Selected
Employes shall duly execute vesting documents
and/or pay the Vesting Expenses within the period
prescribed by the Trustee for the relevant Awarded
Shares, failing which, the relevant part of the Award
made to such Selected Employee shall automatically
lapse immediately.

The basis of determining the purchase
price of the Shares awarded

In order to incentivize the Employees and retain and
attract talents, no purchase price of the Awarded
Shares shall be payable by the Selected Employees.
Purchase price would be paid out of cash paid by
the Company.
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(h) The duration and remaining life of the

Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
commencing on the Adoption Date and ending
on the expiry of the trust period, which is 31 May
2022, provided that no contribution to the Trust
Fund would be made by the Company on or after
31 May 2020.

“"Adoption
Date”

“Adjustment”

“Award”

“Awarded
Shares”

“Employee(s)”

means 30 August 2018, being the date
on which the Scheme was adopted by
the Board;

means adjustment in the case of any
conversion of any or all of the Shares in
issue at the time into a larger or smaller
number of Shares in accordance with
section 170(2)(e) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong;

means awards of Shares (together with
Related Income attributable to such
Shares) by the Board to the Selected
Employees pursuant to the Scheme;

means in respect of a Selected Employee,
such number of Shares determined by
the Board and purchased or subscribed
for by the Trustee out of cash paid
by the Company or such number of
Returned Shares awarded by the Board
pursuant to the Scheme;

means any employee, including any
Director of the Group;
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“Excluded
Employee(s)”

“Related
Income”

“Returned
Shares”

“Selected
Employee(s)”

“"Trust”

means any Employee who is resident
in a place where (i) the award of the
Awarded Shares and/or the award of
the Returned Shares and/or vesting or
transfer of Shares pursuant to the terms
of the Scheme is not permitted under
the laws and/or regulations of such
place; or (ii) where in the view of the
Board, compliance with applicable laws
and/or regulations in such place make it
necessary or expedient to exclude such
Employee, in each case as determined by
the Board in it absolute discretion;

means all income derived from a Share
held upon the Trust in the form of
Shares (including but not limited to the
Shares purchased by the Trustee out
of cash income, any bonus Shares and
scrip Shares received in respect of the
Share held upon the Trust and for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding any nil-
paid right, bonus warrant, non-cash and
non-scrip distribution or proceeds of sale
of the same or residual cash remining in
the Trust Fund);

means such Awarded Shares and their
Related Income which are not vested
in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme, or were forfeited in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme, or such
Shares being deemed to be Returned
Shares;

means Employee(s) selected by the Board
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme for
participation in the Scheme;

means the trust constituted by the Trust
Deed;
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“Trust Deed”

“Trust Fund”

“Trustee”

“Vesting
Expenses”

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

means he trust deed dated 30 August
2018 entered into between the
Company and the Trusted (as restated,
supplemented and amended);

means all properties held or deemed to
be held upon the trust of the Trust Deed,

means the trustee appointed by the
Company for the purpose of the Trust
from time to time;

means all transfer fees, taxes, social
security contributions and other levies
associated with the vesting, release or
transfer of the relevant Awarded Shares
and Related Income in accordance with
the instructions set out in a Selected
Employee’s election form.

During the year 2019, the trustee of the Scheme,
pursuant to the terms of the rules and trust deed
of the Scheme, purchased on the Stock Exchange a
total of 8,218,000 Shares at a total consideration of
approximately HK$20.0 million. As at 31 December 2022,
no Shares were awarded to any Director or employee
of the Company under the Scheme. The Scheme was
terminated on 30 August 2022 according to the terms of

the Scheme.

EEEHEE

MERERK] HBARFEXFEAN2018FS8
HA30EZRATMERRN(KE
at - AEET)

fEREEE] HREBEEARNVWZERARFS
IWERFENRETE:

BN BEARRRABERERBENM
RENEFEAN:

(FEEA] EREBEEEEBEEEXREF

5 B0 B EEDR
PRAER AN EE - %%
REBEANFAERE
BE - HEREHMRAEL
Bt o

R2019%F » Z &t &l 5 AR B Z 51 2R A E
REETZERBERFINERELN200HE
BT EEE A $8,218,0000% A% 15 © 732022412
A318 BB EZTERARREMES
FEEHRDKD - 5T 82 1K20229F8H30
AR IE % 5T 8GR AL Lk -

SETHREERARAR £52022151




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

Summary of the grant of awards are as follows. As the
vesting conditions were not met, none of the awards
were vested on the Selected Employees.

Name of grantees and a description of each of
the categories of grantees

On 12 April 2021, the Board (including all independent
non-executive Directors), based on the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company,
awarded an aggregate of 6,574,000 Shares to 17
Selected Employes.

The details of the 17 Selected Employees and the number
of Shares awarded to them are as follows:

(i)  Two Directors

Xiao Yugiao ( H ¥ & ) ("Mr Xiao"), executive
Director and chief executive officer, who was

granted 954,000 Shares, representing 0.24% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

Jia Shaojun (E A EF) (“Mr Jia"), executive director,
who was granted a total of 772,000 Shares,
representing 0.19% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Mr Jia resigned as Director effective
from 1 July 2022 and the 772,000 Shares awarded
to him lapsed.

15 other Employees

They were granted a total of 4,848,000 Shares,
representing 1.20% of the issued share capital of
the Company.

The Company further reserved 1,644,000 Shares,
representing 0.41% of the issued share capital of
the Company, to the said 17 Selected Employees, if
they outperform the vesting conditions, and further
new Selected Employees who may meet the vesting
conditions. The vesting conditions would be determined
by the Board after the annual result of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was announced.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
12 April 2021 for details.
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The vesting conditions, including performance target, are
as follows:

The net profit of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 would increase to RMB87.38 million.

In addition, the Selected Employees shall meet their
individual performance targets set by the business units
of which they are responsible for, which included a
certain percentage increase in profit as compared with
that for the year ended 31 December 2018.

None of the Selected Employees met the vesting
conditions. Therefore, the Shares awarded and reserved
for them were not vested on them and the Awards
lapsed.

Number of unvested awards at the beginning of
the Period and at the end of the Period

Number of unvested Awards at the beginning of the
Period: 6,574,000 Shares

Number of unvested awards at the end of the Period:
5,802,000 Shares (as one of the Selected Employees, Mr
Jia, resigned during the Period)

Awards

No Shares were vested on any of the Selected Employees
after the grant on 12 April 2021 as the vesting conditions
determined by the Board based on the annual result of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the individual performance targets of the Selected
Employees were not met.

Vesting period of the Awarded Shares
From 12 April 2021 to 31 March 2023, being the date of

the announcement of the annual result of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Purchase price

As the purpose of the Scheme is to incentivize the
Employees and to retain and attract talents, no purchase
price would be payable by the Selected Employees if they
met the vesting conditions.

Closing price of the Shares immediately before
the date on which the Awards were granted

HK$1.77 per Share as at 9 April 2021

Fair value of the Awards at the date of grant, i.e.
12 April 2021

Please refer to note 33 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the Awards granted during the Period
No Award was granted during the Period

Particulars of the Awards granted after the Period
No Award was granted after the Period

Number of Awards vested during the Period,
purchase price and the weighted average closing
price of the Shares immediately before the
dates on which the awards were vested to each
Director, five highest paid individuals and other
Selected Employees

As the vesting conditions determined by the Board based
on the annual result of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the individual performance
targets were not met, no Shares were vested on any of
the Selected Employees during or after the Period.

Number of awards cancelled during the Period
for each Director, five highest paid individuals

and other Selected Employees

NA
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Number of awards lapsed during the Period for
each Director, five highest paid individuals and
other Selected Employees

As no vesting conditions were met and Mr Jia resigned
during the Period, all of the 6,574,000 Shares awarded
to the Selected Employees lapsed.

Number of awards available for grant under the
scheme mandate at the beginning and the end of
the Period

At the beginning of the Period: 40,500,000 Shares.

At the end of the Period: None (as the duration of the
Scheme ended on the expiry of the trust period, which is
31 May 2022)

Number of Shares that may be issued or vested
in respect of options and awards granted under
all schemes of the Company during the Period
divided by the weighted average number of
Shares of the relevant class in issue for the Period

As Mr Jia resigned as Director effective from 1 July 2022,
the number of Shares purchased by the Company that
may be vested on the Selected Employees in respect of
the awards granted under all schemes of the Company
during the Period was 5,802,000 Shares, representing
1.43 % of the issued Shares of the Company during the
Period.
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Material matters relating to the Scheme
that were reviewed and/or approved by the
Remuneration Committee during the Period

During and after the Period, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the terms of the Scheme, vesting
conditions and the financial performance of the Group
and approved such vesting conditions. As the vesting
conditions were not met by the Selected Employees, no
Shares were vested on any of the Selected Employees.

The Remuneration Committee considered that the vesting
conditions align with the interests of the Company. The
requirements of the vesting conditions represent a 333%
increase in net profit of the Company as compared to
the net profit of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018.

No voting rights to be exercised by the Trustee

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Trustee shall not exercise
the voting rights in respect of any Shares held under the
Trust, including but not limited to the Awarded Shares,
further Shares acquired out of the income derived
therefrom and the Returned Shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRE

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other 720224128318 * M FA T (BEEKBRINRAK
than the Directors) had interest in the Shares and the RFRIKRMDEEBEROTHBQZEREZEFK
underlying shares of the Company which (a) would fall HAE KA EXVEEFE2 K37 MM AR A KR
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange FTi#BTE2# s (b)) BERAREBEHRRHBE
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or kBl %E336(RMEFE 2B LML

(b) were required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to

be entered in the register referred to therein:

Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
FrisE #17
E&/HERG P 46 18 22
RREBHA EmtE 2B Bak
Partner Summit Beneficial owner 302,634,000 74.72%
am ERBEAA
Vital Kingdom Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
=1 BE—ATHRAFANESZ
REGEZE#ER
Source Forth Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
R BE—ATHRAFANESZ
REGEZE#ER
Pine Fortune Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
= BE-ATHAFENER:
REGEZEER
Mr. Chen Interest held jointly with another 302,634,000 74.72%
person; interest of controlled
corporation®@
R4 BE—ATHRAFANESZ

Rt EE#EE
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Number of
issued ordinary/
underlying Percentage
Name of shareholders Nature of interests shares held of interest
Fiise &7
E8/HER G Pt 4 %€ 25
RREB HA EzmME A BAk
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
("S.L.")
S.I. Infrastructure Holdings Limited XEHEEERY
(Is.1.1)
Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited  Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Shanghai Industrial”)
FBREFEERERRAT REHEBERZS
(WS- 4)
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(Holdings) Company Limited
(“Shanghai Industrial Investment")
FBEX(EB)ERAT REHEBERZS
(TEBEXE]
Shanghai Industrial Investment Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
Treasury Company Limited
(“Shanghai Treasury”)
Shanghai Industrial Investment XEHEEERS
Treasury Company Limited
([Shanghai Treasury])
Shanghai Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Shanghai Investment”)
R EBRRERAR REHEBERS
([EBKRE]D
Sure Advance Holdings Limited Beneficial owners® 30,000,000 7.50%
(“Sure Advance"”)
BRERERLA(TRERE] ERBEAAG
Notes: B 5

(1) All the interests stated below represent long positions in the (1)
shares of the Company.
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(2) As at 31 December 2022, 302,634,000 Shares were held by
Partner Summit, which is owned as to 87% by Vital Kingdom,
10% by Source Forth and 3% by Pine Fortune. Mr. Chen owns
the entire issued share capital of Pine Fortune. Therefore, Mr.
Chen, Pine Fortune, Vital Kingdom and Source Forth were
deemed to be interested in 302,024,000 shares.

(3) Information is extracted from the corporate substantial
shareholder notices filed by S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai
Industrial Investment, Shanghai Treasury, Shanghai Investment
and Sure Advance on 11 December 2017. Shanghai Industrial
Investment directly holds 100% of the issued share capital of
Shanghai Treasury, which in turn holds 100% of the issued
share capital of Shanghai Investment, which in turn holds
47.77% of the issued share capital of Shanghai Industrial,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of S.I.,
which in turn holds 100% of the issued share capital of Sure
Advance. Therefore, S.I., Shanghai Industrial, Shanghai Industrial
Investment, Shanghai Treasury and Shanghai Investment are
taken to be interested in the number of Shares held by Sure
Advance pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there
was no person who (i) had an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which (a) would fall to be disclosed to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO; or (b) were required, pursuant to section
336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (ii) were, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying the right to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of the Company or any options in
respect of such capital.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group
are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements under “Employee benefits” on page 233.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of significant events occurring after the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
percentage of the ordinary shares in public hands exceed
25% as at the date of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Set out below are the details of the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions
of the Company as required to be reported under the
Listing Rules.

Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions and have confirmed that the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and are in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

During the period, all of the continuing connected
transactions are fully exempted from reporting, annual
review, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. The related
party transactions as disclosed in note 39 fall under
the scope of connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules but are fully exempted from
reporting, annual review, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as stated
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Further information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report contained in this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
COMPANIES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. In response to specific enquiry made by the
Company, each of the Directors confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to maintaining
sustainable working practices and pays close attention to
ensure all resources are efficiently utilized.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Period, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operations of our
Group.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION
During the Period, the Group did not have any material
litigation or arbitration.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE PERIOD

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries or associates during the Period.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT TO THE PERIOD

The Group does not have any material subsequent event
after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.

The Group will continue to pay attention to the
development of the coronavirus situation and evaluate
the impact on the financial position and operation of
the Group. As of the issue date of this annual report, no
significant adverse impact has been identified.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in accordance with the requirements of the
CG Code, for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. Currently the audit committee
comprises the 3 independent non-executive Directors,
who have reviewed the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by Ernst & Young who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at a fee to be agreed by
the Board.

On behalf of the Board

RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED
Xiao Xingtao

Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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Ernst & Young LK BRI R Tel & 3% +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EARAHEEEEI7IR Fax{&E: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road Koy — 27 ey.com
§j‘ Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report BUBREEMKE

To the shareholders of Riverine China Holdings
Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 172 to 311,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

How our audit

addressed the key HEREXRSENE
Key audit matter BREREE audit matter B 75k
Recoverability of trade B 5 Y IE A
receivables A] Y [B] 1%

As at 31 December 2022,
the carrying amount of
trade receivables was
RMB250,719,000, which
accounted for approximately
43.06% of the current assets
of the Group.

We identified the recoverability
of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of
the balance to the consolidated
financial statements and the
significant judgement exercised
by management in estimating the
expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for trade receivables, including
the existence of disputes,
historical payment records,
forward-looking factors and
any other available information
that may impact the estimated
expected credit losses.

Please refer to notes 3 and
24 to the consolidated
financial statements for
related disclosures.
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B E#43.06% °
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AAEBEEERNEM
Hisrl 5 & £ B A (E
HE K e

ERBEEE F2H
A M RR WM E3IR
24 ©

Our
relation to assessing the
recoverability of trade
receivables included:

procedures in

Obtaining
understanding of
how management
assessed the expected
credit losses for trade

an —

receivables, and
evaluating the key
control relating to
the monitoring of the
recoverability of trade

receivables;

Evaluating and testing
the methodologies and
data or parameters
used by management,
including historical loss
information, forward-
looking factors,
probability of default
and expected loss;

SETHREERARAR £4§2022 165

HEHEESEKR
AJ Y @l IEEE’\J&V“%-

THREEEFWHE
SREWRIBTEE
EBEENATRNUK
TEEHERER
& Uiz 3% T8 AT Uk [B] 14
B 8 4 12 ) 5 BE

AN EEE
PR JIA R BB
2B ERBESR
BHEM  AIEMEE
E ENXRKREH
B8




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

How our audit

addressed the key HEREXRSZSENE
Key audit matter BREREE audit matter B 75k
Recoverability of trade B 5 FE Y E A
receivables A] Y [B] 1%

— Inquiring of — HHEEREEHEF
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management for N BRI E K R
the status of each ERARERER

of the material
trade receivables
past due as at
the year end
and evaluating
explanations from
management
with supporting
evidence;

Executing analytical
review procedures
by analysing
the fluctuations
of significant
outstanding
balances and trade
receivable turnover
days;

Testing, on a sample
basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade
receivables to cash
receipts and the
related supporting
documentation; and

Assessing the adequacy
of the Group’s disclosures
in the consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB RS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yin Guowei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #iFE2022F 12 A31B It EE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARE Tt NG B
REVENUE Uz 5 917,570 885,539
Cost of services provided FT 42 4 AR 7% A AR 6 (787,583) (758,952)
Gross profit EH 129,987 126,587
Other income and gains Hab g A KUk 2= 5 14,340 22,383
Selling and distribution expenses HENEHEAX (21,134) (15,413)
Administrative expenses TEAX (80,771) (70,842)
Other expenses H A B (5.241) (300)
Interest expenses FEFAX 7 (13,676) (4,988)
Share of profits and losses of: EMEATARIEZ
Joint ventures EELE 602 2,749
Associates > 7,725 10,542
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B 5 B & A 6 31,832 70,718
Income tax expense Frigfi A X 10 (7,069) (17,731)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R F 24,763 52,987
Attributable to: ATRA L FEAR:
Owners of the parent ISENCIET RN 12,525 38,590
Non-controlling interests JEE R R 12,238 14,397
24,763 52,987
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE & AR L@ER 12
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BEAEN
OF THE PARENT AR
Basic and diluted (RMB) HAK #8
(AR®) 0.03 0.10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mearEBER

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F AN 24,763 52,987
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hith 2wz (E18)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that BEERHEE TS EFHE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in FEsMEMER
subsequent periods: (B18),/ W
Equity investments designated at fair value 3§ F & A FETA Eith
through other comprehensive (loss)/ 2HE(ER)WHEL
income: RAKRE : (595) 133
Exchange differences: ME 5 =58
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBKH
foreign operations PE 5 =%8 1,650 (955)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that F&f& B T~ E#H H 8
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEERNEMEE
subsequent periods Wa(BE)FHE 1,055 (822)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRNHEMEEME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B HB)(FOBR T 1E) 1,055 (822)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FR2EN =BT
THE YEAR 25,818 52,165
Attributable to: IATA LA :
Owners of the parent [SFNCIEZF=WN 13,580 37,768
Non-controlling interests FEIT A% BE = 12,238 14,397
25,818 52,165
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
¥z AR% Tt NS R
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BEREEB 13 39,931 37,351
Investment properties &Y E 14 159,900 121,900
Right-of-use assets ERESRE 15 10,355 6,586
Goodwill kS 16 25,901 25,901
Finance lease receivables FEY R & E I8 17 41,194 88,169
Other intangible assets EmEEEE 18 37,048 43,938
Investments in joint ventures RELETLERSE 19 28,865 21,883
Investments in associates REEPERE 20 57,981 69,690
Equity investments designated at fair 1§ FE & A FETAEAM
value through other comprehensive FHEKENREREE
income 21 2,302 8,929
Other non-current assets BEmMIERBEE 22 29,375 32,698
Deferred tax assets B IEE E 31 1,550 859
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 434,402 457,904
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 23 82 129
Trade receivables 25 EWFIE 24 250,719 190,265
Prepayments and other receivables TEAN RIE K& EAth
J& W K 3R 25 132,054 91,287
Restricted bank balances X PRI R 17 45 5 26 22,315 22,424
Finance lease receivables Rl R & E IR 17 5,295 10,900
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFEYD 27 171,818 177,764
Total current assets MEBEERLE 582,283 492,769
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Trade payables B S EMNNRIE 28 132,227 116,773
Other payables and accruals H A & 1~ R IE K
et &R 29 134,115 122,992
Interest-bearing bank loans and other T BRITER K
borrowings H & 5K 30 155,677 112,694
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 20,965 15,707
Tax payable &~ B 18 16,766 20,517
Total current liabilities mEBERRE 459,750 388,683
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
l?a_; == /\Zl-i%;ljt;ﬂl%% </|\/§\>

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
o3 AR Tt NG R
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 122,533 104,086
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTSAEG
LIABILITIES 556,935 561,990
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EnRBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans and other 3T BRITER K
borrowings H g 30 3,156 4,117
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 169,225 179,072
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHEEE 31 15,074 18,941
Total non-current liabilities R aERE 187,455 202,130
Net assets BEFHE 369,480 359,860
EQUITY &=
Equity attributable to owners of ® 2T A A
the parent EhEm
Share capital fi% 7% 32 3,391 3,391
Reserves B 34 280,206 280,334
283,597 283,725
Non-controlling interests JEVE R R 85,883 76,135
Total equity M= 369,480 359,860
Xiao Xing Tao Fu Qi Chang
EHEE BHE
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERBER

Year ended 31 December 2022 2022412 A318 ILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAARAARL
Fair
value reserve
of financial
assets at
fairvalue ~ Shares held
Share award Exchange  through other  for the share Non-
Share Share Capital Merger Statutory Scheme fluctuation  comprehensive award Retained controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* feserve* income* scheme profits* Total interests equity
ROFEHA
AR2ENEY
(VL] SHEEL BROZRRY
Re  BEEE EAME AHEEr  RREE  GHRR ERRDER  QTERET  BENRS*  REE: 8% FEREE E13:]

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RVB000 RVB000 RVB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AB¥TL  ARMTT  ARSTR  AR¥TR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR

Note 32 Note 34(i Note 34ii Note 34ii) Note 34{iy) Note 33 Note 34{y) Note 33
[E2] it 34() i 34i) i 3 34 B 34) iR Fit340) LiE%H]
A1 January 2021 R01E1R18 3391 163,704 9,466 (3034) 26,55 - 528 (2,100 (17916) 95,176 2845 85,209 333,681
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - - - 38,590 38,590 14397 52,987
Other comprehensive income for the year. ~ EA K 2EHE
Change in fair vlue of equity RATEHALL

investments atfair value through 2EREHRE

other comprehensive income, REATEED

et oftax (BER) = = - - - - - 13 - - 13 - 13

Eichange diference on transationof ~~ BERHEHKH

foreign operations ERZE - - - - - - (955) - - - (955) - (955)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (955) 133 - 38,59 31,768 14397 52,165
Acaquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 1448 1448
Dividends paid to non-controlling

shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - (24939 (24,939
Equity-settled share award scheme

e1penses EURELS - - - - - 1558 - - - - 1558 = 1558
2021 dividend ks S (4,053) = = = = = = S S (4,053) = 4,053)
Transfer fiom retaned profts B2ERTER - - = S 9280 = S S - 9280) - - -
At 31 December 2021 RONENA3NR 3391 159,651 9466 (3034) 35832 1558 [tvi)} (1.974) (17916) 124,486 8375 76,135 359,860
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
mERBREER (&

Year ended 31 December 2022 2202212 A31 B ILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREEARG
Fair
value reserve
of financial
assets at
fair value
Share award Exchange  through other  Shares held Non-
Share Share Capital Merger Statutory Scheme fluctuation comprehensive ~for the share Retained controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* Teserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* income* award scheme* profits* Total interests equity
RATEHA
2h2ENEN
RE&R $REEL BRORMHY
Bx R EE ER0E SHRE EERE PHRE EERERE QVERE  SEORMH REEH &  FERER L5

RMB000 RMB000 RB000 RB000 RB000 RB000 RB00D B0 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RB000 RB000
ARRTR  ARETL  ARMTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARRIR ARETR ARETR ARRSR ARETR ARMTR ARMR

Note 32 Note 34(i Note 34(i) Note 34(ii) Note 34(i) Note 33 Note 340y) Note 33
Hin LRz B WEE) B LEE iRz fis
At 1 January 2022 KNn%IR1e 339 159,651 9,466 (30342) 35,832 1,558 (421) (1.974) (17,916) 124,486 283725 76,135 359,860
Proft for the year EiEH = = = = S = = - - 1255 12505 12,38 24763
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ EAEH2ENE:
Change in fair value of equity RATEAAL

investments at fair value thiough AhEHRER

other comprehensive income, net of £10TERD

tat (BRR) = = = - - - - (595) S - (s95) - (s98)

Exchange difference on transation of BENEEH

foreign operations ERzE - - - - - - 1,650 - - - 1,650 - 1,650
Total comprehensive income for the year  £R2ERELE - - - - - - 1,650 (595) - 12505 13,580 12,038 25818
Divdends paid to non-controling g EERERD

shareholders ks - - - - - - - - - - - (2,490) (2,49)
Equity-ettled share award scheme WEREENRE

expenses L1 - - - - - (1,558) - - - - (1558) - (1558)
Transferof fair valve reserve upon the.~—~ HERATEA

disposalof equity nvestments at fair AprEkEL

value through other comprehensive RERERER

income NTERE - - - - - - - 2550 - (2.550) - - -
2022 dividend WFRE = (12,150) - - - - - - - - (12,150) - (12,150)
Transfer surplus reserve to capital BREEEZRL - - - - (1,929 - - - 5 1925 = = =
Transfer from retained profits BRRRTEN - - - - 1978 - - - - (1978) - - -
At 31 December 2022 R0n%nA3A 339 147,501 9,466 (30342) 35,885 - 123 (19) (17,916) 134408 283597 85,883 369,480

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * M2022F12A310 - ZESRBEEBREEE M BN
RMB280,206,000 in the consolidated statement of financial /RiWE’JmAfE%%}\EﬁZZSO 206,0007T (20214 :
position as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB280,334,000). A R #280,334,0007T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #iFE2022F 12 A31B It EE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
o it AR® Tt NG R
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETBFABHRENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B F AT Y F 31,832 70,718
Adjustments for: AT EIBRIERZ -
Interest expenses PN 7 13,676 4,988
Share of profits and losses of: ERATRARIER
Joint ventures BEMTE (602) (2,749)
Associates B > 2 (7,725) (10,542)
Interest income F B A 5 (6,043) (1,487)
Covid-19-related rent concessions AL THHE R
from lessors SEEHEEHE2
N 15 (10,005) —
Covid-19-related rent concessions to  [A] & A IR 89 ¥ 7
lessees mERBEHEBERES
R 17 8,313 -
Changes in fair value of investment BREMENRAFE
properties g 14 5,241 300
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERZHE
equipment & 13 13,836 13,348
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 15 3,878 3,809
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 18 6,890 7,392
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—HEEhE
&= 5 (6) (12,907)
Equity-settled share award expense NHESEENRD
HEFX 33 (1,558) 1,558
Provision/(reversal) for impairment of & 5 & & 3 I8 il &
trade receivables B (BE) 6 2,809 (643)
Net loss on disposal of items of HEME BEK
property, plant and equipment, REEEEBBEFHE
net 6 74 236
60,610 74,021
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank  Z R &R T4 R 2
balances (2 n) 109 (9,899)
Decrease in inventories FER L 47 94
Increase in trade receivables B 5 W Rk IE N (63,015) (46,224)
Increase in prepayments and other TEATRRIE & E A
receivables & Ui 3K I8 12N (10,879) (17,731)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e RIBIE N 15,454 8,972
Increase in other payables and accruals = & < 7% 18 K f& 51 &
FA #& n 12,932 41,937
Decrease/(increase) in other long-term H b KHAE E R L~
assets (3 1m) 3,323 (6,301)
Cash generated from operations REETEBABFRE 18,581 44,869
Corporate income tax paid ERNEEMEH (15,378) (11,168)
Net cash flows from operating KRETFFREHRERE
activities R 3,203 33,701
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS contlnued

A= Iﬁﬁ}ﬁii

Year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 8318 It EE

/!\/E\ >

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB"000
M it ARE Tt NS R

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/ FROM BEE®S (A7

INVESTING ACTIVITIES Baneg
Purchases of items of property, plant B EWE  BEX

and equipment R1EIEE (16,551) (16,206)
Purchases of intangible assets BABREEE — (473)
Proceeds from disposal of items of LHEME  BWEK

property, plant and equipment REBIBEEMEHRIE 61 293
Dividends received from joint ventures WHR B A & fE% )52

and associates BEPENR S 7,788 3,960
Investments in joint ventures and REEDEREE

associates EMNEK ’ﬁ (9.280) (4,590)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B 8 A &) — (24,437)
Disposal of an associate & — A TE% 302 40,755
Purchase of equity investments at fair B E A A FEFAEAM

value through other comprehensive FHEKENRAEE

income (1,621) —
Disposal of equity investments at fair H &N AFEFA EA

value through other comprehensive FHKENRAREE

income 1,629 —
Receipt of finance lease WE mERE 4,855 1,268
Repayment of deposits EEZS — (15,900)
Redemption of financial assets at fair ~ f& @ ?Tz NFEEEA

value through profit or loss TE S ERE E — 30,312
Advances of loans to joint venture and & & 1> % K Bt & QA

associates % KER (12,110) .
Interest received [ &3] SN 2,052 933
Net cash flows (used in)/ from investing ¥ & & &) (FT ), FT 15

activities BehEFa (22,875) 15,915
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

mERERER (B)

Year ended 31 December 2022 #iFE2022F 12 A31B It EE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
oza AR Tt NG S
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEBAEREAE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans MIRITERK 163,829 118,755
Repayment of bank loans BERFEITER (121,807) (102,014)
Principal portion of lease payment HENROEE B 15 (2,231) (4,583)
Dividends paid to non-controlling XA T IEIE AR AR R Y
shareholders f% & (1,889) (520)
Dividends paid SERE (12,150) (4,053)
Interest paid B A F & (13,676) (4,988)
Net cash flows from financing activities R@ & /ZE IR &K 2 F5 12,076 2,597
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH B2 RIREZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CR ) /48 hn % 58 (7,596) 52,213
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning £#IR & MR & HEY
of year 177,764 126,506
Effect of foreign exchange rate change, [E R & 85 & %5
net 1,650 (955)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRAELBE2SED
END OF YEAR 171,818 177,764
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBeFEDEH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in &R R KA RE D K
the statement of financial position BEEEBW 27 171,818 177,764
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Riverine China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business is located at 14th Floor, Jiushi
Tower, 28 South Zhongshan Road, Shanghai, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the business of property management services in
the PRC.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the
“directors”), the holding company of the Company
is Partner Summit Holdings Limited (the “Parent”)
and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Vital Kingdom Investments Limited (the “Ultimate
parent”), which was established in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The ultimate controlling
shareholders of the Company are Mr. Xiao Xing Tao,
Mr. Fu Qi Chang and Mr. Chen Yao (together the
“Controlling Shareholders”).

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
RAREEEHR

HIFEERBRAR(ARR]DIRE
FEHSRAREZERERSTMMA L
RERRBRAF - AAFIKEMMtE
Bz t#h #iF & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands © = 2 & i B R
FEARIME(HE]) LB FILEEK28
JAEKREILE -

ARAIMENBAR(SEIANEE]) X
PETEREVEREERBES -

ARRER(EFDR B ARFINE
BorBemERARAR (AR
REARBREERRABEHRERR
RA([&ZBRBRA]D) RERBRXE
SE(RBRXBESDKNILNRA - AR
AMRRERERSEREBRE  BH
ExREMRELEE(GRBMERKRR]D -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. R2EAIREEER (&)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries EEMBLAIMNER

AR FEMBRARNFBOT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries

are as follows:

Place and date of

Nominal value of

Percentage of

incorporation/ issued ordinary/  equity attributable
registration and registered  to the Company Principal
Name place of operation share capital AAFEEREEIL  activities
AL/ B0 HY%  BRFTLER/  Direct  Indirect
£ REBREXEH BEEMRANEE ER B TEEH
Sino Ease Global Limited British Virgin Islands Us$100 100% —  Investment holding
16 June 2016
PREREERA A British Virgin Islands 100% T REER
2016564168
Leading Way Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$68,431,000 — 100%  Investment holding Limited
20 May 2016
IREEERAA BB2165F58208  #E%68,431,0007 RERKR
The PRC/ Mainland RMB50,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd.*  China, Shanghai
2 December 2002
FERINERRAT ERY,/ PE L AR% NEERRH
2002F 12428 50,000,0007C
Shanghai Bund Property Co., Ltd.**  The PRC/ Mainland RMB10,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
China, Shanghai
8 April 1996
LENEMERRRA ERY,/ PE e AR% NEERRH
19964 A8H 10,000,0007C
Shanghai Jiu Yi Property The PRC/ Mainland RMBS5,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd.** China, Shanghai
1 April 1996
PBARNEERERAR  PEAH/HELE - AR% NEERRE
199654410 5,000,0007C
Shanghai Bund Green Construction  The PRC/ Mainland RMB500,000 — 100%  Property management services
Co., Ltd.** China, Shanghai
10 August 2004
FEMERRRERAT > REAN/PELE- AR% NEERRK
2004F8A10A 500,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AFAREEER (&)
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries

are as follows: (continued)

FEANBRAANESR (B)
RRRAETEMBRARNFBNT : (8)
Percentage of

Place and date of Nominal value of

incorporation/ issued ordinary/  equity attributable
registration and registered  to the Company Principal
Name place of operation share capital AAFEEEZEAIL  activities
HEMARL/ERHE EROEER/ Direct  Indirect
£ REMREXEYE  EERRANEE E& Mg TEEH
Shanghai Hongji Property The PRC/ Mainland RMB3,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd.** China, Shanghai
18 March 2016
ITRIENEERARRE mERM,/ELEE ARE NEERRHB
20165 3A18H 3,000,0007t
Shanghai Jiegu Technology Co., The PRC/ Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100%  Technology research services
Ltd.*¥* China, Shanghai
3 May 2016
FENARBRARRA e,/ RE S ARE RITH RS
20165 A3H 5,000,0007C
Shanghai Pujiang Ruizheng Property  The PRC/ Mainland RMBS5,000,000 — 100%  Property management services
Co., Ltd.** China, Shanghai
8 January 2004
TRRIRENEERAA mERM,/ELES ARE NEERRY
200451A8H 5,000,0007C
Anhui Pujing Property Management  The PRC/ Mainland RMB6,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Co., Ltd.** China, Hefei
10 May 2017
RHRSNEBRAF R,/ RERE AR% NEERRK
201754108 6,000,0007C
Shanghai Aidepu Trading Co., Ltd.** The PRC/ Mainland RMB200,000 — 100%  Hardware wholesale
China, Shanghai
23 November 2006
FENGERBARAR R,/ LS AR S8
2006511423 200,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries

are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of

1.

Nominal value of

RAREEBER (B

FREMBARNER (&)
ARRMEIBMBLAANFBOT: (8)

Percentage of

incorporation/ issued ordinary/  equity attributable
registration and registered  to the Company Principal
Name place of operation share capital FAREEEZEIL  activities
HMARL/ERHE CROLZER/ Direct  Indirect
£ REHREXLY EBEMRANEE ER& BE FEEH
Shanghai Bund Ke Pu Engineering  The PRC/ Mainland RMB10,000,000 — 97%  Engineering management
Management Company Ltd.** China, Shanghai services
30 November 2004
IENERAIRERER R,/ HE LS AR% IREERH
NG 20045114308 10,000,0007T
Qidong Xingiao Property Co., Ltd.** The PRC/ Mainland RMB10,000,000 = 51%  Property management services
China, Jiangsu
15 July 2020
HRABNERRLA hE R,/ BT AR NEERRH
2020%7H15H 10,000,0007T
Nantong PuSheng Intelligent The PRC/ Mainland RMB6,000,000 = 51%  Property management services
Property Co., Ltd ** China, Jiangsu
18 October 2017
EREESENEFRAR Y RENM/REIEK: AR NEERRHE
20174107188 6,000,0007T
Hong Xin Environmental Group Co., The PRC/ Mainland RMB57,240,245 — 51%  Environmental sanitary
Ltd.** China, Fujian services
05 July 2000
AMRZEERRRA mENS/PEER AR REEERSE
2000%7H505H 57,240,2457C
Bengbu Zhi Xin Property Company ~ The PRC/ Mainland RMBS5,000,000 = 58%  Property management services
Limited** China, Anhui
13 September 2004
BEETERNEERAT RN/ PEEY AR NEERRE
2004F9A13A 5,000,0007T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries

are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of Nominal value of

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
AAREBER (B

FHEMEBARNER (&)
ARRITEBMBLARNFEOT: (8)

Percentage of

incorporation/ issued ordinary/  equity attributable
registration and registered  to the Company Principal
Name place of operation share capital FAREEEZEAL  activities
AMAYL/EREE  EROEZER/  Direct  Indirect
1 REHREXLY EBERRANEE ER& BE FEEH
Hebei Puhehang Property The PRC/ Mainland RMB5,000,000 — 51%  Property management services
Management Co., Ltd.** China, Hebei
16 March 2021
AABNTNEERERER RE R,/ PR N NEERRY
NG 2021%3H168 5,000,0007C
Shanghai Chenzhao Human The PRC/ Mainland RMB1,000,000 — 100%  Job intermediary activity
Resources Co., Ltd.** China, Shanghai
29 September 2022
LBRBANERERAR R,/ HE S AR% BEFNED
2022494290 1,000,0007T

* Shanghai Pujiang Property Co., Ltd. is registered as a
wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

* These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability

companies under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,

principally affected the

results for the year or

formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of

other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of excessive length.

* LEBIMEERARNDREPBEERE
MK EBEDE

o ZEWBRRDREDEEEIMR LMD
EREERA °

EERR LRI ARENERT
BEREAFERBALABUNAERE

EFEIIERD EERARIHEMD

MEBARZHFBRSREBARITE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 REEXE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain equity investments designed at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
(@) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(¢) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Cowid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative

Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS
41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with
a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the "Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or
a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather
than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of
the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As
there were no contingent assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities within the scope
of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the year,
the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity
from deducting from the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Instead,
an entity recognises the proceeds from, selling
any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit or
loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property plant and
equipment made available for use on or after
1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant
and equipment being available for use, the
amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the
purpose of assessing whether a contract is
onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract. General
and administrative costs do not relate directly
to a contract and are excluded unless they
are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at 1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts
were identified. Therefore, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
(d) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
sets out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
[llustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16,
and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that
are applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the
fees that an entity includes when assessing
whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there
was no modification or exchange of the
Group's financial liabilities during the year,
the amendment did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the
Group.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

23 EHEMEHKRERNEBY B R

HER (#)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor ERUBRLENE0RR REZLABERTALERTZ

HKAS 28 (2011) and ts Associate or Joint Venture? BE G ENE8T EENEZNE
(201%) (BT %)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback? ERUBREENE6R EAHOYHHERR
CHEY)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' ERUNBRREENETE  REAY
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts's %PEW %%%EEEW%W% RELH
H
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKERS 9 - ERUBREENETR AABAEEIBHEENE S
Comparative Information® (B35 REBOBHEENZGR— T
HEEHS
Amendments to HKAS 1 Clssification of Liabilties as Current or Nom current EBQHERNSIR (BIR) BEAEARGAARE (200E
(the *2020 Amendments”)%* BETA )
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 BREHRADE (BN WEZintidbe
Amendments’ ) (2022 5T 7))

ERGHRARBRERY QAR AT
BREENEHRER

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosture of Accounting Policies!

bACHES)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' BERGHENZCR(ENR) 2o/ lER
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising ERe T EAENR HE-RGELIKERBERH
froma Single Transaction' (CHE) HELHE

M2023F 1 ARk 2 AB N FEHBEER

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 L
January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 R2024F 1 AVB S 2 & 168 F BB AE
January 2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available 3 R EMBBEAREE BRI HEKA

for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective 4 Z2022F BRI A E - 2020F 5 ] AW &£

date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. In addition,
as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion.

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS
39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning
before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS
17
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes
a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting
for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

23 EHEMEHKRERNEBY B R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements. In respect of
sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate,
the Group will develop an accounting policy for
such transactions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in
particular the determination over whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA
issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments
require additional disclosures by an entity that
classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement
of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

23 EHEMEHKRERNEBY B R

HER (#)

A = A

ERGHERFEIREBITRNEESHE
E/)‘L@J&;E/}IL@J/*/%}' %{E%*E#J//IL@
SRR TE LERETEBRES
ERRBEENBEECEEMEHEED
REA - BENSEATZERBTFER
EEREEREEEMNNITEENTE -
ZBINTEBEHERAEEBAENER
5A2022¢ BB M AEEMT2022
FEAA NE— P BBEERLHE
EHNEBERET REERBMERTES
HESCAIBETHREST G EZAR
DEETRIKIERE o b - 20225 &
EIAHE  WERAEENRESHEI2E
AREEBEEZSTAGBE MZEBEAEEL
f?%%ﬁ**ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ$WMﬁ%v%§
REHEENBEIERIERDERE -
Eﬁw{?aTﬁ’é2024¢1ﬂ1EIJZZ&E%WSE’\J
FEHRAR WEBPHER - £ F1R
B IRPEA2020F BT ANETE
AR EFA02FEFTR R2ZIA -
AEBEEBREETHZFEIANTE
UERBEERBERERTEMBE] - BRI
MEF L ZBTAERETSEHAEE
MV BRRENEANERTE -

I ku@

I\

o

SETHREERARAR £4§2022 195




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EEMEERERNE B UK R

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to
HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application
is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting
the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of
the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate
at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier
application is permitted.

The Group has recognised temporary differences
relating to right-of-use of assets and lease liabilities
on a net basis. Upon initial application of these
amendments, the Group will recognise deferred
tax for all temporary differences related to leases
at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented. During the year, the Group has
performed a detailed assessment on the impact
of amendments to HKAS 12. The Group has
estimated that it will recognise a deferred tax
asset of RMB47,548,000 for deductible temporary
differences associated with lease liabilities and a
deferred tax liability of RMB53,424,000 for taxable
temporary differences associated with right-of-use
assets, and recognise the cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments as an adjustment
to retained profits at 1 January 2022.
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IR U B E R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R 2R MY

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXEFGHEME
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint REMELEREGELENRE
ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a HECEREASEERE—RKRTIRN
long term interest of generally not less than 20% 20% R AN 3% = TEZEHH% mAAREEH
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a HAfIEEAFENNER -ERATE

position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

joint venture.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures are stated in the consolidated statements
of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates or joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates and joint
ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss
of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwiill
(continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

When the Group acquires a business,

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwiill
(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXRETFBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in
the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, investment properties and non-
current assets), the asset’'s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@ the party is a person or a close member of

that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXREGHEBRE(HE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued) BEA (&)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the by BERAALRFTETIEMEHZE
following conditions applies: 2 :

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of () ZEBEASEBR %
the same group; Z KB RATF]

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture (i REBAESEBESES—E
of the other entity (or of a parent, BERA - WEBARKRAR
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the MEBAA) B ERPEREE
other entity); X

(i) the entity and the Group are joint (i) ZEREAEEBAER —F=
ventures of the same third party; ARZEERE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third vy REBAFE=ZFBEB 2%
entity and the other entity is an associate ¥ ME—EBEBRE=ZFE
of the third entity; B EDE

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit V), ZEBRASENELAEE .
plan for the benefit of employees of EFHRECEBREEN=
either the Group or an entity related to N2 BEBER A E S
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly (i) ZEBX@FFEREATZEH
controlled by a person identified in (a); s R H

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant Vi) R@OMEEALTHZERS
influence over the entity or is a member BAYEBNABEBZEB(HZ
of the key management personnel of the ERBZERRDZEEER
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and K8 &

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group (vii) B - K —AEBEZEMAKE
of which it is a part, provides key AR EEZz—HBD)AAEE
management personnel services to the IAEB AR REHIEE
Group or to the parent of the Group. BEEREABRS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

16.67% 10 33.33%
19% to 33.33%
9.5% to0 31.67%
9.5% to 31.67%

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building
under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interest in the leasehold
properties held as right-of-use assets which would
otherwise meet the definition of investment
properties held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of investment properties are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.
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IR U B E R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R 2R MY

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXRETFBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(continued)

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 3 to 5
years.

Customer relationship

Client relationship has an amortisation period of
nine years based on estimated beneficial period
considering industry experience, customer retention
rate and others.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project
and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXAETHHEME )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) BE (&)
Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREABEAGE)
(@) Right-of-use assets (@) FAEELEE

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises
Plant and equipment

2 to 5 years
3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a

made.

modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in
the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease
payments and related payments (including the initial
direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the
lease is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return
over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a
sublease is classified as a finance lease or operating
lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-
term lease to which the Group applies the on-
balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

24 EXERBEBEE)

RERHMEBMEE (8)
NEEABEFTEE)

NEHEREREEIRDRARERE
ENARHNRERERE  ARAKEE
BoRMEENEBERN -RAKEBSE
RNERE AR D ) E 5 BRI N &
EECETERRERABTEREER
MEMARBOZENRBFREI KE
BERNZEAFEFESREE  We
MEEYIFEAFEFARRZ  BNL
RPUA - A ARBEERNBEHKE D
MEZREFEXAEECETERE
H 5 B &Y 8 ISR IR K AR TS 3 [ a8 7 R
FIT 88 R AR I8 & 8 B 7% 3R 5 2B RI B 1557
BENRHERTE -

RETHEERBHERARIZ A FER
AR E2EWEETHIBNGE  FE
A BL R B B R AR AR BN AR ([ A
ABNRDWRERE - REREL I
MERXENFNEREESBAREAF
Bt ABRFE MTAwmEBER -

SETHREERARAR £8£2022215




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement
(continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

J the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXRETFBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
(continued)

e  the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
"pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred assets is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over
the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when

However,

internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables which applies the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Stage T —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that does not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables and interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and
borrowings is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in interest expenses in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on the
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statements
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in administrative expenses in profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to
an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Provision of property management services
Revenue from the provision of property
management services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because
the customer simultaneously receives the benefits
provided by the Group. Like the previous year,
revenue from the lump sum basis are recognised on
a gross basis, and revenue from fixed remuneration
contracts are recognised on a net basis.

Provision of urban sanitary services

Revenue from the provision of urban sanitary
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives the benefits provided by the
Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income arising from operating leases on
investment properties is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including the directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is measured at the market value of the
shares (less subscription price, if any), adjusted for
the exclusion of expected dividends to be received
in the vesting period, further details of which are
given in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the directors may, from
time to time, at its absolute discretion cause to
be paid to the trustee sums of money from the
Company’s resources for the purchase of shares to
be held on trust in accordance with the Scheme
and the trust deed. Such sums of money shall be
applied toward the purchase of the specific number
of shares from the open market according to the
written instructions of the board of directors.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The consideration paid by the trustee for purchasing

the Company’s shares from the market is presented
s “shares held for the share award scheme” and

the amount is deducted from total equity.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.
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IR U B E R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R 2R MY

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 EXRETFBEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled,
it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not
met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding non-vested
ordinary shares is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which
operates in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. This subsidiary
is required to contribute 9% of its payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EXETBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated
outside Mainland China use Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") as their functional currencies, respectively.
The functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries is
RMB. As the Group mainly operates in Mainland
China, RMB is used as the presentation currency
of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as
lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property
leases on its investment property portfolio. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of
the economic life of the commercial property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the commercial property, that it retains substantially
all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the
lease term of contracts with renewal options
The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group
applies judgement in evaluating whether or not to
exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there
is a significant event or change in circumstances
that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to
terminate the lease.

The Group includes the renewal period as part
of the lease term for leases of machinery due to
the significance of these assets to its operations.
These leases have a short non-cancellable period
and there will be a significant negative effect on
production if a replacement is not readily available.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was
RMB25,901,000 (2021: RMB25,901,000). Further
details are given in note 16.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2022 was
RMB66,537,000 (2021: RMB52,132,000). Further
details are contained in note 31 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on invoice date for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
property management services sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative
of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 24 to the financial
statements.
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50 - f BB AR 2 AR TR RS R 2K —
FARBL EAIERYEEE RS
DTHENBEREN  BEENRKER
E-REBEEH BEMNELEEBERE
HRI DMTRTBE MG FT O E o

FRATEREROX FARBMRAIK
EHEEEENEB LA RERMGT -
BHEEBERESHEEREREERR
BHHNEPBRRGE -AKENBER
BB B R R QBN R E R IR S K
REFPRAREBREN BRAKEES
EUEFRENBEHREEERNERNEY
BHRME24HE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets
(including the right-of-use assets) at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued
based on a market-based valuation technique as
detailed in note 41 to the financial statements.
The valuation requires the Group to determine the
comparable public companies (peers) and select
the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes
estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of
these investments as Level 3. The fair value of the
unlisted equity investments at 31 December 2022
was RMB700,000 (2021: RMB6,657,000). Further
details are included in note 21 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Property management services; and

(b) Urban sanitary services; and

(o) Sublease services from investment
properties.

The sublease services from investment properties
segment invests in prime commercial space for its
rental income potential.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that interest income, share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates, non-lease-
related finance costs, other unallocated income and
gains as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating segment is disclosed as it is not regularly
provided to the chief operating decision-maker for
review.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BRESHER (&)

(continued)

Property Urban

management sanitary Sublease
services services services Total
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZ2225128318LLEE NEEBERYE RERBRE BHERE @t

RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR®TR AR¥TR AR%TR

Segment revenue (note 5) 2 WU (M E5)
Service provided to external customers MM % P AR 1 0 R 7% 645,988 264,437 7,145 917,570
Segment results PHEE 63,666 38,686 1,618 103,970
Reconciliation: HE -
Interest income F EMA 2,214
Share of profits and losses of: EUHEUTARES:
Joint ventures RELE 602
Associates BEME 7,725
Other unallocated income and gains Hi R A BRBA R & 8,297
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ¥R EMA D EHF (86,012)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease ~ BAK KA (BEEEBN BB
liabilities) (4,964)
Profit before tax B Bt A1 A 31,832
Property Urban
management sanitary Sublease
services services services Total
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE201F1ANALEE NEEERB RARGRE EHR% Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT ARETR
Segment revenue (note 5) 2 W (M E5)
Service provided to external customers MM % P 4R 1 0 PR 7% 614,106 270,313 1,120 885,539
Segment results PHEE 55,633 54,118 277 110,028
Reconciliation: HE-
Interest income FMEWA 1,105
Share of profits and losses of: A TARES:
Joint ventures RELE 2,749
Associates Berg 10,542
Other unallocated income and gains = N O 21,068
Corporate and other unallocated expenses % & £tk 5 & 5 % (70,932)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease B AR A (R EEEF BB IN
liabilities) (3,842)
Profit before tax B Bt A1 A 70,718

SEITHREERARAR F42022243




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Geographical information

Since all of the Group’s revenue was generated
from providing property management services,
urban sanitary services and sublease services from
investment properties in Mainland China and all
of the Group’s non-current assets were located in
Mainland China, no geographical information in
accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.

Information about major customers

Since none of the Group's sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue, no information about major customers in
accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.

4,

REsHER (@)

EE R
HRAEEMEREHELEERFEA
HIEHMEETERY  BHEBERERSE KX
HEUNEHEERERE  BXAEEME
ERBEEHUNPEANN - RIER
BEBYBMEEUNEISRALL S H=2
HI| i @ & K o

EBEIEEFHEHR
el A7 58 B ) B — 5 M 1O 3 25
)7 o B4R 35 910% S DA £ - R
AR U5 B A IS 5 R B AT £
HEHNEBEFER -

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W#mH=- - HKARKS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: Weas o :
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R
Revenue from contracts with KEEF &G B K
customers
Property management services BRHMEERERY
income on the lump sum basis A 644,227 612,757
Property management services B & %I ) % B I8 AR 1%
income on the fixed N
remuneration basis 1,761 1,349
Urban sanitary services income y IR AR WA 264,437 270,313
Revenue from other sources H il 27 #9475
Gross rental income from sublease REREUEEHHWE®
services from investment EHERBFEE2
properties WA 4Bz 7.145 1,120
917,570 885,539
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz HtbW A RWE (&)

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHMHKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) 2EWKRZESR

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Timing of revenue recognition KSR RS

Services transferred over time BE B R B 5 R
Property management services Mm% E R RS 645,988 614,106
Urban sanitary services ¥, 38 IR 147 AR 75 264,437 270,313
910,425 884,419
The following table shows the amounts of TRINAARHEHEERO W R
revenue recognised in the current reporting T ZEWREARIIERSH
period that were included in the contract ME &4 & &I 5L AT H 5T K
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting WBEAEEESR TAER:

period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Revenue recognised that was ERRBR®EHY
included in contract liabilities at BEIAGRNEEN
the beginning of the reporting W 2
period:
Provision of property management IR EEE RS
services 17,059 5,848
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W#m - HbW A RWE (8

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHANWE (&)
(continued)
(b) Performance obligation (b) BREE
Information about the Group’s performance BRASENBENEETERH M
obligations is summarised below: m
Property management services and urban Y X B IR R WA IR R
sanitary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over BAEEERHEREHRRETK -
time as services are rendered. Management EERBEAAODE —ENENTE
service contracts are for periods of one to HART S - WIRELE A KEETER -
eight years and are billed based on the time
incurred.
The amounts of transaction prices allocated R12A318  "EREHRTEBLOET
to the remaining performance obligations (REREIBATHKINXZERER
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 BT

December are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt NG R

Amounts expected to be recognised B Hi#E 2 & U Z BY

as revenue: E
Within one year —F RN 566,302 663,825
After one year Bil—F 615,705 384,602

1,182,007 1,048,427
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W= HbW A R (&)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b) Performance obligation (continued)

RKEEFEHAHKE (&)

(b) BHEEGE)

Property management services and urban
sanitary services (continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which
are expected to be recognised as revenue
after one year relate to property management
services and urban sanitary services, of which
the performance obligations are to be satisfied
within eight years. All the other amounts of

YEEEREREREGRE (B

EHER —FEREIARKANS
EERTENEENRZERESER
W R\ R E R ) R B IR R
BRBEERBERE - 2EEHRT
BREEINABEEMRXZERES R
BN - FAERAWE - £
NEBENETRL N EREZRG AN

transaction prices allocated to the remaining APERE o
performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The
amounts disclosed above do not include

variable consideration which is constrained.

2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB"000
AR® Tt ARET T
Other income Hi kA
Interest income F B A 2,214 1,105
Government grants* BT 8 B * 6,128 6,217
Interest income from finance lease AR EEWRF S
receivables A 3.829 382
Others H fth 2,163 1,772
14,334 9,476
Gains &=
Gain on disposal of an associate HE ML hE
W = 6 12,907
6 12,907
14,340 22,383
g Government grants include various subsidies e BNEEEAEEEEERAKE

ESWZEME  HMEAM%ZEME
M ARZEKGHRIBER -

received by the Group from the relevant government
bodies. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

BThERRERAT F52022247 .,




IR U B E R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R 2R MY

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PBRBATEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after AEEKRBER G TIME,(GEA) T 5
charging/(crediting): BIHEFH

2022 2021
2022% 2021
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
ok AR TR ARBFT
Cost of services provided FIT 1% £ R 7 BX A< 787,583 758,952
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERRBTE
equipment 13 13,836 13,348
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CHREEERE 15 3,878 3,809
Amortisation of other intangible assets £ ftt £ i/ & 7= # 4 18 6,890 7,392
Research and development costs HEKA 5,676 5,254
Fmployee benefit expense (excluding EERMNAX(TEEE
directors’ and chief executive’s ERFETHAER
remuneration (note 8)): EACET)E
Wages and salaries IEN%H® 246,367 229,549
Pension scheme contributions RINEE G 50,843 46,632
Equity-settled share award scheme DEZEENRR
expenses RETEAX 33 (647) 647
Lease payments not included in the RIAHEEEFEN
measurement of lease liabilities HERMRK 1,249 1,098
Auditor’s remuneration il e 1,750 1,700
Bank charges RITWE 229 183
Office expenses WRAERE 8,019 5,210
Impairment/(reversal) of trade BoRWHIER EfE
receivables and other receivables WFBERE (BE) 24825 2,809 (643)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment, net REBEAESR 74 236
Fair value loss on investment properties REWEHN A FEEE 5,241 300
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—RBEtEKE (6) (12,907)
Interest income FLEW A 5 (2,214) (1,105)
Interest income from finance lease MEMEREKAEWA
receivables 5 (3,829) (382)
Government grants BT 48 B 5 (6,128) (6,217)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
INTEREST EXPENSES 7. MEBEX
An analysis of interest expenses is as follows: MERAZDHWT:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Interest expenses on bank loans and R AT R H A 8 A B X
other borrowings 4,964 3,842
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 8,712 1,146

13,676 4,988
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
8. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIFETHAEMSE

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for BE Em#HEB - FAB QARG F383(1)
the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, @- 0O  OEOBEARRARHEEES
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong FlemERD RO FE2BETEENFARNE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies ERFTETHRAEBNMEHT :

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt N R

Fees we 321 300
Other emoluments: H At B & -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in e ERER
kind EYE R 2,872 3,252
Equity-settled share award scheme NEREENRNG
expenses REEEIA X (911) 911
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFH 8K 186 261
2,147 4,424
2,468 4,724
During the year, the granted equity-settled share FRN - EERLEBEXREETARAGEZ
award shares were forfeited, due to failure to RENNEZEERNBEROEH R
comply with the requirements under the Scheme of W ERE-—FHBHRMBREMT
the Company, further details of which are set out in 33 ¢

note 33 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

8. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFETHAEME (B
REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (d) BIFHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive FAENBIFERTESTNHRES N
directors during the year were as follows: T

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®E Tt N B

Mr. Shu Wa Tung Laurence BFERLE 107 100
Mr. Cheng Dong BRELEE 107 100
Mr. Weng Guogiang SE® %L 107 100

321 300
There were no other emoluments payable FA BEERNTEIYIFNTEENH
to the independent non-executive directors fib B & (20214F : 4&)

during the year (2021: Nil).

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) MITEE - —BHHTEEK
director and the chief executive FETHRAE

Year ended 31 December 2022
BR0ENENALEE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension  settled share
and benefits scheme award scheme Total

Fees inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
HEREEN
e RRE Bike LUE |
g BNREA R g |5 Hedg
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR

Executive directors; HTES:
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao G - 929 - - 929
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BHEEE - 703 - - 703
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao" HYBLEO - 590 113 (503) 200
Mr. Jia Shao Jun® EVERLR - 150 10 (408) (248)
Ms. Wang Hui 184+ - 500 63 - 563
- 2,872 186 (911) 2,147
Non-executive director; EHTES:
Mr. Zhang Yong Jun FREERE - - - - -
- 2,872 186 (911) 2,147
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFEMTHAEME(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) B1TEE - —BHFEHTEER
director and the chief executive FETHAER (B)
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

BEINENANALEE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension settled share
and benefits scheme  award scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions expenses  remuneration
e 2¥RE IEREERR
#e nEH BASHILT HREHEIRX Hegn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TT  AR%Tn  ARETRT  ARETR  AR%TR

Executive directors; HTES:
Mr. Xiao Xing Tao RERRE - 929 - - 929
Mr. Fu Qi Chang BEE%E - 653 - - 653
Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao" BEFE L4 - 590 102 503 1,195
Mr. Jia Shao Jun@ EDERE0 — 580 102 408 1,090
Ms. Wang Hul IE%t - 500 57 - 557
— 3,252 261 911 4,424
Non-executive director; FBnES:
Mr. Zhang Yong Jun FHELE - - - - -
— 3,25 261 M 4424
(1) Mr. Xiao Yu Qiao is also the chief executive of the (1 BYBLEENABERRRIEEITHAR °
Company.
(2)  Mr. Jia Shao Jun resigned as an executive director 2 EBLELAEBOARAIMTESE B
of the Company with effect from 1 July 2022. 2022F7R1RBERK -
There was no arrangement under which a FA BEEANESFTHEEZTHR
director or the chief executive waived or AENELRERNETAE 2D
agreed to waive any remuneration during the 7 o
year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the
year included three directors including the chief
executive (2021: four directors including the chief
executive), details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining two (2021: one) highest
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

TEBE%HESR

FRN IERRFREERE=-REEFLR
TETBRABQIF MEAER(BHE
EmTBAR) RENMEFBHR
EXHEES o FARERT WA (Q021F : —
BIFARBEZTRRSTRABNK
BHEENHFMFBET

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARETF T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %4 2Bt R E WG F 1,363 462
Equity-settled share award scheme NEREE RN

expenses REERAX (38) 38

Pension scheme contributions RKRESFEIHK 113 102

1,438 602

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following band is as follows:

FHNFATHENFEERIERSTT

BABREHEEABMT

Number of employees
&S A ¥

2021
20214

Nil to RMB1,000,000

=z A K ¥1,000,0007T 2 1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the tax
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operate. The Group and the Company
are not liable for income tax in Hong Kong as they
did not have assessable income sourced from Hong
Kong during the year.

The Company is a tax-exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Provision for the PRC income tax has been made at
the applicable income tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%)
on the assessable profits of the PRC subsidiaries.

10. FRIEHREAX

AEBEANEREERAEBEKE QT
Fﬁaiﬂﬁ&i‘“%Fﬁ“&?i%lﬁﬁﬁ?ii
SEENXMABER - AEBRAR
Tﬂ»ﬁﬁ%%ﬁéﬁﬁ %R RAERFA

WEIREEBOERBTIA

ARARRASESEMKRINEHA
—JO

HehRKBEA
T 2=25% (20214F : 25%) #E
TR o

ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂft%%%
ETH BT IS

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®E T N R
Current Mainland China corporate F A BN B AR B A 1 2
income tax charge for the year FT 13 B 2 i 12,236 19,011
(Over-provision)/under-provision BEFE(BEREH)
in prior years BETR (609) 300
Deferred tax (note 31) i 7 T8 (BT 5E31) (4,558) (1,580)
Total tax charge for the year FABEX LA 7,069 17,731
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FIEHBAX(E)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable BEARARRIRERTESMB AR FMAE
to profit before tax at the statutory rate for the ADERE R A TE B X 5T H # R AT &R A P
jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority HRANBERYBEZERBEEAENT
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense BRXEERNAT:

at the effective tax rates is as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt NG S

Profit before tax % B AT i 7 31,832 70,718
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% 1935 F R K250 & H)
i I8 7,958 17,680
Lower tax rates enacted by local = 4 2R P9 B 3 B B (K
authority B K (1,840) (192)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods g &) F3 38 7= HA 9
i 18 B 18 (414) (301)
Profits and losses attributable to joint A KA S TT T A e e
ventures and associates (note (a)) (5 B B B
/. =
(Bt &£ (a)) (2,082) (3,323)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of B MR BN ER R IE A B
previous periods (609) 300
Expenses not deductible for tax ENCIEE A b 1,720 2,460
Tax losses not recognised RIEDFIEE B 2,336 1,107

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  jp KE@mBER M Rt

2RI X H 7,069 17,731
Note: B 5
(@) The share of tax attributable to joint ventures and (@) HZE2022F12A31HILFEE - p &%
associates amounting to RMB2,776,000 for the year ended KB EFIEARY?2,776,0007T (20214 -
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB2,927,000) is included AR#2,927,0007T) - NEtABREERRID
in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures and HEECERBECERR] -

associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

11. DIVIDENDS 1. RE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB"000
ARB Tt NG R
Proposed final — HK1.0 cents (2021: BERABRE — 5K
HK3.5 cents) per ordinary share 38 A% 1.078 1
(20214F : 3.5/ 1lli) 3,545 11,513
3,545 11,513
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject AFEERZERAREALARARARER
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at M BRORRBERG L& -

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. AR EBEERFEAERGER

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF 2R

THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share BREABMNEE DR AR L BRE
amount is based on the profit for the year HFEAABEFRNGEMNEFRNDET
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, 396,782,0000% (20214F : 396,782,000/% )
and the weighted average number of ordinary TR METFIEETE -

shares of 396,782,000 (2021: 396,782,000) in issue
during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary HE202FNANBILEE  "REEY
shares in issue during the year ended 31 December mABTEEDRITEARQ021F &) -

2022 (2021: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BRAIEEBREFAEARLER

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF BF(E)
THE PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per BREARAREERNDIRATEEE -

share are based on:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt N R

Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary equity AR E@EE=EA
holders of the parent FEAE % A 12,525 38,590
Number of shares
iz 47 B B
2021
20214F
Shares % 12
Weighted average number of ordinary AFEEEETEBERDY
shares in issue during the year N RE F 15 8 396,782,000 396,782,000
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARAREBEBARE) 0.03 0.10
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BERR®E

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor
improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles Total

BENX%E RERMSE  KARKE it ait

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
INL SO AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

31 December 2022 2022£12531R

At 1 January 2022: 0251818
Cost A 2,762 11,872 3,025 12,141 90,400
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (1,573) (8,048) (1,979) (41,449) (53,049)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,189 3,824 1,046 31,292 37,351

At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated R02%1718

depreciation NB2:HE 1,189 3,82 1,046 31,292 37,351
Additions NE 101 583 1,566 14,301 16,551
Disposals e - (82) - (53) (135)
Depreciation provided during the year ERTERE (710) (1,584) (658) (10,884) (13,836)
At 31 December 2022, et of R2022%128318 -

accumulated depreciation NRZHHNE 580 2,741 1,954 34,656 39,931
At 31 December 2022: R20225127318:

Cost A 2,863 12,046 4,589 86,046 105,544

Accumulated depreciation ZithE (2,283) (9,305) (2,635) (51,390) (65,613)

Net carrying amount BREFE 580 2,71 1,954 34,656 39,931
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
13. ¥ BEERRXE®E)

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicles Total
BENEEE  BRREE  GAREE B @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn
31 December 2021 20215125318
At 1 January 2021: RONFIE:
Cost WA 3,302 10,549 2,547 60,196 76,594
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (1,324) (6,758) (1,690) (31,800) #1,572)
Net carrying amount FRFE 1978 3,791 857 283% 35,022
At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated 202151818
depreciation Thasing 1978 3,791 857 28,39 35,022
Additions RE 625 1,636 431 13,464 16,206
Disposals & (298) (115) 2) (114) (529)
Depreciation provided during the year ERpERE (1,116) (1,488) (290) (10,454) (13,348)
At 31 December 2021, net of R021%128318
accumulated depreciation NB2:HE 1,189 3,824 1,046 31,92 37,351
At 31 December 2021: R2021%12 8318 :
Cost B 2,762 11,872 3,025 72,741 90,400
Accumulated depreciation Z2ithE (1,573) (8,048) (1,979) (41,449) (53,049)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,189 384 1,046 31,292 37,351

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s
motor vehicles with a net carrying amount
of approximately RMB12,586,000 (2021:
RMB13,592,000) were pledged to secure certain of
the other borrowings (note 30).

2022128318 A& B E@EFEY
A A R #12,586,0007T (20214 : A R #&
13,592,00070) K/ BE E K R 1E B EAb {8
;2 AR (M 5E30) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REYHE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%S Tt NG R
Carrying amount at 1 January MATEREREE 121,900 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries W i BT B A &) — 122,200
Transfer from finance lease receivables FEJ%Z B E &R IE SR 43,241 .

Net loss from a fair value adjustment AFEFABELED

B 18 F (5,241) (300)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12 A31H A ERE A 159,900 121,900

The Group’s investment properties consist of
certain commercial properties in Shanghai. The
directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties consist of one class of asset,
i.e., commercial, based on the nature, characteristic
and risk of the property. The Group's investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2022
based on valuations performed by independent
professionally qualified valuers, at RMB159,900,000.
Each year, the Group’s property manager and the
chief financial officer decide to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuation of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards
are maintained. The Group’s property manager and
the chief financial officer have discussions with the
valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results once a year when the valuation is performed
for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 15 to the financial
statements.

The recurring fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2022 is Level 3 which required significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

14. REWXE (&)
RERN F—RERE_F2EATERF
BfE2E®% NEQATENFEEAES
HEZ -

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair
value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2
and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

ATARRENFEHEGMEMAMGBET X
LEARBABIENHME:

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties:

Range or Range or
weighted weighted
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs average average
REHE BANAHREAYE EERMETY EIEERIE RS
2022 2021
20224 20214
Commercial Discounted Estimated rental value 0.16-0.86 0.16-0.81
properties cash flow method (per sgq.m. and per month)
GliEk/ES BRBEREZE At HERE
(BEAXRKREAH)
Rent growth (p.a.) 3.00% 2.00%
HeRRE(FF)
Long term vacancy rate 8.33% 12.50%
EHEEE
Discount rate 7.00% 7.00%

B .

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value
is estimated using assumptions regarding the
benefits and liabilities of ownership over the asset’s
life including an exit or terminal value. This method
involves the projection of a series of cash flows on
a property interest. A market-derived discount rate
is applied to the projected cash flow in order to
establish the present value of the income stream
associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount
rate.

RERBREGREE RFELRA
EHEESTAMARKRENABNHR
FETH(BERELEEIRKER)
RIESLEYERRN - ERE SR
EMER - MBITANMERERERRNE
AR RENERIEEERBOK
BRMRE RHREXBEREBE
EABRINBEEEK -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

14.

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The duration of the cash flows and the specific
timing of inflows and outflows are determined
by events such as rent reviews, lease renewal and
related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of
property. The periodic cash flow is estimated
as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives,
maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and
other operating and management expenses. The
series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the
end of the projection period, is then discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated
rental value and the market rent growth rate per
annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and
the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties. Generally, a change in
the assumption made for the estimated rental value
is accompanied by a directionally similar change in
the rent growth per annum and the discount rate
and an opposite change in the long term vacancy
rate.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
office premises and plant and equipment. Leases of
office premises generally have lease terms between
2 and 5 years, while plant and equipment have
lease terms of 3 years. Other rental agreements
generally have lease terms of 12 months or less and
are individually of low value.
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14.

15.

BREWRE )
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BWEHNBREE  FAEKER Wi
BX HERB #EEH RIEMNE
TERAMEMKENERERMGE - &
—EEREHRLLEWAFE - EREAR
BAMKRERNRKEERTSE B
HERE -

B HEEEAEBFITEHEHSERE
ERBEEREMORD) BEHEY
ERFENEREMCRD) RHMZ=E
KRB REBHELEEREMORLD) B
BYREVELTFENERRD (GEM) -
—kimE HEAHEEEEFELOHRR
EHeETEFNESEREUALMR
FHBBUSTAES  BEEEHEHRE
EXHBRRTAES -

HE

AEBEEAEBAA
AEBBRSERRE BERKHR
VHEESH  WABHEENTHBEE
NI2ESF - MK ERXREHEER A3
F-oHMHEERZNHEBBEER12@EAR
FERBENAEBEREEE -



15. LEASES (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the
use assets and the movemen
are as follows:

Group's right-of-
ts during the year

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

15. &)
AEBEEREBAA (B)
() ERAEEE
AEEERREENKRAELER
FRFENZEHBEROT:

Office Plant and
premises equipment Total
WA BERRE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTET ARBTR

As at 1 January 2021 M20215181H8 7,099 147 7,246
Additions NE 3,149 = 3,149
Depreciation charge (note 6) I & X (M 7E6) (3,716) (93) (3,809)
As at 31 December 2021 and #2021512A31H

1 January 2022 %2022F1A1H 6,532 54 6,586
Additions NE 7,647 — 7,647
Depreciation charge (note 6) & i (4 526) (3,824) (54) (3,879)
As at 31 December 2022 M2022512A31AH 10,355 — 10,355
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE &)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBEREABEAN (8)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FAHERENREERESHBERET

movements during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

Carrying amount at 1 January R1TATB®RREE 194,779 7,562
New leases Mg 7,647 3,149
Acquisition of subsidiaries g 8% BT B A 7] — 188,651
Accretion of interest recognised FAE RN EEM

during the year 8,712 1,146
Covid-19-related rent concessions A AL TR R

from lessors SEEHRBAE:

Ve (10,005) —

Payments (N (10,943) (5,729)
Carrying amount at 31 December R1I2A3MH/EREE 190,190 194,779
Analysed into: DR

Current B ER 20,965 15,707

Non-current JEENHA 169,225 179,072
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities HEBENDE DR B ® KM 42
is disclosed in note 42 to the financial 5% o
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. A& (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) rEBERABAN (8)
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in () NExAEBEFAN RN
relation to leases are as follows: N

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 8,712 1,146
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ~ FHEZETE X H
assets 3,878 3,809
Expense relating to short-term leases 252 ERFE & RK(EE
and leases of low-value assets EEMEMRBRX 1,249 1,098
Covid-19-related rent concessions to A& A 2 4 89 #T7&
lessees mERBEHEERS
R 8,313 —
Covid-19-related rent concessions HAH A G TR
from lessors SEEHR@EE2
R (10,005) —
Total amount recognised REBRERNEE
in profit or loss 12,147 6,053
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in (d) HEMNBReRLBERERNTB
note 35(c) to the financial statements. ¥R &M FE35() ©
The Group as a lessor TEEEREHEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note AEBRELCE2HELHTHAERE
14) consisting of commercial properties in Shanghai MEME M4 BRELELENERY
under operating lease arrangements. The terms ¥ ZEMENGKR—REKELXN
of the leases generally require the tenants to pay REZ VYAINTHEBEEREERAE
security deposits and provide for periodic rent WS EAARES AEERFARE
adjustments according to the then prevailing REE WA R/ARY7,145,0007T (2021
market conditions. Rental income recognised by the F: AR%1,120,000T) - BEAFBEHR
Group during the year was RMB7,145,000 (2021: BY 75 2k M 5E5 o

RMB1,120,000), details of which are included in
note 5 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE &)
The Group as a lessor (continued) rEBEAHBEA (8)
At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease 7202212 A318 @ N & B 1 K K 5 A&
payments receivable by the Group in future periods BEAEAFPHTAIRBELERER R
under non-cancellable operating leases with its BREMEWEENRET:

tenants are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R

Within one year —F R 11,209 11,719
After one year but within two years —FRERWFEA 7,540 12,209
After two years but within three years MERBEBR=ZFNRN 5,977 8,210
After three years but within four years —FRERERNFA 5,126 6,161
After four years but within five years NFEZEERAEFR 1,675 5,128
After five years hF1& 6,895 8,871

38,422 52,298
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B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

16. GOODWILL 16. &
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB"000
AR Tt NG R
Cost and net carrying amount B AR K BRTEDF (B 25,901 25,901
Impairment testing of goodwill 78R E R B

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Hong Xin Environment Group Co.,
Ltd. cash generating unit (“Hong Xin CGU").

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 19.1% (2021: 19.1%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year
period is 2.3% (2021: 2.5%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use
calculation of the relevant cash-generating units
for 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The
following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market
development.

BHECRAFRBOFER D EER
MEREEEERARR S E LB
MIRGELEEM]) -

HARSELE TN RBIKEEB  BE
R &R E B E &R K RSF B 75 78 8
FriszieneBAlmstE52MER
BEAE BensBAFERNBT
X £19.1% (20214F 1 19.1%) ° F R
BRAFUINHRERERENMERERA
2.3% (20214 : 2.5%)

FFEMEBE S E D E T R2022F12 /31
BE2021F12A31BMERAEEFERT
BRGEH WTHAAEEEREBEER
eREBAETHERBEANABME
REOT—EHERRE:

BEEFE — ARBEEREENXR
ENERSERREFE 2 —F0E
RFYEME > HERREFNERIA
ARIEHOTSER -
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

16. GOODWILL (continued)

16. & (&)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Annual revenue growth rate for the 5-year period
— The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the annual revenue growth rate is the average
annual revenue growth rate achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for
expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

units.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal

EmERENR (&)
BFRHRFUABFRE — BREESF
WAREXRBRENERSEERREFE
A—FERNTPHFRALERE IR
IR TS R MG N -

MAEE — AR E ST AT L R BR
THEETHNRERR -

REERE — BARBRERRDER

RREEEMEY YTHARREE
EEMHERTENRMFYERE -

growth rate is based on senior management’s
expectations and does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
cash-generating unit.

Sensitivity analysis and changes in headroom: BREIINTRHEF

As at 31 December

A12H31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE Tt NS R
Base case: EXBER:
Recoverable amount AR E £ 5 139,534 160,807
Headroom H$HhE 24,514 34,178
Sensitivity test — decrease in BREAIRA —
headroom BRER D
Annual growth rate for 5-year period 54 B F 1 & K OF
decreased by 0.5 percentage point 05EBEH B 20,331 29,428
Pre-tax discount rate increased by 0.5 75t A A 3R 2 38 AN
percentage point 0.5 B 7 2 19,556 28,609
Terminal growth rate decreased by 0.5 B g R R D
percentage point 05E B % & 20,937 29,676
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16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The values assigned to the key assumptions on
market development of urban sanitary service
income and the discount rate are consistent with
external information sources.

The senior management of the Company has
estimated the reasonably possible changes in those
factors and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavourable possible values were assigned to those
factors, the recoverable amount then calculated,
after incorporating any consequential effects of
such assignments on the other variables used to
measure the recoverable amount of the Hong Xin
cash-generating unit, would still exceed its carrying
amount.

16.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

g ()

BERE RS (E)

7R PR IR BR A AT 538 & DA R I 40
ERARBRROEE  EIEEELR
_ﬁo

ARFSREBRBERAZERAEZNA
BRg2y  WHEANEZSFRERED
RERTHMOAIEE RAAZXEDE Y
ARFAELMAEELNETHATKE S
BEMEMEENTAHREZER  Hi
AAEMNAKOSBRDEBEBEKRTE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

17. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 17. BN ERERE
The carrying amount of the Group’s finance lease AEBEEVMEHERENERETERR
receivables and the movements during the year are ERFEENESHBERNT :
as follows:

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BHLEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR T T

Carrying amount at 1 January MMATEMEREE 99,069 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries g 8% B /B 2 |l —_ 99,955
Accretion of interest recognised FAE RN E LM
during the year 3,829 382
Receipts U = (4,855) (1,268)
Covid-19-related rent concessions to A& AR ENF TR S
lessees BEEBESRR (8,313) —
Transfer to investment properties* EREREYE (43,241) —
46,489 99,069
Analysed into: PR
Current portion Bl ER &6 5> 5,295 10,900
Non-current portion JE BN HR =6 o> 41,194 88,169
As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 M20225%12 A31H X2021F12 8318 © &
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. BEETUFGBEM -
* Due to early termination of tenant of finance lease e HRBEHERKRENHEHPREKL
receivables, the related finance lease receivables were HERENERURBEERZREME -

transferred to investment properties.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

18. Ht BT EE

Customer
relationship Software Total

EFB#% g4 B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR®T R AR®T R

31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of 720221518 H
accumulated amortisation B - HIBR 2 A
% 3 42,500 1,438 43,938
Amortisation provided during the 4 X # 4 B &
year (note 6) (Pt 3E6) (6,000) (890) (6,890)
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 36,500 548 37,048
At 31 December 2022: 720224128318 :
Cost X AR 54,000 4,966 58,966
Accumulated amortisation 25T 5 (17,500) (4,418) (21,918)
Net carrying amount REFE 36,500 548 37,048
Customer
relationship Software Total
XE@E gt @at
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARET T ARET T
31 December 2021 2021%12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of R2021FE1 1B 8 X
accumulated amortisation K-k 25
B 5 48,500 2,357 50,857
Additions NE — 473 473
Amortisation provided during the FRBHEEE
year (note 6) i19) (6,000) (1,392) (7,392)
At 31 December 2021 72021912 A31H 42,500 1,438 43,938
At 31 December 2021: M2021F 12 A318
Cost XA 54,000 4,966 58,966
Accumulated amortisation REtEE (11,500) (3,528) (15,028)
Net carrying amount FHEFE 42,500 1,438 43,938
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19.

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt N R

Share of net assets JE1E & EFE 28,865 21,883
The Group has no material joint ventures. The AEBVTEEREGEDLE - 2B EN
investments in joint ventures are indirectly held by REBHARAIBERFESR -

the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate TRIINTAEERBAEERGEDRERN
financial information of the Group’s joint ventures SO E R
that are not individually material:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the & A (A & 1 ¥ % 7

year and total comprehensive income Kk 2EK =25 602 2,749
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEEREEDLERE
Group's investment in the joint ventures  HY BR E {6 42 %8 28,865 21,883
20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20 ABELERE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NG R

Share of net assets EREEFE 49,019 60,728

Goodwill on acquisition WHEEE ZHE 8,962 8,962
57,981 69,690

The Group has no material associate. The AEBEWESKAHERR - BERAW

investments in associates are indirectly held by the KREBARNTIMEERE -

Company.
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)  20.

21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table illustrates the aggregate
financial information of the Group’s associates that

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

REEhtERREM@E
TRINRASE@EBFEABEER
HE FMBER:

are not individually material:

Share of the associates’ profit for the year % 1f & A B & 1 % )&

and total comprehensive income
Aggregate carrying amount of the
Group’s investments in the associates

& E L

AEERBELEKRE

B R B 4258

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE Tt NG R
7.725 10,542
57,981 69,690

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

21. EERDPFEFAHMZEH K S

HMRARE

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR% T NSRRI
Equity investments designated EERAFEFAHM
at fair value through other TEHKRENREIKRE:
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value  JE LR AR E » LA
FEE
URF Holding Group Limited** URF Holding Group
Limited** — 5,957
Jiangcheng Hujiang Lianfeng IV LEEE B ERR
Agriculture Technology Co., Ltd. BRAA 700 700
Shanghai Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd.* L+EBRBEEMEARA
Al* 1,500 1,500
Impairment A (1,500) (1,500)
700 6,657
Listed equity investments, at fair value FARAERE  BAF
B&t
Singapore Food Holdings Limited*** N ERIER
BR AT *** — 2,272
Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. Roiserv Lifestyle Services
Co., Ltd. 1,602 —
2,302 8,929
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

21. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

The above equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other

22.

comprehensive income as the Group considers these
investments to be strategic in nature.

* %

Shanghai Guotao Real Estate Co., Ltd. did not generate
any revenue and it had ceased to operate any business
including property management services since 2010. As
such, full impairment had been made.

In March 2022, the Group sold its equity interest in URF
Holding Group Limited as this investment no longer
coincided with the Group’s investment strategy. The fair
value on the date of conversion was RMB6,024,000 and
the accumulated gain recognised in other comprehensive
income of RMB434,000 was transferred to retained
earnings.

In December 2022, the Group sold its equity interest in
Singapore Food Holdings Limited as this investment no
longer coincided with the Group’s investment strategy.
The fair value on the date of sale was RMB1,629,000 and
the accumulated loss recognised in other comprehensive
income of RMB2,984,000 was transferred to retained
earnings.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

21. EERDFEFAHMZEH K S
B IR AR & (8)

R RAKRECD TR RE IR E R AF
Bt ARtEE KD RARAKER
REZEREBREIEE -

* LERBEEMERRAR L MEETMIKE -
EE2010F X L EMEB(BEYWEE
BR®) - At SEHE2BORE -

** 2022934 - AE B HE HE R URF Holding
Group Limited Wy e # - AZEERET B/
AREBOLERE REBRAHPNAF
B A A R#6,024,0005C @ R H b2 E K
RN B Wz A R¥434,000T 2 8 &
ZREBABF -

* kK

R2002F 1R  AEBELEERFTMEER
ERERARNKRE FAZERETHH
EAEBNEBRERE REEAHHATF
BEAARM1,629000T MAREME2EK
mERMRETE B A RK%2,984,000TE &
BERBHF -

22. HFERBEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
Deposits b gira 18,256 23,408
Long term prepayments REATE RIE 11,119 9,290
29,375 32,698
23. INVENTORIES 23. FE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
Consumables SH FE 82 129
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

24. E5 B REA

2022 2021

20224 20214F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR Tt NG R

Trade receivables 25 W FIE 259,315 196,410
Impairment NKIE] (8,596) (6,145)
250,719 190,265

The Group’s trade terms with its customers are
mainly on credit. The credit period is generally
10 to 60 days, extending up to three months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control department to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are
amounts due from the Group’s joint ventures and
associates of RMB2,121,000 (2021: RMB2,015,000)
and RMB76,000 (2021: RMB340,000), respectively,
which are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to the major customers of the Group.

REBEEFNESBKRARETEREE -
EEH—RABI0ZOXR TEXFES
ERE=ZM@A - SEFPEZAEERS -

2N 5 B B 7 BR AR B oK Uk [ A JE U 3R
E - Hﬁi*“ SEEH I PIAEERIK
FEERKR SHEEETHENABRE

£ o %EALALFEL&EEEA$’$IE’JT’3%
BURFESRRNETRARE Btk WH
GERFERBRSEETHNER - A5E
I 4 kB 5 FE W FK IR 4 B R B AT (AT O
mE EMmEEEE -  E5EWNHRIE T
FB o

REBEZ S ERKIEFR S R 1EERAR
EEEEPERBELERBAREK
2,121,000t (20214 : A K #2,015,000
T7T) & A R #76,0007T (20214 : A R #&
340,0007T) * B ;i‘?ﬂ%?ﬂmﬁirﬂzt&%
BExXrEZEXFMIEMHERSE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

24. EZRWREA(E)

RBEHR BZERRFBAREZBH
WHIRR BB EORE DT

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR Tt NG S

Within 1 year 1N 243,322 187,779
1 to 2 years 1224 6,752 1,901
2 to 3 years 2E3F 645 585
250,719 190,265

The movements in the loss allowance for
impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

BHRWKRBEREBRREEZHNT:

2022 2021

202245 20214

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR%E Tt NG R

At beginning of year g 6,145 6,935
Amounts written off as uncollectible W 8H & A AT U E /) BOIE (110) (147)

Impairment/(reversal) of trade receivables &5 W FKIERE ~(#[E])

(note 6) (Bff 5E6) 2,561 (643)
At end of year R F R 8,596 6,145
An impairment analysis is performed at each RERESBHEKABEERETRESD

reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

24. B 5 BWREE)
TXHINIZBEZAEARANEE R
BEENEZRKRAREBEMAZINEE
[ B & # -

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using

a provision matrix based on the invoice date:

As at 31 December 2022

M2022512A31H

2022
20224
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
FHEE A
BEE IR A E FEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T
Within 1 year 1R 0.49% 244,532 1,210
1 to 2 years 15824 21.34% 8,584 1,832
2 to 3 years 2E3F 55.88% 1,462 817
over 3 years B iE3F 100.00% 4,737 4,737
259,315 8,596
As at 31 December 2021 12021 12A31H
2021
20214F
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
BHEE 8 Ef
BEE FRE2E EEEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T AR T T
Within 1 year 1K 0.39% 188,523 744
1 to 2 years 1224 21.74% 2,429 528
2 to 3 years 2FE3F 44.81% 1,060 475
over 3 years HB@E3F 100.00% 4,398 4,398
196,410 6,145
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

25. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25. T RIE R H B R IE
RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
20225 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt N R

Prepayments to suppliers B T e KIE 14,845 9,033
Payments on behalf of residents (note (a)) K& &R I 3 E
(P 5 (a)) 58,930 48,428
Due from a non-controlling shareholder  f& 4t — iz I 12 % A% 3 3k 18
(note (b)) (Bff 5% (b)) 1,850 8,237
Cash in advance EXHRe 2,963 2,384
Deposits 2& 11,932 15,292
Prepaid expenses TR X 2,627 2,267
Amount due from related parties JiE K R8BSk 5 SR IE
(note 39(c)) (B 5£39(c)) 15,124 2,873
Loan provided to a third party (note (c)) REFE=ZFTHER
(Bt 3E () 6,893 .
Dividends receivables (note (d)) JE U A% 2 (B 3E(d) 14,250 .
Others =i 2,888 2,773
132,302 91,287
Impairment allowance BB B (248) —
132,054 91,287
Notes: (T
(@ The balance represents payments for property (a) ZEBREREZERUVEEERBRHME
management services and urban sanitary services on REBRBG T RIRIE -

behalf of residents.

(b)  The balance represents the advance to a non-controlling (b) ZEBEBAMNVEESEIEERBRERE -
shareholder of Chupu Group.

() Loan provided to a third party is the short-term entrusted (© RHUTE=-"FTHNERARRHZITER &
loan which carries interest at 12.0% per annum and will FF12.0%5 B 0202366 A5 8 -
be matured in June 2023.

(d) The balance represents the dividends receivables (dy ZEBREEREEEAEVESRRAANRK
amounting to RMB12,000,000 from Shanghai Qiang Sheng B A R #¥12,000,0007T & &4 £ 8 E 5 M
Property Co., Ltd. and RMB2,250,000 from Shanghai B BERE AR AR EARK2,250,000
Dongfang Xindi Business Service Co., Ltd.. JT °

The financial assets included in the above balances AL ESRNEREES RO

relate to receivables for which there was no recent £ 45 K % 8 HA R SR RO FE W SROA o

history of default and past due amounts.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

27.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
26. X PR HIR 1T 48R

Restricted bank balances received from
residents for property management
services and urban sanitary services

BERKIMABRYEEE
R R BERFRE
B 5 BRI R 1T 45 B

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE Tt NG R
22,315 22,424

Restricted bank balances earn interest at interest
rates stipulated by the respective financial
institutions.

The restricted bank balances are deposited with

creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

SIRSIRITEBIRE S BB T E R
B ERF B o

EREBITHERDETRECEER FME
I EA M R RC RV R 1T o

27. RERBEEEY

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt N R
Cash and bank balance Be RiR1TTHES
Cash and cash equivalents BE&FREeEEY 171,818 177,764

At the end of the reporting period, the cash
and bank balances of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted to RMB168,869,000 (2021:
RMB176,887,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

RBEHKR AEEAARESENR
© MR ITH % A A R 168,869,000
(20214 : A R #176,887,0007T) ° A &
IR ERELRRHEMER - A - B
BPREAMAIINEETS BRI RLEERESE
ERNETERAT AEETEBER
ERENEXBHRITHEARBEL R A
Hih&E# o

FHRRITHRSBEBRITERRE
B B R RBRERA B - RITHEBRTDTER
EEERUFNEBOMBROHENET -

|
1
¥

¥

SEITHREERARAR £42022279




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

28. TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the
end of the reporting periods, based on the invoice

28. EZEMNFE
RBEHR BHENRBREZBH
B RRER AT T

date, is as follows:

2022 2021

20224 20214F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

o¥=3 ARE Tt NG B

Within 3 months 3@ AR (a) 124,251 109,760
3 to 12 months 3F121E A 4,902 4,928
Over 1 year B EF 2,824 2,085
132,227 116,773

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of 5 to 90 days.

Note:

(a) Included in the Group's trade payables are amounts due to
Group's associates of RMB2,130,000, which are repayable
on credit terms similar to those offered to the major

vendors of the Group.

BZRNREARE B —MISEICK
BREAAEE -

B 5E

(@ AEEEZENREPREEMNAERB
B E A R#¥2130,0007T © /8 % BR H
REFAEEFTEZHEFIZEUSEKRK

& -

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. EMMERRERESTER
2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M it AR%E Tt NG R
Contract liabilities EHBaE (a) 12,987 17,059
Advances received from sublease  # % 8 AR %5 U 2| &Y
service N 1,327 1,451
Staff payroll and welfare payables &8 T T& K& F
J& 1~ K18 28,646 25,279
Deposits received B Wi 16,128 26,086
Receipts on behalf of residents RERERK K (b) 43,949 34,422
Other tax payable H th f& 1~ B4 18 14,940 10,523
Dividend payables JE - B% B 2,734 2,133
Payable for acquisition of g4 hy= NG
subsidiaries &5 53R (0) = 2,410
Other payables H th F& 5 5K 3,404 3,629
As at 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H 134,115 122,992
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HWERREREFEH(H)
(continued)
Notes: B 5 -
(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) AHBEFBLT:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
12A31H 12A31H 1RA1H
20224 20214 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBT T AREF T

Short-term advances received from ISR=K-9=0""8:/¥:0) 7}

customers B # 5%

Property management services MEEERY 12,987 17,059 5,848
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to AEHNBEBREERERY ¥ T ERBE KR
deliver property management services. o SEE- /e

(b)  The balance represents receipts from building residents to (b) HBREREFERIKEEHIEN ﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁ
settle utilities, bills, and maintenance and repair fees on HELARRE RE -RERKBSEH
behalf of them. Included in the Group's other payables and AEENEMENRERETERS TEFE
accruals are amounts due to the Group's joint ventures NAEEEGECERBERTNOREAR
and associates of RMB107,000 and RMB1,782,000. #107,0007T & A R #1,782,0007T °

() The balance represents the outstanding payments related () HHEHKBYEEBEBEBANKRERRIE
to the acquisition of Chupu Group, which was settled in B R2022F #)5 °
2022.

Other payables and accruals are non-interest- HpENZERESER AR S RA

bearing and repayable on demand. EIQ\EEJZHT g8 o

ETRRERARAT 452022281




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

i =k

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND 30. GFERVITERR HMAERK
OTHER BORROWINGS
2022 2021
2022% 20215
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity  RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB'000
BB %(%) ISR ARETn BRSOl HEA ARETR
Current 0
Bank loans — unsecured and ~ BITEH — BE
unguaranteed LEER 3.40-4.15 2023 124,348  3.06-4.35 2022 103,974
Bank loans — guaranteed RITER —HER
(note a) (Ftita) 3.90-4.35 2023 21,000 — — —
Current portion of long term ~ Et R B EF S
other borrowings — secured 5 — BEAR
and quaranteed (note b) BERMED  3.30-11.44 2023 10,329 57-11.44 2022 8,720
155,677 112,694
Non-current FE 8
Other borrowings — secured ~ EffEH — HE R
and quaranteed (note b) REER(MWD  3.30-8.73 2024 3,156  57-1144  2023-2024 4117
158,833 116,811
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB"000
ARE T BN R
Analysed into: WA
Bank loans repayable: EEERITENR:
Within one year or on demand ER —FAHILEK 145,348 103,974
Other borrowings repayable: EEEHMMERR:
Within one year or on demand FER —FAHIREK 10,329 8,720
In the second year B _F 3,156 4,034
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EZRF(BEERE) — 83
13,485 12,837
158,833 116,811
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

Except for unsecured and unguaranteed bank loans, all bank
loans and other borrowings are granted to Hong Xin, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, and guaranteed or

secured by:

(a)

(b)

Certain of these bank loans amounting to RMB21,000,000
are guaranteed by Ms. Wang Hui and Mr. Kou Liang, the
non-controlling shareholders of Hong Xin Environmental
Group Co., Ltd. in 2022.

Details of long term other borrowings are as below:

)

(if)

(iii)

Certain of these other borrowings amounting to
RMB2,230,000 are guaranteed by Ms. Wang Hui
(2021: RMB1,195,000).

Certain of the Group’s other borrowings amounting
to RMB333,000 are guaranteed by Ms. Wang Hui
and Mr. Kou Liang (2021: RMB1,889,000).

Certain of these other borrowings amounting
to RMB10,922,000 (2021: RMB9,753,000) are
secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s
motor vehicles with a net carrying amount of
RMB12,586,000 (2021: RMB13,592,000).

30.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
FTERITERREMERE)

M aE

BRRERRARERZVITERAN - FARITE
REEMEFROARTHASEZEZ2ENBA
AIBAAR - A A PA T HE AR SRR AR

(@)  2022%F - & F R AK21,000,0007THE T
ZERTEFHELMREEEAER AN
FEBRBRRIBLEIRERCERMER -

(b HttEHEROFBENT:

() &%AHARK2230,000CTHETZ
ZHMERE TS L TREER Q021
F: AR #1,195,0007T) °

(i) &%E®AARKE3Z000THAELERSE
THHEZRAIZEZLTERER L
12 42 R (20214 A K #1,889,000
TT) °

(i) £ | A A R ¥10,922,0007T (2021
F£: A R ¥9,753,0007T) M) & T &%
THMERBASBEREAFEAA
R #12,586,0007C (2021F : A R ¥
13,592,0007T) Ay & T /9 & 3K # 1 &

o

ol

SETHREERARAR F42022283




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

31. DEFERRED TAX 31. IEEFIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets FRNEEHRBEEEMNEEZEHBERDT

during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHEEE
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of
subsidiaries
WK B D E
Btz
AFERE
RMB'000
AR®EF T
At 1 January 2021 7202141818 12,125
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uy B Bt B A Al 8,376
Deferred tax credited to the statement of RERNFTABZ R IELERIE
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (B 5£10) (1,560)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 M2021F12 A31H &
20229F1H1H 18,941
Deferred tax credited to the statement of RERNFTABRZRANEERE
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (B 5£10) (3.867)
At 31 December 2022 7202296124318 15,074
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
31. 3E fE IR (4)

ELEHIEEE
Lease Impairment Total
HE e et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETE AR®TR

At 1 January 2021 7202141818 78 761 839
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RERETA /(3K AH)

to the statement of profitor B @mKXMELER A

loss during the year (B 5£10)

(note 10) 22 (2) 20
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12 A31H &

at 1 January 2022 2022F1H1H 100 759 859
Deferred tax credited/(charged) MERETA /(3K AH)

to the statement of profit or Bz KK IE L7 1B

loss during the year (Fff 3£ 10)

(note 10) 27) 718 691
At 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H 73 1,477 1,550

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB23,690,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB20,715,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of RMB42,847,000 as at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB31,417,000), that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

M2022F12A31B - AEBREBEBESE
M5 TE B 18 B A R #623,690,0007T (2021
& AR #20,715,0007T) © o] &R B A
EREEEBEBNRAFMNRKERE

it ) o

M2022F12A31B - AKBEREFEA
HhE A& BIE B 1B A R ¥42,847,0007T
(20214 : A R #31,417,0007T) © 5 —
ERFRIE  THAREHERRERE

A o

BRZEERIDKEEEE -REHNY
MEBLAR BB/ TRAEHE BRI
i AP AR S AR TR B 1B - IR Ut 3 4 B A%
EEEERRTERBEE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10% (2021:10%). The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China (2021: Nil). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised was
approximately RMB200,945,000 at 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB176,618,000).

31.

iIE 7E B 1E (48)

BEEHEEE (8)
BEPECEMERE  RPBE A K
VRN ECEERMINEIEEEST KD
IR SR BI10% A o Z ZKH20084F
1TR1R R A % - I 3 A R2007F12A31
HEEENERT - BINERKREEMNEF
FEREEBEEPBEANMEREHE - INER
BEENBEAREKENHE - gt AEBEM
= EABREEI0% (20219 1 10%) °
gE - B AR B A HE K ST B9 5% BT B A A
PLE2008F1AIBREENAFAHIKE
MRS AEBEEHBMNEMR -

MR2022F12A3B - TERAEAAEER
FRAMK OB RRHKRELAR
FI (RS M TEN B E) i e #Y T8 0 73
RELEHBQRONF HE) -EERAE
ZEMB AR TARAIEE R AT R XK
DIRABBEF - B2022%F12A318 © &
AERELEHEEE R R E R H M
BRARAKENEBERZEEHOA
A R #200,945,0007C (20214 : A R #&
176,618,0007T) °

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. B
2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBETFIT
Authorised: SERE
8,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 8,000,000,000/% & %X ™
each (2021: 8,000,000,000 shares of 0.0 T A% 17 (2021
HK$0.01 each) £ : 8,000,000,000 % &
% E {E0.01/8 7T /Y
% 17) 70,096 70,096
Issued and fully paid: BEETEBE:
405,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each 405,000,0000% & i& m &
(2021: 405,000,000 shares of HK$0.01  0.017% st B9 IR 17 (2021
each) £ : 405,000,0000% & P&
E{EO0.018 TR %) 3,391 3,391
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33. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 30 August 2018, the Company announced to
adopt the share award scheme (the “Scheme”) with
objectives to recognise the contribution by certain
employees and give incentives thereto in order to
motivate them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2019,
8,218,000 shares were purchased by the
trustee from the market at an average price of
approximately HK$2.43 (equivalent to RMB2.18) per
share, with an aggregate amount of HK$20,000,000
(equivalent to RMB17,916,000), which was recorded
in reserve of “Shares held for the Scheme”.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the boards of directors
may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion,
cause to be paid to the trustee sums of money from
the Company’s resources for the purchase of shares
to be held on trust in accordance with the Scheme
and the trust deed. Such sums of money shall be
applied towards the purchase of the specific number
of shares from the open market according to the
written instructions of the boards of directors.

On 12 April 2021, the award shares of the Company
representing 6,574,000 ordinary shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the
“Shares”) were approved to be granted to 17
selected persons under the Scheme. The awarded
shares to be granted to the awardees represented
approximately 1.62% of the Company’s issued
shares. No consideration is required to be paid by
the grantees of the award shares. Subject to the
satisfactory of performance condition as determined
by the directors, the awarded shares maybe vested
in the grantee after performance period.

The actual number of shares awarded becoming
vested and ultimately granted is however conditional
upon the fulfilment of certain performance targets
and is linked to the performance evaluation results
of the grantees.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

33. REIMERDERB TS

R2018F8H30H R RAIEM KM —IB
IR ZEFEI([5TE8)) ZEtEME®
RAETEE TEEMEEHNER KRG T
EHE LNEEFRSEHESCERERAN
B KRS AEABNE-—FERAK

£H -

B E2019F12A31HIEFE » T AR
FHBEHRERD243FBTHENRAR
®2.187T) AT 45 B8 A8,218,000/% Iz 1
42 & %8 520,000,000 T(HHE R AR
#17,916,0007T) * sTATRBZEIFEHN
R IfFEE -

REZE EFEATHEEEBYR
BHEARRBERMAZFEA A REA
RREBEARD - BAKRDBAR & &t
EREAZONERETLARTE - ZFXK
ARREBEEESEAETEARKERFF
mZBEREHBORD -

M20215F4A128 - AAFHERB R G -
Bl A5 2 8]6,574,000 8% & % [ {E0.018 7T
B ((ARD]) - B AR FH8118
TI7REETWAL - §ETEREBA
THREBROEERRATDEHFTRML
1.62% ° BN IR 0 0 A AL B A X+
FERE - BRIBEESSETHEEKRME -
REROANEERERTXEA

Al ERFBI KKK EDOEB RN
BERFERETHNEEABEME A
HEARANNEEFEERBH -

SETHREERARAR F42022 287
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
33. RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME 33. IREIM KRB (5

(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, there were 7 R 45 Bf K © 8,218,0000% % 17 A1 X 7
8,218,000 shares held by the trustee. The Scheme A A o 5t 2 H2018E8A30R 4 & -
became effective on 30 August 2018 and, unless BRIEFHEIGFHER > BRIBERE
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in 2024%F9H30H ALk

force to 30 September 2024.

The following table summarizes the Company’s TEBMARDFRETNEERFTEETH
restricted share unit activities under the Scheme PR A D BALEE)

during the year:

Weighted Weighted
average 2022 average 2021
IEACEY I [TV T grant date Number of
fair value shares fair value shares
hn #& £ 15 ¥
®¥H 2022%F ®FH 20214
NEE v S §E| NSO vk gE!
RMB RMB
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
BRARY TR ElioNE:: T %
At 1 January ®1A18 1.48 2,734 — —
Granted during the year FRE R H — — 1.48 6,574
Forfeited during the year FRE 82U 1.48 (2,734) 1.48 (3,840)
At 31 December W12 A318 — 2,734
No shares were vested in 2022. BERMNR202D2FEEHE -
The fair value of share award as at the date of grant BHRBAREAENATFEERAAF
was determined based on the closing price of the REHBHROKTEETE °

Company’s share as at the date of grant.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group HZEZ2021FNA3MBHIEFE - KE BB
recognized an equity-settled share award scheme RUARZEEORO BB A A
expense of RMB1,558,000. R #%1,558,0007T °

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group B E2022F12A3NBLEFE - A&EE R
forfeited an equity-settled share award scheme WNEZEENRODEEIE A A
expense of RMB1,558,000. As the performance K #1,558,0007T - At R EFRIZE W 2
condition were not satisfied during the year. MATIRGE -

2 88 RIVERINE CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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34. RESERVES

The

amounts of the Group’s reserves and the

movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

()

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents
the difference between capital injection and
the share capital paid by the Controlling
Shareholders.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (1)
the difference between the consideration and
net assets acquired paid by the Controlling
Shareholders for the further acquisition of
non-controlling interests in subsidiaries; (2)
the difference between the consideration
received by the Controlling Shareholders and
the net assets disposed of for the partial
disposal of certain subsidiaries; and (3) the
difference between the consideration received
by the Controlling Shareholders and net
assets acquired under common control for the
acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries.

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and
prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents
the capital contributions from the equity
holders of the subsidiaries. The addition
during the year represents (1) the injections
of additional paid-in capital by the equity
holders of the subsidiaries to the respective
companies; (2) the consideration paid by
the Controlling Shareholders for the further
acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries; and (3) the consideration paid by
the Controlling Shareholders for repayment of
the consideration received in the progress of
the corporate reorganisation of the Group in
preparation for the listing.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

34. %15
AEEAFERBAFENEELSER

275 -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

IR 12 % B
AREBOBRMDEERIERER
BRIMOEARZEHZEE -

EXDE
AEBHNEAFEBEOERBR
RE— KB EB AR IEER
FE a1 Sz AY (B B AT IR B0 0%
BECHEMEZR QEBRBRRHE
PHEETHERARKRINHKER
HENFEEZHNEZR: ROE
P B RR B s R BT B B R RS A &
Yo B 1 (K18 B2 KR B FT W
MFEEZHEMNESRE -

AEEBAFEMBAEFENRES
BREZPRYHEBRRNERERE
mEBEBRPEY -

BOHRE

AEENEHFERERENBAR
REFAANDE - FRIBMEQ)
B AR EDEREBARA B AR
BMONEABBBEA: QEEKRR
s — U BB AR R SRR
BaED MO E: RQEBRB R
BEARRERLETMETHAR
EMABREPRBNKER MR

|
EITREERERAR Fif 2022 289 $
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

34. RESERVES (continued)
(iv) Statutory reserve

(v)

In accordance with the PRC regulations and
the articles of association of the companies of
the Group, before distributing the net profit of
each year, companies of the Group registered
in the PRC are required to set aside 10% of
their statutory reserve net for the year after
offsetting any prior year's losses as determined
under relevant PRC accounting standards
to the statutory surplus reserve fund. When
the balance of this reserve reaches 50% of
each company’s share capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve fund is non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation.

Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to increase
share capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to
record exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of the
subsidiaries with functional currencies other
than the RMB.

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-
cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of RMB7,647,000 (2021:
RMB3,149,000) and RMB7,647,000 (2021:
RMB3,149,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for office premises.

During the year, the payable for acquisition
of Chupu Group amounting to approximately
RMB2,410,000 was offset by the amounts due
from non-controlling shareholders according to
the relevant agreement.
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34. f#(H)

(iv) ZERHE
RBEHBEER R AEBEE T REH
MEERAR - SFE2IOFNEA -
AEBEFBEEMNRERIEER
TREEFERMRERABEEFNE
BR AEBEAFEEITCFRH®B
MI0%EEXERBATEES HEZ
EHEEEZEQBRANS0% 1L
AEBHEEREFLZTREG
AEBRBRABETANIK  FRIFHE
EEE -

HEAEBTBERNE TREMRERT -
REENMeEHNEHR T DREME
REN25% @ BB A E BRI R Al 88
AR DA AR o

ERKE A
EXRRHHEEARCHBEEIRE
EERARBEUIINEEDNIHNE AR
MM BHRRMEENELEZR -

(v)

35. REBHERERME

() EE*XkRERS
FA - RP|AVENHELHEMS -
AEENEAREERHEEAREN
M MND R AARKT 647,000
70 (20214 © A R #3,149,0007T) &
A R #7647,0000T (2021F : A B
#3,149,0007T) °

FRN - WREBVEEENENRIBELY
A R #2,410,0007T 1R 4% 18 B8 1% &
75 JIE U IE 2 AR AR SR R TE P IR 8 o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. REBERERMFT (&)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities

(b) MEEFHELENEREY

2022 20224
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
and other
borrowings Lease
and interest liabilities
FTERITERK
Hihfg R R FE HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR Tt
At 1 January 2022 R20229F1H1H 116,811 194,779
Changes from financing cash flows &R REEZH) 42,022 (10,943)
New leases wHE — 7.647
Interest expense B X — 8,712
Covid-19-related rent concessions M AL THHER
from lessors SRBEHERES
R — (10,005)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 158,833 190,190
2021 20214
Interest-
bearing
bank loans
and other
borrowings Lease
and interest liabilities
FFERITERK
HEMER kA HEaE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T T AR T T
At 1 January 2021 F202141 818 100,070 7,562
Changes from financing cash flows FER T REEH 16,741 (5,729)
New leases g - 3,149
Interest expense AT H - 1,146
Increase arising from acquisition of W B B B8 A &) 38 A0
subsidiaries — 188,651
At 31 December 2021 72021412 A31H 116,811 194,779

IR EERERAT €5 2022 291 é
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c¢) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in
the statement of cash flows is as follows:

35. ZFERERBRWE(E)

() HERSREAE
BenEREBENEERZ AL
M

2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR Tt INGE R
Within operating activities KEEEBNA 1,249 1,098
Within financing activities mBMEFZHRN 10,943 5,729
12,192 6,827
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. EAE

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group
had no significant contingent liabilities.

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the
Group’s other borrowings are included in notes 13
and 30 to the financial statements.

38. COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following capital commitments
at the end of the reporting period:

R|ERKR  AEELEBANAREAE -

37. EEEH
RAKEEMERFERNASEEE
ABEERNMBHRERMEI3R30 -

38. &iE
PR EHR - AEBMA AT & AR RS

Contracted, but not provided for:
Capital injection for an associate

ERTABRE®E:
A—-HBEERIE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE Tt NG B
2,170 7,890
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Particulars of the related parties which entered
into material transactions with the Group are
as follows:

Name

=L

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
39. BB AR S

@ BHAKEEITIERIZH@EEA
BN
Relationship Referred to as
B % i 7

Shanghai Boying Parking Management Service Co., Ltd. (formerly
named Shanghai Gaoze Information Technology Co., Ltd.)*

TERRREERRBARRA(RLEREEINR
BRAR)*

Nanjing Songzhu Property Management Company Limited.

HMRRTYEERERAF

Hunan Pujiang Property Management Co., Ltd.

BEBLINEEERRAF

Zhongmin Zhida (Shanghai) Information Technology Co., Ltd.

TREE(LE)EEMRARLTA

Anhui Jinshanjingmei Property Management Co., Ltd.

RHREFENEERERAA

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Property Co., Ltd.

LBBEMEERAR

Shanghai Dongfang Xindi Business Service Co., Ltd.

FERRAREBEREERAF

Anhui Xingpu Property Management Co., Ltd.

RUERNEERERAA

Nantong Pumin Property Management Co., Ltd.

HREBRNEERERAA

Anhui Yujiang Property Co., Ltd.

ZHBINEBERAA

* Shanghai Gaoze Information Technology Co., Ltd.
has changed its name to Shanghai Boying Parking
Management Service Co., Ltd. on 21 June 2022.

Controlled by the

Shanghai Boying

Controlling Shareholders

MR R R

Associate
BEbLRE
Joint venture
RELE
Joint venture
RELE
Joint venture
RELE
Associate
BELE
Associate
L ESS
Associate
BEdx
Associate
BELE
Associate
LHSS

*

il LBRAR

Nanjing Songzhu
BRI
Hunan Puliang
HE L
Zhongmin Zhida
TREE
Anhui Jinshanjingmei
THREFE
Shanghai Qiang Sheng
Nabi=: e
Dongfang Xindi
R @
Anhui Xingpu
ZHER
Nantong Pumin
HRBR
Anhui Yujiang
g =P
L2 ERRM AR R AN2022F
6A2IRER R ELBAREFEERER
BHEBRAF o

EITHEERERAR F42022293 ;
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BEE AR B (4)

(continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties, other than
those already disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, are as follows:

(b) HEEIHTHRS(ERHTBERERE
T RBEEBINMT

Notes
Hi &t
Property management service ¥ ¥ & = R
income ' ON
Shanghai Boying Bai=R P (i)
Nanjing Songzhu R ART (i)
Hunan PulJiang R IT ()
Shanghai Qiang Sheng =g (i)
Nantong Pumin EaREREENES (i)
Dongfang Xindi R RE (i)
Anhui Jinshanjingmei THRBEFE (i)
Interest income: FEWA:
Shanghai Boying Bai=R P (ii)
Zhongmin Zhida PREE (if)
Anhui Yujiang ZRET (ii)
Cash advances: RE&EEX:
Shanghai Boying EBRA
Cost of property management ¥ ¥ &8 R¥&E K
services: 7
Nanjing Songzhu R AT (iii)
Dongfang Xindi RAMRE (iif)
Anhui Xingpu ZHEH (iii)

(i) The services provided to related parties were
provided according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the
Group.

(i)  The amount due from Shanghai Boying, Zhongmin
Zhida and Anhui Yujiang is unsecured and with
interest rate of 4.78%, 4.15% and 4.15%, and it
has no fixed payment terms.

(iii)  The services provided by related parties were
provided according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major suppliers of the
Group.
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(M)

(i)

(iii)

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®S Tt NG R

— 186
1,028 1,064
916 1,995
165 o
307 —
240 =
1,049 S
115 122
38 S

9 —

— (496)
4,120 S
1,458 893
1,238 =

REBTRENRBIOREREEA
SEEXZEPMEAMERRGHE
$ o

R EBHE FPREEREZHBET
KRBT EER - FEBLT8% * 4.15%
2415% @ EEEERE -

REBTRHNRBIRERERES
SEIBRFFPNEAMEBRREMHE
fITS
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BB AR B (&)
(continued)
() Due from related parties: () MENREE: 5 I8 -

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% Tt NS R

Nanjing Songzhu MR 76 328

Shanghai Qiang Sheng Bapi=X:: g — 12

Hunan Pujiang 4 BB T 933 2,015

Anhui Jinshanjingmei TRHBEFE 1,112 .

Zhongmin Zhida PR E 11,148 —

Shanghai Boying E®RA 2,967 2,851

Anhui Yujiang BT 1,009 .

The carrying amounts of RMB933,000, REMmEBEL mRNRY - EiRE
RMB76,000 and RMB1,112,000 from Hunan R ZHBINLZBEZFEN
Pujiang, Nanjing Songzhu and Anhui BREE A R®933,000T - AR
Jinshanjingmei are unsecured, interest-free and 76,000 T & A R %1,112,0007T & &
have no fixed payment terms. KR 2B REERTENRN -

The carrying amounts of RMB2,967,000, W EBSHER ZRHIBIEFERE
RMB1,009,000 and RMB11,148,000 due from LEHMEREME AR 2967000
Shanghai Boying, Anhui Yujiang and Zhongmin 7C A R #1,009,000T & A R #&
Zhida are unsecured and with a fixed interest 11,148,0007T & £ & 48 & 1% & T 7
rate and have no fixed payment terms. G B REEREMNZKER

SETHREERARAR F42022295
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BB AR B (&)
(continued)
(d) Compensation of key management personnel d) AEEXTZEBEABHM:

of the Group:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt NS R

Short term employee benefits HHEERA 2,906 2,111
Equity-settled share award scheme NHESEENRHD

expenses ZENET B X (368) 368
Post-employment benefits RIKERF 339 307
Total compensation paid to key ENFEEZEERBAER

management personnel sz 2,877 2,786
Further details of directors’ and the chief EENERITHRAENHSHNE—FTF
executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 BEAR IR RN 5ES

to the financial statements.
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B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40. REFE 2 EMIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBEHAR SENeRITANEKEAE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting LU

period are as follows:

2022 20225
Financial assets cREE

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
BATLERTA
Hit2EB &N
Financial assets
Equity at amortised
investments cost Total
REBHEBE R
BERE FENEREE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARE TR ARE TR

Equity investments at fair value through B AFEFAEM2E

other comprehensive income &Ll 38 2,302 — 2,302
Trade receivables B o RN FIE — 250,719 250,719
Financial assets included in prepayments &t A J8f 5008 [ H &

and other receivables WHENEREE — 114,582 114,582
Financial assets included in other non-  stAEMIERHEEM

current assets SREE - 18,256 18,256
Finance lease receivables FEl R EMEENIE — 46,489 46,489
Restricted bank balances XRERITER — 22,315 22,315
Cash and cash equivalents BeLhBReEEY — 171,818 171,818

2,302 624,179 626,481

SETHREERARAR F4§2022297
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

2022 (continued) 2022F (&)

40. REFE s EM T A(H)

Financial liabilities cRAas

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHERERTE
mWemas
RMB’000
AR®T T
Trade payables B 5 e RIE 132,227

Financial liabilities included in other payables and &+ A £ b & 1~ 28 &
accruals EErERANemBE 76,215
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings =t8 48 17 & 3 I E A {5 3K 158,833
367,275
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 40. ZEEE2EM I A(E)
CATEGORY (continued)
2021 20215
Financial assets tRMEE

Financial assets

at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income
BAOTEEA
Htt2EAM
TREE
Financial assets
Equity at amortised
investments cost Total
RBHEMA
BREKRE FENSREE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBETR ARETT ARETT

Equity investments at fair value through R A FEFAEM 2 E

other comprehensive income Bk E 8,929 _ 8,929
Trade receivables BHRERRE — 190,265 190,265
Financial assets included in prepayments #f A ¥8ff %38 & H fh f&

and other receivables WHENEREE — 79,987 79,987
Financial assets included in other non-  stAEMIEREEEH

current assets THEE = 23,408 23,408
Finance lease receivables ERpERERE — 99,069 99,069
Restricted bank balances B8 %188 17 4 8% = 22,424 22,424
Cash and cash equivalents BeLBELEEY = 177,764 177,764

8,929 592,917 601,846

SETHREERARAR £42022299
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BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)
2021 (continued)

40.

REFIASERMIAE

20215 (#)

Financial liabilities stHmas

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
12 8 8 B AR
TENERmAaE
RMB'000
AR®ETIT
Trade payables 2 S ENFRIE 116,773

Financial liabilities included in other payables FTACE b & 3RIE K
and accruals EsrEAMNSRAR 68,680
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings t8 48 17 & 3% I E b {5 3% 116,811
302,264

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances,
trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments and other receivables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of
these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the
finance manager is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial
officer and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE M eRIAENATFERAFEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities cRMEERAGBHNATESABRER
are included at the amount at which the instrument AREBRIXRZ(BRIERIEERINF
could be exchanged in a current transaction RBMZITEAMBZCHE - Ht 2T ESE
between willing parties, other than in a forced RATHAERRKR:
or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments HREAFTEFAHMEEREAIEL
at fair value through other comprehensive income, MRAKRE EEECHEGREREG
management has estimated the potential effect of AEEERATRNERBAREZE
using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to FEBEHME -
the valuation model.
Below is a summary of significant unobservable T & B R2022F x2021F12 A318 © &
inputs to the valuation of financial instruments TAKMEBEZERTAIBRGABBEER
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at BB BREITHHRE:
31 December 2022 and 2021:

Significant

unobservable
input (level 3)

Sensitivity of fair

Valuation technique value to the input

EXFTATBEBA A2AFEHBAHE
fi {8 $ 1l HE(E=5 ZHRBE

5% (2021: 5%)
increase/decrease
in multiple

Equity investments at fair Valuation multiples
value through other

comprehensive income

Average EV/EBITDA
multiple of peers

would result in
increase/decrease
in fair value by
RMB35,000 (2021:
RMB333,000)
B8/ T¥5%
(20214 : 5%) #&
BHQFEEM
B A K #35,000
TL(2021F AR
#333,0007T)

BAFEFAEMEZE WS
I HE 1R B

HERE & [’ 5 ¥ ¥9 EV/EBITDA

(=3

EITREERERAR F# 2022 301 &




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS SRR B AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value
measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

M. TSMITANLAFERLIFESER

(&)

RFEER
TRIEAEBER T AN R FEFE
S

BRAFEAENEE:

R2022%12A31H

Fair value measurement using
EATHREETAFENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTEN EATEERA EAFTTEER
REE-§) BEEZR ABEBE=ZR) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT AR®T R ARBT T
Equity investments designated R A FEA
at fair value through other Hih2EKED
comprehensive income RARE 1,602 - 700 2,302
As at 31 December 2021 "2021%12H318
Fair value measurement using
EATIHREETLATE;E
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RNEBRMGH EXABEGA EATAIEER
BEE-R) BBEEZR) AZEE=ZR) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Equity investments designated R A FEFA
at fair value through other Hitt2EEm
comprehensive income AR E 2,272 = 6,657 8,929
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE M. eRIENAFERAFEEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The movements in fair value measurements within
Level 3 during the year are as follows:

[FEER (B
FA - BZAANRFEFEZSHUOT:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’'000 RMB"000
ARE T IR
Equity investments at fair value through & A FE A £ 2mE kK
other comprehensive income mHRERE
At 1 January W1A1H 6,657 6,552
Total gains recognised in other P E At 2 T I 25 B 2R B
comprehensive income I %% 4B 58 67 105
Disposals H e (6,024) —
At 31 December 12A318 700 6,657

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. IR REEEERBEE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and bank balances, financial lease receivables,
bank loans and other borrowings. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has no bank loans with floating
interest rate, there is no interest risk.

AEENFESRMIABRER @ RIRTT
fEer BMEMERKNE  RITERK
HtpfEX - HEZFERMITANTIRA
MR ASBEREEERNE - A&BH
BEESRUFEANEGRNFASH A
ZRESBEERAGE HAEKZEER
EAE o

AEBSRIAEELANTIEARAINE
R EERREIBECRR BEF
ERFNIHBEEESLFRROEE -
BT o

) = L B
el 34 75 S S R B B AT B -
EER -

A 7

HITREERERAR F# 2022 303 &
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

42. BEEREERRRBEE)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland
China and nearly all transactions are conducted
in RMB. As nearly all of the Group’s assets and
liabilities were denominated in RMB, the subsidiaries
of the Company in Mainland China were not
subject to significant foreign currency risk. As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s assets and liabilities
denominated in HKD were mainly held by the
Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated
outside Mainland China which had HKD as their
functional currency, and the Group did not have
material foreign currency transactions in Mainland
China during the year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer
credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk
for the financial guarantee contracts.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT MBEAREEEERBE®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022

42.

B B £ PR KRR (&)

R2022%12A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 R E &
FEER 2HBEHEERA
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1RR E2M & #3M & G (@A @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTn AR®Tr AR%¥Tn AR%®Tr AR%¥Tn
Trade receivables* B oMW IR — — — 250,719 250,719
Finance lease receivables * EWmEHE
WIE*
— Normal** — EE** 46,489 - — — 46,489
Financial assets included in  sF A B FIE K
prepayments and other Hith e k8
receivables MEfEE
— Normal** = IRt 114,582 — — — 114,582
Financial assets included in 3T A E At 37 &)
other non-current assets ~ ZE M & &
BE
— Normal** — E&E** 18,256 — — — 18,256
Restricted bank balances 2[5 #8174 %
— Not yet past due — HEREH 22,315 — — — 22,315
Cash and cash equivalents R & kR &
— Not yet past due — R R 171,818 — — — 171,818
373,460 — — 250,719 624,179

WITHERRARAR F
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

42. BEREERERRBEE)

B B EPRKFRER (&)

As at 31 December 2021 A2021%12A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
REAESE
EER PHENEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1BER oM B F3MEER BlAE BEr
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTRT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
Trade receivables* B HEWFIBE — — — 190,265 190,265
Finance lease receivables *  JEU A & & %
Tg*
— Normal** — IR {EE 99,069 — — — 99,069
Financial assets included in 3T AFE 308 &
prepayments and other Hith e Y508
receivables HNEMEE
— Normal** = IR 79,987 — — — 79,987
Financial assets included in 3T A E 4 3E 7% &)
other non-current assets A E# 4 &l
BE
— Normal** = IR RS 23,408 — — — 23,408
Restricted bank balances R R #8817 & &
— Not yet past due — 18 R 28 22,424 — — — 22,424
Cash and cash equivalents B&RES
— Not yet past due — 18 R 8 177,764 — — . 177,764
402,652 — — 190,265 592,917
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the L RAEBEBEXRAGLLENE S E KK

* %

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, finance lease
receivables and other non-current assets are considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral.
managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical
region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group's trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different sectors
and industries.

Concentrations of credit risk are

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This
tool considers the maturity of both its financial
instruments and financial assets and projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank loans, lease liabilities and
other interest-bearing loans.

42.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H
BHEAREEEERBEE

Bk ERRFERER (8

BRAASEESBRERBMELENEER
Rl a0 — > BCBUR - £ B HEM
3124%2@2 °

HRASEERERAREERINE
:Ex% WA B|IBHERER - F8
STPREFP/HFTRERBERRK
ﬁ%”* B ARAEEE S E WK
ANEFPEERZD %FTH“%&H%
AEBEERBRNETRELIREE

REE € b
AEBERALEUERDESTEITA
ERHESERNEAR - ITASZERE
HeMTANEREENIBBER - A
RIEHREREEBHNRERE -

ZK%ET%B%%@@E%%E??%?X HE
BEREMABRER  NEHELHE
K BEMZ R e
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s fina

ncial

liabilities as at the end of each reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is

as follows:

42. BEREERERRBEE)

nEBETEE (F)
AEBENSRABRASHREMRERA
HIRBEIRAS BB HBEROT

o=

N

As at 31 December 2022

R2022512A31H
On Less than 3to 12 Over
demand 3 months months 1 year Total
REX 3AAR  3Z1218A BBI1EF st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%®Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn
Lease liabilities HEAR 3,647 6,390 18,668 206,261 234,966
Interest-bearing bank loans T ERITEH K
and other borrowings Hihfa % — 47,303 111,357 3,215 161,875
Trade payables BHEM B 115,181 9,320 4,902 2,824 132,227
Financial liabilities included & A H # fE 4 5038 &
in other payables and EAERNEREE
accruals 76,215 — — - 76,215
195,043 63,013 134,927 212,300 605,283
As at 31 December 2021
72021512 A31H
on Less than 3t0 12 Over
demand 3 months months 1 year Total
REX 3EAAM 3E1EAR BiBIF @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARETRT ARBTRT ARBTRT ARETR
Lease liabilities HERR — 6,177 18,877 232,164 257,218
Interest-bearing bank loans T ER1TEH K
and other borrowings Hibfa — 43,396 71,500 4,039 118,935
Trade payables BORNRE 105,936 3,824 4,928 2,085 116,773
Financial liabilities included T A E b B KB K fE
in other payables and FERANERAR
accruals 68,680 — — — 68,680
174,616 53,397 95,305 238,288 561,606
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42.

43,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is total debt divided by total equity. Total
debt includes interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings. Capital represents total equity.

B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

4. HEREEERERBEGE

EXER
AEBEEAERENTEENARRELRS
BiEFELENE N THBBEMNER
bR EUIHEEBERZSERAERRE
BME -

AEEELERANEERABEE
MRREHREEREEALBRELSA
ABRERNTREORE MRREEER
R FEITFRGD - 8 E2022F12A31H
F2021FNAMBILEFE EEEAN
BR - RERNBRETENIRTMRES -

AEBEREABEL X (BRERK
NBRDR)ERER - BEBEFBTE
RITERREMER -  BEXREEEE -

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®E Tt N R

Interest-bearing bank loans and other FFERITERK
borrowings H b g 158,833 116,811
Total debt AR 158,833 116,811
Total equity HATE 369,480 359,860
Gearing ratio EEBEARLE 43.0% 32.5%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. fiHH &S #

Subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this report, there was no material
subsequent event undertaken by the Group.

2022F12A31HB 2B REEARREHE -
AEEMES KHELEE -

|
EITREERERAR 2022 309 $
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31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44. = E B AR R &*
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial RARR M EB R B AR R TR E B0
position of the Company at the end of the reporting ™

period is as follows:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® Tt N R
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHNBRAFMNIKE 59,535 61,093
Equity investment designated at fair value 3§ FEZ A FETAEME
through other comprehensive income H AR E 1,602 2,271
Total non-current assets IRBEERE 61,137 63,364
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary & U B B8 A B 3R IR 59,150 66,515
Prepayments and other receivables TEATRIB & A
JE W 5k 18 18,438 18,349
Cash and cash equivalents HRekAeEEY 2,156 1,508
Total current assets MEEEREA 79,744 86,372
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Amount due to a subsidiary AN ENGIE @ 1,275 1,273
Interest-bearing bank loans and other FEBRITERRK
borrowings H4th 5 3% 8,933 3,973
Total current liabilities mMBBELERE 10,208 5,246
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 69,536 81,126
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HMEERABEE
LIABILITIES 130,673 144,490
Net assets BEFH 130,673 144,490
EQUITY ExR
Share capital [N 3,391 3,391
Reserves (note) fRE 15 (BT 5E) 127,282 141,099
Total equity B 130,673 144,490
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B RE IR AL

31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44, XQATF M ERR K (BE)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Bt 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATFHREEHRENT :
Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
through
Share award Exchange other
Share scheme fluctuation Accumulated  comprehensive
premium reserve reserve losses income Total
BAFEFA
Htt2EEN
SREEL
BRORE ROKBIHRE EXRIHB ZHER DNYERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2021 02151 186

i 167,282 - 39 (19,858) (2,369) 145,447
Final 2020 dividend declared B & k20205
AERE (4,053) - - - - (4,053)
Total comprehensive loss FRREBEER
for the year — - - (766) 27 (739)
Equity-settled share award NEREENRN K
scheme expenses BEET = 1,558 = = = 1,558
Exchange difference on REBNEBE
translation of foreign EXESR
operations — — (1,114) — - (1,114)

At 31 December 2021 and 1 R2021E12A31H &

January 2022 2022F1818 163,229 1,558 (722) (20,624) (2,342) 141,099
Final 2021 dividend declared 2 E k20214
RAKSE (12,150) - - — — (12,150)
Total comprehensive loss for the 4 A% T & 18 2%
year — — — (2,226) (661) (2,887)

Transfer of fair value reserve  HERAFEFAL
upon the disposal of equity 1 2E Y E 2 KA
investments at fair value RARERLATE
through other comprehensive &

income — — — 2,984 2,984 5,968
Equity-settled share award NEREENRH %

scheme expenses REER - (1,558) - - - (1,558)
Exchange difference on NEREENRH %

translation of foreign EEER

operations - — (3,190) - — (3,190)
At 31 December 2022 120225124318 151,079 - (3,912) (19,866) (19) 127,282

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 45. #t & B |/ K

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and B 3R R MN2023F3A3HEESE S #t
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 EREETE -
March 2023.

SEITHREERARAR £2022311




FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMBERE

OPERATING RESULTS

EEXRE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INGL-ES AR Tr AREFTT AREFR AR®Tx
Revenue U 5 917,570 885,539 763,808 481,530 392,258
Gross Profit EHM 129,987 126,587 117,247 74,171 67,383
Profit for the year FREF 24,763 52,987 36,968 20,481 26,240
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE BERER
As at 31 December
W12A318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20205 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INGL-E M AREETr ARETT ARETRT AR®T:R
Non-current assets ERBEE 434,402 457,904 277,844 147,232 64,889
Current assets mEEE 582,283 492,769 378,385 311,375 322,475
Total assets EEMHE 1,016,685 950,673 656,229 458,607 387,364
Non-current liabilities  JERENEE 187,455 202,130 19,356 == ==
Current liabilities TEaE 459,750 388,683 303,192 219,041 147,621
Total liabilities BEAE 647,205 590,813 322,548 219,041 147,621
Net current assets FREHEEFE 122,533 104,086 75,193 92,334 174,854
Total assets less EEAER
current liabilities REBERE 556,935 561,990 353,037 239,566 239,743
Net assets BERE 369,480 359,860 333,681 239,566 239,743
Capital and reserves EAR %
Share capital BB AR 3,391 3,391 3,391 3,391 3,391
Reserves 1@ 280,206 280,334 245,061 224,842 227,698
283,597 283,725 248,452 228,233 231,089
Non-controlling FERER
interests 85,883 76,135 85,229 11,333 8,654
Total equity MR 369,480 359,860 333,681 239,566 239,743
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